

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Garas, Antonios; Guthmuller, Sophie; Lapatinas, Athanasios

Working Paper The development of nations conditions the disease space

JRC Working Papers in Economics and Finance, No. 2019/9

Provided in Cooperation with: Joint Research Centre (JRC), European Commission

Suggested Citation: Garas, Antonios; Guthmuller, Sophie; Lapatinas, Athanasios (2019) : The development of nations conditions the disease space, JRC Working Papers in Economics and Finance, No. 2019/9, ISBN 978-92-76-02924-3, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, https://doi.org/10.2760/793876

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/227662

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



JRC TECHNICAL REPORTS

The development of nations conditions the disease space

Antonios GARAS, Sophie GUTHMULLER, Athanasios LAPATINAS

2019

JRC Working Papers in Economics and Finance, 2019/9



This publication is a Technical report by the Joint Research Centre (JRC), the European Commission's science and knowledge service. It aims to provide evidence-based scientific support to the European policymaking process. The scientific output expressed does not imply a policy position of the European Commission. Neither the European Commission nor any person acting on behalf of the Commission is responsible for the use that might be made of this publication.

EU Science Hub

https://ec.europa.eu/jrc

JRC116399

PDF	ISBN 978-92-76-02924-3	ISSN 2467-2203	doi:10.2760/793876
-----	------------------------	----------------	--------------------

Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2019

© European Union, 2019

The reuse policy of the European Commission is implemented by Commission Decision 2011/833/EU of 12 December 2011 on the reuse of Commission documents (OJ L 330, 14.12.2011, p. 39). Reuse is authorised, provided the source of the document is acknowledged and its original meaning or message is not distorted. The European Commission shall not be liable for any consequence stemming from the reuse. For any use or reproduction of photos or other material that is not owned by the EU, permission must be sought directly from the copyright holders.

All content © European Union, 2019

How to cite this report: Garas A, Guthmuller S, Lapatinas A, *The development of nations conditions the disease space*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, 2019, ISBN 978-92-76-02924-3, doi:10.2760/793876, JRC116399.

Contents

,

Acknowledgements	1
Abstract	2
1 Introduction	3
2 The country-disease network	5
2.1 Data on diseases and injuries	5
2.2 The country-disease bipartite network	5
3 The disease space and the health complexity index	8
3.1 The relative disease disadvantage	8
3.2 The disease space	8
3.3 Health complexity index	9
4 The geography of complex diseases 1	L1
5 The effect of economic development on health complexity 1	L1
5.1 Regression analysis 1	L1
5.1.1 Control Variables 1	L2
5.1.2 Instrumental variables 1	۱4
5.2 Regression results 1	۱4
6 Economic development and disease complexity 2	22
6.1 The disease complexity index 2	22
6.2 The disease-income complexity index 2	23
6.3 Linking disease complexity and economic development 2	24
7 Conclusions 2	25
References 2	26
List of figures 4	13
List of tables 4	14
Annexes 4	15
Annex 1. List of countries 4	15
Annex 2. List of diseases and injuries 4	16

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to Tor Iversen, Lisa Cameron, Enrica Croda for useful comments. They also thank all participants of the 10th Australasian Workshop on Econometrics and Health Economics (April 2019), and all participants of the 4th Edition of the European-American Health Economics Study Group (July 2019) for helpful comments and suggestions. All remaining errors are their own. This research was conducted while Sophie Guthmuller and Athanasios Lapatinas were in service at the European Commission's Joint Research Centre. The scientific output expressed does not imply a European Commission policy position. Neither the European Commission nor any person acting on behalf of the Commission is responsible for any use that might be made of this publication.

Authors

Antonios Garas¹, Sophie Guthmuller², and Athanasios Lapatinas² (Corresponding author athanasios.lapatinas@ec.europa.eu) ¹ETH Zurich, Chair of Systems Design, Weinbergstrasse 56/58, 8092 Zurich, Switzerland ²European Commission, Joint Research Centre, Via E. Fermi 2749, TP 361, Ispra (VA), I-21027, Italy

Abstract

Using the economic complexity methodology on data for disease prevalence in 195 countries during the period of 1990-2016, we propose two new metrics for quantifying the relatedness between diseases, or the 'disease space' of countries. With these metrics, we analyze the geography of diseases and empirically investigate the effect of economic development on the health complexity of countries.

We show that a higher income per capita increases the complexity of countries' diseases. Furthermore, we build a disease-level index that links a disease to the average level of GDP per capita of the countries for which they have a relative disease disadvantage. With this index, we highlight the link between economic development and the complexity of diseases and illustrate, at the disease-level, how increases in income per capita are associated with more complex diseases.

Keywords: health complexity, disease complexity, economic development

1 Introduction

Popular belief holds that the European conquest of America was accomplished with guns and soldiers. However, (Bianchine and Russo, 1992) show that new illnesses brought from the Old World by European conquistadors, which resulted in devastating epidemics throughout the New World, were the major forces behind the aboriginal depopulation of the Americas. Our history, geography, culture, religion, and language have often been influenced by infections that have plagued humankind and shaped important events. Examples include the plague in fourteenth century Europe, how the yellow fever increased the importation of African slaves in the sixteenth century due to shortage of indigenous workers and the relative resistance of Africans to the disease, as well as the typhus deaths of the Napoleon's army during the 1812 Russian campaign, and Franklin D. Roosevelt's hypertension and heart failure, which worsened during his February 1945 dealings with Joseph Stalin in Malta (Post and Robins, 1995, Sherman, 2007, Taylor, 2016).

Furthermore, there is strong historical evidence that the wealth of nations is positively linked to the health of their populations. Since the eighteenth century, economic development associated with improvements in nutrition, access to sanitation, public health interventions, and medical innovations such as vaccination, have contributed to the reduction of major infectious diseases, the decline of premature death rates, and a longer life expectancy for children and adults in both developed and developing countries (Fogel, 1990, Fogel, 2004, Birchenall, 2007).

Nevertheless, many significant health problems have emerged in concert with economic development and technological modernization. Among them, stress, anxiety, sleep deprivation, and depression are mental disorders that are more prevalent in high-income countries. While they account for only 9% of the burden in low-income countries, this figure is 18% in middle-income and 27% in high-income countries (Prince, 2011). In OECD countries, a longer life expectancy is coupled with a higher rate of chronic and long-term illnesses in older populations (GBD2016 Dementia Collaborators, 2018). Industrialization has expanded the reach of existing food-related diseases and created new disorders and addictions (GBD 2015 Obesity Collaborators, 2017). Industrialization also stimulates urbanization, the process of population migration from rural areas to cities. This makes urban areas focal points for many emerging environmental and health hazards. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), "as urban populations grow, the quality of global and local ecosystems, and the urban environment, will play an increasingly important role in public health with respect to issues ranging from solid waste disposal, provision of safe water and sanitation, and injury prevention, to the interface between urban poverty, environment and health.".¹ Industrialization is also linked to occupational accidents and work-related diseases (e.g., work-related cancers, musculoskeletal disorders, respiratory diseases, psycho-social problems, and circulatory diseases), which are worldwide problems resulting in important losses for individuals, organizations and societies (Driscoll et al., 2005, Nelson et al., 2005, Steenland et al., 2003, Park et al., 2002, Zahm and Blair, 2003, Hansen, 2001, Hoy et al., 2014, Punnett et al., 2005, Hoy et al., 2010).

From the above discussion, it becomes clear that economic development can affect population health in a number of ways, both positive and negative. To gain more insights on the link between economic development and countries' health status, we follow an innovative and holistic approach and study the country disease network and how countries are comparable or diverse in terms of diseases by building the disease space of countries, i.e., the network representation of the relatedness and proximity between diseases worldwide.

In fact, the country-disease network and the disease space reveal information about the health-related habits of populations, such as, lifestyle and dietary habits. There are also multiple reasons to expect the disease structures to be associated with their 'structural transformations' (i.e., the industrialization process by which economies diversify from agriculture to manufacturing and services (Hausmann and Klinger, 2006, Ngai and Pissarides, 2007, Gollin et al., 2002, Herrendorf et al., 2014, Laitner, 2000)), with their environmental performance (Künzli et al., 2000, Holgate et al., 1999, Chay and Greenstone, 2003, Kampa and Castanas, 2008), or with their adopted health-related policies (Glasgow et al., 1999, Whitlock et al., 2002, McKenzie et al., 2005, Drummond et al., 2015, Folland et al., 2007), as these contribute to their health status and living standards (Mankiw et al., 1992, Friedman, 2006). When a country is affected by a disease located in the core of the disease space,

¹WHO, 'Urbanization and health' https://www.who.int/globalchange/ecosystems/urbanization/en/

many other countries are also affected by this disease. These countries might share the same type of risks factors, population characteristics or life styles, and similar health care systems. However, this does not hold for diseases lying at the periphery of the disease space. Studying the structure of the disease space and knowing where a country is located in the country-disease network is therefore a useful tool to monitor the evolution of diseases and to plan global health policies.

We develop a new metric called the Health Complexity Index (HCI), that quantifies the disease space and encapsulates this information by assigning lower values to countries with diseases located at the periphery of the disease space and higher value to countries with diseases located at the centre of the disease space. This complexity index measures the composition of a country's pool of diseases by combining information on the diversity of diseases in the country and the ubiquity of its diseases (the number of other countries in which the disease exists). The intuition is that relatively high scores on the health complexity index indicate populations that are diverse and have diseases that, on average, have low ubiquity, i.e., these diseases are present in only a few other countries. In this view, the health complexity index does not refer to a complex treatment or to complex causes of a disease, but measures instead whether a disease is located in the densely connected core of the disease space i.e., whether many other related diseases are present in many other countries.

To compute the HCI, we follow the economic complexity methodology, which was initially applied to trade micro-data, measuring the amount of knowledge materialized in a country's productive structure (Hidalgo et al., 2007). Based on the ECI methodology, a number of recent contributions explain economic development and growth as a process of information development and of learning how to produce and export more diversified products (Abdon and Felipe, 2011, Bustos et al., 2012, Caldarelli et al., 2012, Cristelli et al., 2013, Felipe, 2012, Hausmann et al., 2007, Hausmann et al., 2014, Hidalgo and Hausmann, 2009, Hidalgo et al., 2007, Rodrik, 2006a, Tacchella et al., 2013, Albeaik et al., 2017b, Saviotti and Frenken, 2008, Cristelli et al., 2015, Hausmann and Hidalgo, 2011). Furthermore, (Hartmann et al., 2017) have recently shown that countries exporting complex products tend to be more inclusive and have lower levels of income inequality than countries exporting simpler products. In addition, (Lapatinas and Litina, 2018) find that countries with high intellectual quotient (IQ) populations produce and export more sophisticated/complex products, while (Lapatinas, 2019) shows that the Internet has a positive effect on economic complexity. Adopting the economic complexity methodology, (Balland and Rigby, 2017) compute a knowledge complexity index with more than two million patent records for US metropolitan areas between 1975-2010. They analyze the geography and evolution of knowledge complexity in US cities and show that the most complex cities in terms of patents are not always those with the highest rates of patenting. In addition, using citation data, they show that more complex patents are less likely to be cited than simpler patents when the citing and cited patents are located in different metropolitan areas.

The aim of this paper is fourfold: (i) to build two new metrics that quantify the disease space, following the economic complexity methodology; (ii) to estimate the effect of economic development on countries' health complexity using the new metrics and following dynamic panel data econometric techniques; (iii) to develop a disease-level index that links a disease to the average level of *GDP per capita* of the countries with a relative disease disadvantage; (iv) to illustrate how a country's economic development is associated with changes in its disease composition and verify the relationship between economic development and health complexity at the disease level.

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows. Section 2 describes the construction of the *country-disease network* and the the data on disease prevalence. Section 3 presents the methodology for developing the Health Complexity Index (HCI): the relative disease disadvantage and the disease space which form the analytic backbone of our study. Section 4 describes the geography of complex diseases, the link between ubiquity, diversity and the (HCI) with a particular focus on countries and regions. Section 5 empirically investigates the effect of economic development on health complexity using the HCI, data on *GDP per capita* and potential covariates. Section 6 introduces an index that decomposes economic performance at the disease level. Using this index, we highlight the link between disease complexity and economic development. We demonstrate, at the disease level, that better economic performance is associated with more complex diseases. Finally, in section 7, we offer some concluding remarks.

2 The country-disease network

2.1 Data on diseases and injuries

Information on diseases and injuries comes from the Global Burden of Diseases (GBD) study by the Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), an independent population health research centre at UW Medicine (University of Washington) (GBD Study 2016, 2016) that produces comparable estimates of prevalence of diseases and injuries across the world for 195 countries and over 300 diseases and injuries (http://www.healthdata.org/).

We use data from the 2016 version of the GBD study in which data are estimated based on various sources (input data come from administrative records, surveys, census, scientific literature, etc) with different methods to reflect the available data and the specific epidemiology of each disease from 1990 to 2016. Computational methods are detailed in the appendix of (GBD Study 2016, 2016).

Diseases and injuries are grouped by causes. The broader classification of causes (level 1) includes: (a) communicable, maternal, neonatal, and nutritional diseases such as HIV/AIDS and sexually transmitted infections, respiratory infections and tuberculosis, enteric infections (e.g., diarrheal diseases, typhoid fever), neglected tropical diseases (e.g. malaria, chagas disease) and other infectious diseases (e.g. meningitis and acute hepatitis), maternal and neonatal disorders (e.g., maternal abortion and miscarriage, ectopic pregnancy, maternal obstructed labor and uterine rupture), nutritional deficiencies (e.g., protein-energy malnutrition, vitamin A, iron, iodine deficiencies); (b) non-communicable diseases such as cancers, cardiovascular diseases, chronic respiratory diseases, digestive diseases (e.g., cirrhosis, gastritis, pancreatitis), neurological disorders (e.g., multiple sclerosis, epilepsy, Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases, migraine), mental disorders (e.g., schizophrenia, anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa, conduct and hyperactivity disorders), substance use disorders (e.g., alcohol and drug use disorders), diabetes, kidney diseases, skin diseases (e.g., dermatitis, bacterial skin diseases), sense organ diseases (e.g., glaucoma, cataract, vision loss), musculoskeletal disorders (e.g., osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis); (c) *injuries* such as transport injuries (e.g., pedestrian road injuries, cyclist and motorcyclist road injuries), unintentional injuries (e.g., falls, poisonings, exposure to mechanical forces), self-harm and interpersonal violence (e.g., sexual violence, conflict and terrorism, executions).²

We use information for the most detailed level of causes in the GBD taxonomy (i.e., level 4, and when there is no level 4 classification, we use level 3). For example, among the non-communicable diseases (level 1), neoplasms (level 2) include the following level 3 categories: lip and oral cavity cancer, nasopharynx cancer, other pharynx cancer, esophageal cancer, stomach cancer, colon and rectal cancer, liver cancer, gallbladder and biliary tract cancer, pancreatic cancer, larynx cancer, etc. Then, liver cancer includes the following level 4 subcategories: liver cancer due to hepatitis B, liver cancer due to hepatitis C, liver cancer due to alcohol use, liver cancer due to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), liver cancer due to other causes.

Two measures of disease prevalence are exploited: the rate of prevalence (number of cases per 100,000 population) for all ages, and the age-standardized rate of prevalence to account for the differences in age structures across countries. This is useful because relative over- or under-representation of different age groups can obscure comparisons of age-dependent diseases (e.g., ischemic heart disease or malaria) across populations. The list of countries and diseases are detailed in Annexes.

2.2 The country-disease bipartite network

Instrumental to our analysis is the bipartite network mapping of countries and diseases. Bipartite, or bi-modal networks are abundant in the scientific literature, with examples including the city-tech knowledge network (Balland and Rigby, 2017), the city-firm network (Garas et al., 2019), firm-projects networks (Balland, 2012), predator-prey networks (Allesina and Tang, 2012), plants-pollinator networks (Bascompte et al., 2003) etc. Here, based on data from the GBD study 2016 that assessed the disease burden of countries in the period of 1990 to 2016, we generate an $l \times k$ country-diseases matrix E, were

²In the remainder of the paper we use the word 'disease' to refer to all diseases and injuries classified in the GBD study.

the matrix element E_{cd} represents the number of cases of disease d per 100,000 population in country c.

The aforementioned matrix allows for the construction of an undirected, weighted countrydisease network by linking each disease to the countries with disease cases. These networks are very dense, and in order to visually explore their structure, we apply the Dijkstra algorithm (Dijkstra, 1959) to extract a Maximum Spanning Tree (MST) that summarizes their structures. More precisely, the MST, which is usually considered as the backbone of the network, is a connected subgraph having l + k - 1 edges with the maximum total weight and without forming any loops.

In Figure 1 we illustrate the country-disease MST for 2016. From this MST, we can easily identify clusters of countries that are linked to specific types of diseases. The main node of the network is caries in permanent teeth (disease cause number 682, Appendix 2 reports the correspondence table between each disease number and its name.) This disease is the most common disease across the world, as it is present in the majority of countries. It is also the disease with the highest prevalence worldwide (2.44 billion cases in 2016 (GBD Study 2016, 2016))



Figure 1: Maximum Spanning Tree of the country-disease bipartite network. Countries are represented by yellow nodes, and diseases cover the following categories: [A. 'Communicable, maternal, neonatal, and nutritional diseases'] A.1 'HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis', A.2 'Diarrhea, lower respiratory, and other common infectious diseases', A.3 'Neglected tropical diseases and malaria', A.4 'Maternal disorders', A.5 'Neonatal disorders', A.6 'Nutritional deficiencies', A.7 'Other communicable, maternal, neonatal, and nutritional diseases'] B.1 'Neoplasms', B.2 'Cardiovascular diseases', B.3 'Chronic respiratory diseases', B.4 'Cirrhosis and other chronic liver diseases', B.5 'Digestive diseases', B.6 'Neurological disorders', B.7 'Mental and substance use disorders', B.8 'Diabetes, urogenital, blood, and endocrine diseases', B.9 'Musculoskele-tal disorders'; [C. 'Injuries'] C.1 'Transport injuries', C.2 'Unintentional injuries', C.3 'Self-harm and interpersonal violence', C.4 'Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict'. Data for 2016. Annexe 2 reports the correspondence table between the disease number and the disease name.

3 The disease space and the health complexity index

To calculate *health complexity*, we combine information on diseases prevalence and how common these diseases are across countries, following the economic complexity methodology, i.e., the formulas in the pioneering work of (Hidalgo and Hausmann, 2009).

3.1 The relative disease disadvantage

In short, let us assume that we have disease information for l number of countries and k diseases. With this information, we can fill an $l \times k$ diseases matrix **E**, so that matrix element E_{cd} is country c's information for disease d. If there is no information for disease d in country c, then $E_{cd} = 0$.

From this matrix, it is easy to calculate the following ratio:

$$RDD_{cd} = \frac{X_{cd} / \sum_{d'} X_{cd'}}{\sum_{c'} X_{c'd} / \sum_{c'd'} X_{c'd'}},$$
(1)

where X_{cd} is the number of disease cases d per 100,000 population in country c.

Similar to the economic complexity methodology and the discussion in (Hidalgo and Hausmann, 2009, Caldarelli et al., 2012, Hartmann et al., 2017), we claim that a country has a relative disease disadvantage in a disease when $RDD_{cd} \ge 1$. In other words, a country *c* has a RDD in disease *d* if the proportion of disease case *d* in the country's pool of all cases of diseases is higher than the proportion of disease case *d* in the world's pool of all diseases cases.

Using this threshold value, we obtain the $l \times k$ matrix **M**, with matrix elements $M_{cd} = 1$ if country c has a RDD in disease d, and zero otherwise. A visualization of the matrix **M** for this dataset is shown in Figure 2, where a dark point indicates that country c has a RDD in a given disease d.

The matrix is sorted using the NODF algorithm (Almeida-Neto et al., 2008), which highlights the existence of countries that are very well diversified and countries that have a relative disease disadvantage only in a small set of diseases.



: 1:::50

Diseases

Figure 2: Matrix representation of the links between countries and diseases. A visualization of this matrix for the year 2016, where a dark point indicates that country *c* has a RDD in a given disease *d*. The matrix is sorted using the NODF algorithm (Almeida-Neto et al., 2008), which highlights the existence of countries that are very well diversified and countries that have a relative disease disadvantage only in a small set of diseases.

3.2 The disease space

Countries

To explore this further, we construct the disease space, similar to the product-space introduced by (Hidalgo et al., 2007). Calculating the RDD for all country-disease pairs allows us to derive a matrix Φ , whose elements $\Phi_{i,j}$ define a proximity measure between all pairs of diseases. This proximity measure reveals diseases that are present in tandem, or in other words, with Φ , we measure the probability that a country c, which has a relative disease disadvantage in disease i, also has a relative disease disadvantage in disease j. The proximity measure is defined as:

$$\Phi_{i,j} = \min\{\Pr(\text{RDD}_i \ge 1 \mid \text{RDD}_j \ge 1), \Pr(\text{RDD}_j \ge 1 \mid \text{RDD}_i \ge 1)\},$$
(2)

where $\Pr(\text{RDD}_i \ge 1 | \text{RDD}_j \ge 1)$ is the conditional probability of having a relative disease disadvantage in disease *i* if you have a relative disease disadvantage in disease *j*. Using the minimum of both conditional probabilities, we avoid issues of a rare disease being present in only one country. Additionally, we make the resulting matrix Φ symmetric (see Figure 3). The proximity matrix is highly modular and its block structure reveals the presence of 'communities', i.e., groups of diseases that are expected to occur together.

Next, we map this matrix onto a network, where each disease is represented by a node and every matrix element represents a weighted and undirected link. Similar to Figure 1, we start by applying Dijkstra's algorithm on matrix Φ which calculates the MST of the network. Following the rationale of (Hidalgo et al., 2007), we start from the strongest links that are not part of the MST and keep adding links to the network until the average degree is four. The resulting network is a visual representation of the disease space, which is shown in Figure 3.

From Figure 3, it is evident that in the disease space network, different disease categories are clustered together and the network is heterogeneous and follows a coreperiphery structure. The external part of the network (the periphery) is mostly dominated by 'communicable, maternal, neonatal, and nutritional diseases'. On the other hand, the core of the network is dominated by 'non-communicable diseases'.

Figure 4 shows the patterns of disease localisation in the world's economies, classified by the World Bank into four income groups - 'high', 'upper-middle', 'lower-middle', and 'low'. Diseases in a region where more than half of its countries have a RDD > 1 are shown with black nodes. It seems that high-income countries occupy the core, composed of 'non-communicable diseases' such as 'pancreatic cancer', 'Parkinson disease', 'ischemic stroke' and injuries such as 'falls', 'poisonings' and 'other exposure to mechanical forces'. On the other side of the spectrum, low-income countries tend to have a RDD in 'communicable, neonatal, maternal and nutritional diseases' that lie in the periphery of the disease space such as 'diarrheal diseases', 'encephalitis' and 'malaria'. Most of the communicable diseases for which low-income countries have a RDD > 1 also appear in the periphery (for example, 'Turner syndrome', 'neural tube defects' and 'pyoderma'). Examples of injuries for which low-income countries have a RDD include 'venomous animal contact' and 'sexual violence', which again appear in the periphery of the disease space.

3.3 Health complexity index

From matrix **M**, similar to (Hidalgo and Hausmann, 2009), we introduce the health complexity index (HCI) as a measure of countries' disease structures. To obtain the HCI, we first calculate the $l \times l$ square matrix $\tilde{\mathbf{M}}$. In short, matrix $\tilde{\mathbf{M}}$ provides information about links connecting two countries c and c', based on the prevalent cases of diseases in both. The matrix elements $\tilde{M}_{cc'}$ are computed as

$$\tilde{M}_{cc'} = \frac{1}{k_{c,0}} \sum_{d} \frac{M_{cd} M_{c'd}}{k_{d,0}},$$
(3)

where $k_{c,0} = \sum_d M_{cd}$ measures the diversification of country c in terms of its different diseases, and $k_{d,0} = \sum_c M_{cd}$ measures the number of countries with disease cases d. If **K** is the eigenvector of $\tilde{\mathbf{M}}$ associated with the second largest eigenvalue, then according to (Hausmann et al., 2014), the HCI is calculated as

$$HCI = \frac{K - \langle \mathbf{K} \rangle}{\mathsf{s}td(\mathbf{K})}.$$
 (4)

The HCI reflects the disease-composition of a country's pool of diseases, taking into account the composition of the pools of all other countries. Populations with diseases that occur



Figure 3: The proximity matrix and the resulting disease space. The size of the nodes is proportional to their degree, i.e., the number of links. Disease colors cover the following categories: [A. 'Communicable, maternal, neonatal, and nutritional diseases'] A.1 'HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis', A.2 'Diarrhea, lower respiratory, and other common infectious diseases', A.3 'Neglected tropical diseases and malaria', A.4 'Maternal disorders', A.5 'Neonatal disorders', A.6 'Nutritional deficiencies', A.7 'Other communicable, maternal, neonatal, and nutritional diseases'] B.1 'Neoplasms', B.2 'Cardiovascular diseases', B.3 'Chronic respiratory diseases', B.4 'Cirrhosis and other chronic liver diseases', B.5 'Digestive diseases', B.6 'Neurological disorders', B.7 'Mental and substance use disorders', B.8 'Diabetes, urogenital, blood, and endocrine diseases', B.9 'Musculoskeletal disorders'; [C. 'Injuries'] C.1 'Transport injuries', C.2 'Unintentional injuries', C.3 'Self-harm and interpersonal violence', C.4 'Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict'. Data for 2016. Annexe 2 reports the correspondence table between the disease number and the disease name.

in many other countries have relatively low health complexity scores, while more healthcomplex countries have a high prevalence of non-ubiquitous diseases. In other words, a country has a complex disease composition, i.e., it is health-complex, if its diseases have high prevalence in only a few other countries. The HCI is higher for countries with diseases located at the core of the 'disease-space' and lower for countries with diseases located at the periphery of the 'disease-space'.

As discussed in Section 2.1, the HCI is computed using in X_{cd} the number of prevalent cases of a disease (according to cause levels 3 or 4) per 100,000 population for 195 countries and for 196 diseases. The time-period covered is from 1990 to 2016. With the age-standardized data (see the discussion in Section 2.1), we also calculate the age-standardized health complexity index (AHCI) following the same formulas. We use the two indices as alternative measures when checking the robustness of our results. It should be noted here that the computation of the indices is based only on diseases for which a country has a RDD in terms of disease prevalence (the incidence matrix of the bipartite network linking countries to diseases, **M**, reflects whether or not a country has a RDD in a specific disease; see Figure 2).

The geography of complex diseases 4

As shown in Figure 4, the localisation of diseases in different income-regions of the world is also observable in Figure 5, where we map the spatial variation in complex diseases. This figure shows the repartition of the HCI across countries when taking average values for the period 1990-2016. We see rather clearly that disease complexity is unevenly distributed in the world and that the most complex countries in terms of diseases seem to be located in Europe, North America, and Australia – European countries, Australia, the US, and Canada belong to the set of countries with the highest HCI (>80%). In contrast, most countries in Africa have much lower HCIs on average.

Regarding the evolution of HCI scores over time, figures 6 and 7 depict how health complexity in our sample of countries has changed from 1990-1996 to 2010-2016. Cambodia, Myanmar, Nepal, Vietnam, Saint Lucia, and Cameroon have registered significant increases in the complexity of their diseases. On the other hand, the diseases of countries like Vanuatu, Kiribati, Palestine, Tajikistan, and Gabon are now less complex than in the early 1990s. Figure 7 depicts the same information in a world map. Blue and light blue colors depict a decrease in HCI score, while orange and red colors denote countries with an increase in HCI score from 1990-1996 to 2010-2016. From these figures, it can be observed that changes over time are rather small. Hence, it seems that a country's HCI score tends to persist through time, which is to be expected for a metric of prevalent cases of diseases aggregated at the country level. This motivates the inclusion of the lagged value of HCI in the set of explanatory variables when estimating the effect of economic development on health complexity in the next section.

5 The effect of economic development on health complexity

We study the effect of economic development on health complexity using data on GDP per capita (from the World Bank's World Development Indicators) and the HCI (see Section 3). Given the availability of controls, the sample covers a minimum of 168 developed and developing countries over the period of 1992-2015.³

5.1 Regression analysis

Previous research shows that there is a strong association between income and indicators of population health such as life expectancy and child mortality. There are various channels through which economic development can stimulate health improvements, for example, via its effect on nutrition (which in turn leads to better resistance to bacterial diseases and faster recovery from illnesses), as well as through greater labor market participation, worker productivity, investment in human capital, investment in public and private health services, savings, fertility, transportation infrastructure, and lifestyle habits. (Preston, 1975, Smith, 1999, Bloom et al., 1998, Gallup and Sachs, 2001, ?, Alleyne and Cohen, 2002, Bloom et al., 2005, Lorentzen et al., 2008, Easterlin, 1999, Hamoudi et al., 1999).⁴ The term 'diseases of affluence' refers to selected diseases and health conditions that are more prevalent in wealthy nations. Examples include mostly non-communicable diseases such as cardiovascular diseases and their nutritional risk factors (overweight and obesity,

³Afghanistan, Albania, Algeria, Angola, Antigua and Barbuda, Argentina, Armenia, Australia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Bahamas, Bahrain, Bangladesh, Barbados, Belarus, Belgium, Belize, Benin, Bhutan, Bolivia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Botswana, Brazil, Brunei, Darussalam, Bulgaria, Burkina Faso, Burundi, Cabo Verde, Cambodia, Cameroon, Canada, Central African Republic, Chad, Chile, China, Colombia, Comoros, Rep. of the Congo, Costa Rica, Cote d'Ivoire, Croatia, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Arab Rep. of Egypt, El Salvador, Equatorial Guinea, Estonia, Eswatini, Ethiopia, Fiji, Finland, France, Gabon, Gambia, Georgia, Germany, Ghana, Greece, Grenada, Guatemala, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Guyana, Haiti, Honduras, Hungary, Iceland, India, Indonesia, Islamic Rep. of Iran, Iraq, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Jamaica, Japan, Jordan, Kazakhstan, Kenya, Kiribati, Rep. of Korea, Kuwait, Kyrgyz Republic, Lao PDR, Latvia, Lebanon, Lesotho, Liberia, Libya, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Macedonia FYR, Madagascar, Malawi, Malaysia, Maldives, Malta, Mauritania, Mauritius, Mexico, Moldova, Mongolia, Montenegro, Morocco, Mozambique, Myanmar, Namibia, Nepal, Netherlands, New Zealand, Nicaragua, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Oman, Pakistan, Panama, Papua New Guinea, Paraguay, Peru, Philippines, Poland, Portugal, Qatar, Russian Federation, Rwanda, Samoa, Sao Tome and Principe, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, Serbia, Seychelles, Sierra Leone, Singapore, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Sri Lanka, St. Lucia, St. Vincent and the Grenadines, Sudan, Suriname, Sweden, Switzerland, Tajikistan, Tanzania, Thailand, Togo, Tonga, Trinidad and Tobago, Tunisia, Turkey, Uganda, Ukraine, United Arab Emirates, United Kingdom, United States, Uruguay, Vanuatu, Venezuela RB, Vietnam, Rep. of Yemen, Zambia, Zimbabwe.

⁴For a review of the empirical evidence see (Lange and Vollmer, 2017).

elevated blood pressure and cholesterol). It has been shown that economic development is a robust predictor of 'diseases of affluence' (Ezzati et al., 2005, Gupta, 2006, Murray et al., 1996, Reddy and Yusuf, 1998, Yusuf et al., 2001). However, there is also a large and growing literature that investigates the reverse channel, i.e., that better population health leads to economic development (Acemoglu and Johnson, 2007, Bleakley, 2010). The argument is that improved health conditions increase population size, which – in the medium term – leads to more people entering the labor force, higher capital accumulation, and higher income per capita.

In order to estimate the effect of economic development on the health complexity of countries we follow a fixed-effects two-stage least squares/instrumental variables (FE 2SLS/IV) strategy, complemented with a difference Generalized Method of Moments (diff-GMM) approach. We regress the baseline specification described by the following equation:

$$HCI_{i,t} = \rho HCI_{i,t-1} + \beta_1 GDPpc_{i,t} + \beta_k controls_{i,t} + \gamma_i + \delta_t + u_{i,t}.$$
(5)

Here, the health complexity of country *i* in period *t* ($HCI_{i,t}$) depends on the country's level of economic development in per capita terms (in logs), $GDPpc_{i,t}$. The lagged value of the dependent variable on the right-hand side is included to capture persistence in health complexity. The main variable of interest is GDPpc. The parameter β_1 therefore measures the effect of income per capita on health complexity.⁵ Additional potential covariates are included in the vector $controls_{i,t}$. The γ_i 's denote a full set of country dummies and the δ_t 's denote a full set of time effects that capture common shocks to the health complexity scores of all countries. The error term $u_{i,t}$ captures all other omitted factors, with $E(u_{i,t}) = 0$ for all *i* and *t*. To examine the robustness of our results and to generalize our findings, we replicate our analysis for additional/alternative control variables and substitute the HCI with the AHCI, finding qualitatively similar results (see subsection 5.2).

5.1.1 Control Variables

We include in the estimated equation a number of control variables that are likely related to health complexity.

The proportion of nations' populations over the age of 65 has been increasing in recent years and will continue to rise in future as a result of longer life expectancy. Population age-structure is a significant determinant of a nation's health status, due to age-related diseases (i.e., illnesses and conditions that occur more frequently in people as they get older). Examples of age-related diseases include cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases, hypertension, cancer, Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, osteoarthritis and osteoporosis. Demographic factors such as age and sex are considered key covariates in the study of human health and well-being, hence the percentage of *old* population (aged 65 and above, in logs) and the percentage of *female* population (in logs) are included in the set of control variables.

It has previously been shown that sex interacts with social, economic and biological determinants to create different health outcomes for males and females. For example, (Vlassoff, 2007) reviews a large number of studies on the interaction between sex and the determinants and consequences of chronic diseases, showing how these interactions result in different approaches to prevention, treatment, and coping with illness.

In our analysis, we also control for the (log) percentage of urban population, *urban*. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), a large proportion of non-communicable diseases is linked to risks related to the urban environment, such as physical inactivity and obesity, cardiovascular and pulmonary diseases from transport-generated urban air pollution, ischemic heart disease and cancers from household biomass energy use, asthma from indoor air pollution, and heat-related strokes and illnesses. In addition, communicable diseases such as tuberculosis, dengue fever, and many respiratory and diarrheal diseases result from unhealthy urban environments (e.g. lack of adequate ventilation, unsafe water storage and poor waste management, indoor air pollution, moldy housing interiors, poor sanitation).⁶

⁵In order to account for possible changes in the relation between economic development and health complexity over the process of economic development, we have experimented with the inclusion of the quadratic specification of GDP per capita in the estimated equation. Our baseline results (which are available upon request) do not confirm a U-shaped relationship between economic development and health complexity.

⁶See WHO, Health and sustainable development: About health risks in cities, https://www.who.int/ sustainable-development/cities/health-risks/about/en/

Variable	Definition	Source	Mean	Std. Dev.
HCI	Health Complexity Index.	Authors' calculations	-0.006	1.004
HCI+	age-standardized Health Complexity Index.	Authors' calculations	-0.008	1.008
GDPpc	(log) GDP per capita, PPP (constant 2011 in- ternational \$)	World Development Indicators	8.342	1.521
old	(log) Population aged 65 and above (% of total)	World Development Indicators	1.764	0.667
female	(log) Female population (% of total)	World Development Indicators	3.912	0.067
urban	(log) Urban population (% of total)	World Development Indicators	3.871	0.519
agriculture	(log) Agriculture, value added (% of GDP)	World Development Indicators	2.054	1.228
manufacturir	ng(log) Manufacturing, value added (% of GDP)	World Development Indicators	2.407	0.591
education	(log) Enrollment in secondary education, both sexes (total)	World Development Indicators	4.229	0.587
population density	(log) Population density (people per sq. km of land area)	World Development Indicators	4.123	1.398
CO_2	(log) CO2 emissions (kg per 2010 \$US of GDP)	World Bank	-0.930	0.704
health ex- penditure	(log) Total health spending, PPP (thousands of 2017 \$US)	Global Health Spending 1995-2015, IHME	15.071	2.239
economic globaliza- tion	Actual flows (trade, foreign direct invest- ment, stocks, portfolio investment, income payments to foreign nationals), restrictions (hidden import barriers, mean tariff rate, taxes on international trade, capital account restrictions). Higher values reflect greater economic globalization.	KOF Index of Globalization	54.462	16.234
political globaliza- tion	Embassies in country, membership in in- ternational organizations, participation in UN security council missions, international treaties. Higher values reflect greater po- litical globalization.	KOF Index of Globalization	62.283	21.985

Table 1: Variable definitions, sources and summary statistics

Industrialization, i.e., the structural transformation from agricultural to industrial production also has a range of significant health implications (McNeill, 1998, Chaudhuri, 1985, Steckel and Rose, 2002, Szreter, 2004, Steckel, 1999). We capture these implications in our analysis by including the (log) value added of *agriculture* (% of GDP) and the (log) value added of *manufacturing* (% of GDP) in the estimated equation.

To check the robustness of our baseline results, we replicate our analysis controlling also for the human capital of the population by utilizing total enrolment in secondary *education* (in logs). It is well established in the relevant literature that through education, people gain the ability to be effective in their lives. They adopt healthier lifestyles and inspire their offspring to do as well (Mirowsky and Ross, 1998). Individuals with higher levels of education also tend to have better socioeconomic resources for a healthy lifestyle and a higher probability of living and working in healthy environments (Adler and Newman, 2002, Braveman et al., 2010). In addition, educated individuals tend to have lower exposure to chronic stress (Pampel et al., 2010). Low educational attainment, on the other hand, is associated with a shorter life expectancy, poor self-reported health, and a high prevalence of infectious and chronic non-infectious diseases (Feldman et al., 1989, Guralnik and Kaplan, 1989, Liu et al., 1982, Woodward et al., 1992).⁷ Furthermore, we re-estimate the baseline model by substituting *urban* with *population density* (people per square km of land, in logs).

The variable CO_2 (log of CO_2 emissions in kg per 2010 \$US of GDP) captures the effect of air pollution on health, which has been the subject of numerous studies in recent years (for an extensive review, see (Brunekreef and Holgate, 2002)).

Finally, *health expenditure* (log of total health spending in thousands of purchasing power parity (PPP)-adjusted 2017 \$US) is also included in the set of explanatory variables controlling for the association between healthcare spending and health outcomes (Werblow et al., 2007, Barlow and Vissandjee, 1999, Crémieux et al., 1999, Wolfe, 1986, Mackenbach, 1991, Seshamani and Gray, 2004, Zweifel et al., 1999, Nixon and Ulmann, 2006)

Data definitions, sources and summary statistics for the variables included in the analysis are given in Table 1.

5.1.2 Instrumental variables

We estimate equation (5) using different econometric methods. First, we use fixed-effects OLS. However, fixed effects estimators do not necessarily identify the effect of economic development on health complexity. The estimation of causal effects requires exogenous sources of variation. While we do not have an ideal source of exogenous variation recognized by previous studies, there are two promising potential instruments of economic development that we adopt in our fixed-effects 2SLS/IV and diff-GMM analyses.

First, we use the KOF Swiss Economic Institute's *economic globalization* index, characterized as the flows of goods, capital, and services, as well as information and perceptions that accompany market exchanges (Dreher, 2006). Higher values reflect greater economic globalization.

The second instrument considered is the KOF Swiss Economic Institute's *political globalization* index, characterized by the number of embassies in a country, its membership in international organizations, its participation in UN security council missions and international treaties. Higher values reflect greater political globalization.

There is extensive research documenting the positive relationship between globalization and economic development and growth (Dreher, 2006, Gözgör and Can, 2017, Duttagupta et al., 2018, Gurgul and Lach, 2014, Chang and Lee, 2010). While we do not have a precise theory to support the prediction, it is expected that changes in the *economic globalization* and *political globalization* indices have no direct effect on a country's disease structure and impact health complexity only indirectly, through the channel of economic development. The tests performed and described in the next section (Section 5.2) strongly confirm the relevance of the use of these instruments.

5.2 Regression results

In this section, we discuss the results of estimating equation (5) with different econometric techniques. Table 2 reports the results of fixed-effects ordinary least squares (FE-OLS)

⁷(Grossman, 2006) and (Ross and Wu, 1995) review the relationships between education and a wide variety of health measures.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
HCI_{t-1}	0.938***	0.938***	0.938***	0.933***	0.929***	0.929***
	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)
GDPpc	0.013***	0.013***	0.013***	0.012***	0.009**	0.011***
-	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.004)
old	. ,	-0.001	-0.001	0.002	0.000	0.002
		(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.007)	(0.007)
female		. ,	-0.014	-0.013	0.002	-0.006
			(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.023)	(0.024)
urban				0.020**	0.025***	0.021**
				(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.009)
a griculture				. ,	-0.006***	-0.006***
Ū.					(0.002)	(0.002)
manufacturing					. ,	0.001
						(0.002)
Observations	4,750	4,593	4,593	4,593	4,377	4,181
Countries	190	183	183	183	180	177
R-squared	0.873	0.874	0.874	0.875	0.872	0.872

Table 2: The effect of economic development on health complexity: Fixed-effects OLS

Note: Dependent variable: Health Complexity Index (HCI). Main independent variable: GDP per capita in logs (GDPpc). Country and time fixed-effects are included in all regressions. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. * p<0.10, ** p<0.05, *** p<0.01

with time dummies, adding an additional variable from the set of controls in each step (column). In all specifications, economic development has a positive relationship with health complexity, and the control variables enter with the expected sign. The *agriculture* coefficient is negative, and countries with a higher proportion of *urban* population exhibit greater health complexity.

The results depicted in Table 2 could only be interpreted as correlations. For a robust analysis accounting for the potential endogeneity problem in the relationship under consideration (discussed above), we use fixed-effects 2SLS/IV estimation techniques complemented with diff-GMM estimations à la Arellano-Bond (Arellano and Bond, 1991). Table 3 presents our baseline results.

In columns (1)-(8), we estimate equation (5) with FE 2SLS/IV regressions. We use time dummies and robust standard errors (in parentheses). In all cases, GDPpc is a positive and statistically significant predictor of health complexity. In fact, we find that an increase in GDP per capita of 10% is associated with an improvement of about 0.003 in the HCI (standard deviation: 1.004). This positive impact of economic development on health complexity is robust to the inclusion of control measures discussed in subsection 5.1.1. The statistically significant *urban* coefficient implies that a higher proportion of urban population is associated with more complex diseases.

In the fixed effects 2SLS/IV estimations we report: (a) the *F*-test for the joint significance of the instruments in the first stage: the rule of thumb is to exceed 10, hence the test implies no weak significance (Stock and Yogo, 2005); (b) the Durbin-Wu-Hausmann (DWH) test for the endogeneity of regressors: the null hypothesis that the IV regression is not required is rejected; (c) the Cragg-Donald F-statistic (Weak-id), testing the relevance of the instruments in the first-stage regression: no evidence of a low correlation between instruments and the endogenous regressor is found after controlling for the exogenous regressors; (d) the Kleibergen-Paap Wald test (LM-weakid) of weak identification: the null hypothesis that the model is weakly identified is rejected; (e) the p-value for Hansen's test of overidentification: the acceptance of the null indicates that the overidentifying restrictions cannot be rejected.

In column (9) of Table 3 we report the diff-GMM estimations including year fixed effects and robust standard errors. The results verify the previous findings both qualitatively and quantitatively, i.e., the estimated coefficient of GDPpc implies an improvement of 0.003 in the HCI with a GDP per capita increase of 10%. Among the control variables, only the *urban* variable has a statistically significant and positive sign. The values reported for AR(1) and AR(2) are the p-values for first- and second-order autocorrelated disturbances. As expected, there is high first-order autocorrelation and no evidence for significant second-order autocorrelation. Hence, our test statistics hint at a proper specification.



Figure 4: Localisation of diseases for different income-regions of the world. A: High income, B: Upper-middle income, C: Lower-middle income, D: Low income. Diseases in an income-region where more than half of the countries belonging to this region have a RDD>1 are shown with black nodes in the disease space network. Data for 2016.



Figure 5: Health complexity index across the world. Mean values for the period 1990-2016: percentile repartition. Countries depicted in dark red have a mean value above the 80th percentile.



Figure 6: Evolution of the health complexity index over time. Changes in the health complexity index from 1990-1996 to 2010-2016. The labelled black dots are the 10 countries with the largest changes over time.



Figure 7: Changes in the health complexity index across the world. Changes in HCI scores (percentile repartition) from the period 1990-1996 to 2010-2016. Countries depicted in light blue and blue (orange and red) have experienced a decrease (increase) in HCI score below and above the median decrease (increase), respectively.

	(1) FE 2SLS/IV	(2) FE 2SLS/IV	(3) FE 2SLS/IV	(4) FE 2SLS/IV	(5) FE 2SLS/IV	(6) FE 2SLS/IV	(7) FE 2SLS/IV	(8) FE 2SLS/IV	(9) diff-GMM
HCI _{t-1}	0.926***	0.927***	0.927***	0.923***	0.923***	0.922***	0.922***	0.921***	0.814***
	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.011)	(0.010)	(0.061)
GDPpc	0.031***	0.031***	0.031***	0.031***	0.026**	0.029***	0.030*	0.027**	0.032**
	(0.011)	(0.011)	(0.011)	(0.011)	(0.011)	(0.011)	(0.017)	(0.013)	(0.013)
old		-0.003	-0.002	-0.001	-0.003	-0.001	-0.002	-0.001	-0.005
с I		(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.017)
Jemale			-0.015	-0.015	-0.019	-0.029	-0.031	-0.026	0.029
umham			(0.023)	(0.023)	0.027)	0.020	0.033	(0.029)	(0.044)
urban				(0.013	(0.020	(0.017	(0,009)	(0.017	(0.031
aariculture				(0.000)	-0.003	-0.003	-0.002	-0.003	-0.002
agi touttur o					(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.008)
manufacturing					()	0.002	0.002	0.002	-0.003
						(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.012)
Fist-stage results									
economic alobalization	0.003***	0.003***	0.003***	0.003***	0.004***	0.003***	0.005***		
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)		
political globalization	0.004***	0.004***	0.004***	0.004***	0.004***	0.005***	()	0.006***	
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.000)		(0.000)	
Observations	4,168	4,143	4,143	4,143	3,976	3,826	3,826	3,926	3,652
Countries	171	170	170	170	170	168	168	173	168
F-test	37.24	37.05	36.31	39.93	56.26	61.41	79.18	76.56	
DWH-test	2.978	2.911	2.785	3.073	2.500	2.646	1.304	1.523	
Weak-id	59.73	54.25	54.88	56.82	97.43	107.0	104.3	152.6	
LM-weakid	71.12	70.95	69.68	75.01	109.7	116.3	72.90	73.98	
Hansen (p-value)	0.590	0.699	0.676	0.897	1.000	0.904			
AR(1)									0.000
AR(2)									0.475

Table 3: The effect of economic development on health complexity: baseline results

Note: Dependent variable: Health Complexity Index (HCI). Main independent variable: GDP per capita in logs (*GDPpc*). Columns (1)-(8): Fixed-effects 2SLS/IV; HCI is instrumented: To save space, we only include the first-stage estimated coefficients of the instruments. The results for the rest of the variables are available upon request. Column (9): One-step diff-GMM. All regressions include time dummies. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. F-test gives the F-statistic for the joint significance of the instruments in the first stage. DWH-test is the Durbin-Wu-Hausman test of endogeneity of the regressors. Weak-id gives the Cragg-Donald F-statistic for weak identification. LM-weakid gives the kleibergen-Paap Wald test of weak identification. Hansen (p-value) gives the p-value of the Hansen test of overidentification. AR(1) and AR(2) are the p-values for first- and second-order autocorrelated disturbances. * p<0.10, ** p<0.05, *** p<0.01

	(1) FE 2SLS/IV	(2) FE 2SLS/IV	(3) FE 2SLS/IV	(4) diff-GMM
	0.022***	0.025***	0.010***	0 000***
$AHCI_{t-1}$	(0.011)	(0.012)	(0.011)	(0.114)
	(0.011)	(0.012)	(0.011)	(0.114)
GDPpc	$(0.03)^{(0.04)}$	(0.033^{+++})	$(0.041)^{(0.014)}$	0.024**
e i	(0.011)	(0.015)	(0.014)	(0.013)
female	-0.028	-0.021	-0.037	0.030
,	(0.027)	(0.034)	(0.031)	(0.040)
urban	0.009	0.010	0.007	0.011
	(0.007)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.023)
a griculture	0.002	0.001	0.003	0.008
	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.010)
manufacturing	0.002	0.002	0.003	-0.013
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.011)
Fist-stage results				
economic globalization	0.004***	0.005***		
	(0.000)	(0.000)		
political globalization	0.004***	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	0.005***	
1 0	(0.000)		(0.000)	
Observations	3 826	3 826	3026	3 652
Countries	168	168	173	168
E-tost	67.30	101 5	71 22	100
DWH toot	6 055	2 200	1 510	
Wook id	116.2	126 4	120 0	
	125.0	130.4	130.9	
Livi-Weakiu Hancon (n. valuo)	123.0	92.43	07.20	
	0.001			0.000
				0.000
AK(Z)	<u> </u>			0.158
Note: Dependent variable: Age-st	andardized He	ealth Complex	ity Index (AHC	1). Main indepen-

	Table 4:	The effect	of economic	development of	on health	complexity:	AHCI
--	----------	------------	-------------	----------------	-----------	-------------	------

Note: Dependent variable: Age-standardized Health Complexity Index (AHCI). Main independent variable: GDP per capita in logs (GDPpc). Columns (1)-(3): Fixed-effects 2SLS/IV; *AHCI* is instrumented: To save space, we only include the first-stage estimated coefficients of the instruments. The results for the rest of the variables are available upon request. Column (4): One-step diff-GMM. All regressions include time dummies. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. F-test gives the F-statistic for the joint significance of the instruments in the first stage. DWH-test is the Durbin-Wu-Hausman test of endogeneity of the regressors. Weak-id gives the Cragg-Donald F-statistic for weak identification. LM-weakid gives the Kleibergen-Paap Wald test of weak identification. Hansen (p-value) gives the p-value of the Hansen test of overidentification. AR(1) and AR(2) are the p-values for first- and second-order autocorrelated disturbances. * p<0.10, ** p<0.05, *** p<0.01

(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
-GMM diff-GM	M diff-GMM	l diff-GMM	diff-GMM
52*** 0.871**	** 0.812***	* 0.920***	0.666***
059) (0.046) (0.063)	(0.040)	(0.062)
0.031* 0.031**	** 0.024*	0.042***	0.038*
016) (0.011) (0.013)	(0.016)	(0.020)
.022 -0.010	0.004	-0.002	-0.005
024) (0.017) (0.018)	(0.016)	(0.029)
053 0.018	0.053	-0.068	-0.170
050) (0.051) (0.045)	(0.047)	(0.124)
055	0.013	0.022	
035)	(0.017)	(0.023)	
007 -0.001	0.003	0.001	0.015
009) (0.006) (0.009)	(0.008)	(0.011)
008 -0.003	-0.015	0.014	0.020
012) (0.011) (0.010)	(0.011)	(0.014)
.003			0.026
011)			(0.017)
0.000			-0.073
(0.016)		(0.049)
· ·	0.013*		-0.003
	(0.007)		(0.015)
	. ,	-0.006	-0.012
		(0.012)	(0.018)
347 3,642	3,470	3,158	1,936
.61 168	168	168	158
000 0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
395 0.505	0.621	0.525	0.274
	1) (2) GMM diff-GM 62*** 0.871** 059) (0.046 031* 0.031** 016) (0.011 022 -0.010 024) (0.017 053 0.018 050) (0.051 055 035) 007 -0.001 009) (0.006 008 -0.003 012) (0.011 003 011) 0.000 (0.016 347 3,642 61 168 000 0.000 395 0.505	1) (2) (3) ·GMM diff-GMM diff-GMM 62*** 0.871*** 0.812*** 059) (0.046) (0.063) 031* 0.031*** 0.024* 016) (0.011) (0.013) 022 -0.010 0.004 024) (0.017) (0.018) 053 0.018 0.053 050) (0.051) (0.045) 055 0.013 0.017) 007 -0.001 0.003 009) (0.006) (0.009) 008 -0.003 -0.015 012) (0.011) (0.010) 003 011) 0.013* 011) 0.000 (0.007) 033 0.013 0.013* 000 0.000 0.000 347 3,642 3,470 61 168 168 000 0.000 0.000 395 0.505 0.621	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

Table 5: The effect of economic development on health complexity: robustness checks

Note: Dependent variable: Health Complexity Index (HCI). Main independent variable: GDP per capita in logs (GDPpc). Regression analysis: One-step diff-GMM. All regressions include time dummies. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. AR(1) and AR(2) are the p-values for first- and second-order autocorrelated disturbances. * p<0.10, ** p<0.05, *** p<0.01

In Tables 4 and 5, we investigate the robustness of our baseline findings. First, we substitute the HCI with the age-standardized health complexity index (AHCI) maintaining the same set of controls (and time dummies) as in the baseline specification. Second, we investigate whether the positive impact of economic development on health complexity persists under additional and/or alternative control measures (including time dummies). In all cases, the baseline results remain qualitatively intact. In particular, the coefficient of GDPpc is positive and statistically significant in the instrumented regressions (see Table 4; to save space, we only include the first-stage estimated coefficients of the instruments – the results for the rest of the variables are available upon request).

Table 5 starts from the baseline specification with the full set of controls [column (9) in Table 3] and introduces additional variables or alternative measures for some of the previous controls. Specifically, in column (1), we add *education* (enrolment in secondary education in logs). In column (2), we substitute the *urban* population variable with *population density* (people per sq. km of land in logs). In columns (3) and (4), we employ (log) CO_2 emissions (CO_2 emissions, kg per 2010 \$US of GDP) and (log) *health expenditure* (total health spending, thousands of 2017 PPP adjusted \$US), respectively. Finally, in column (5), we consider all of the above variables together. Adding these controls in our estimations leaves the findings qualitatively and quantitatively intact.

The above analysis suggests that economically developed countries tend to exhibit more complex disease structures. Furthermore, exploiting the temporal variation in the data, the fixed-effects 2SLS/IV analysis and the difference GMM estimators reveal a positive, statistically significant, and robust impact of economic development on health complexity.

6 Economic development and disease complexity

The economic complexity methodology provides a useful toolbox that allows us to compute indices that quantify the complexity of both countries and diseases. For example, using the same methodology that computes the HCI, we can calculate the DCI (see Section 3). This index quantifies the complexity of countries' diseases according to their prevalent cases worldwide.

6.1 The disease complexity index

In a similar manner, but placing the spotlight on diseases rather than countries, we calculate the *Disease Complexity Index* (DCI) in which the $k \times k$ matrix $\tilde{\mathbf{M}}$ provides information about links connecting two diseases d and d', based on the number of countries in which both diseases are present ⁸. Therefore, the matrix elements $\tilde{M}_{dd'}$ are computed as

$$\tilde{M}_{dd'} = \frac{1}{k_{d,0}} \sum_{c} \frac{M_{cd} M_{cd'}}{k_{c,0}},$$
(6)

and if ${\bf Q}$ is the eigenvector of ${f ilde M}$ associated with the second largest eigenvalue,

$$DCI = \frac{\mathbf{Q} - \langle \mathbf{Q} \rangle}{\mathbf{s}td(\mathbf{Q})}.$$
 (7)

Table 6 lists the five diseases with the highest and lowest DCI scores averaged over the period of 1990-2016.

Table 6: List of the five diseases with the highest and lowest DCI values during the period of 1990-2016

Code	Disease name	Disease section	DCI
Highest DCI			
459	Malignant skin melanoma	Neoplasms	1.210
441	Colon and rectal cancer	Neoplasms	1.170
502	Peripheral artery disease	Cardiovascular diseases	1.169
456	Pancreatic cancer	Neoplasms	1.159
533	Vascular intestinal disorders	Digestive diseases	1.152
Lowest DCI 345 350 370 358 340	Malaria African trypanosomiasis Maternal obstructed labor and uterine rupture Yellow fever Tetanus	Neglected tropical diseases and malaria Neglected tropical diseases and malaria Maternal and neonatal disorders Neglected tropical diseases and malaria Other infectious diseases	-2.045 -1.978 -1.957 -1.893 -1.883

Notes: DCI: Disease Complexity Index; Average values for 1990-2016.

⁸As discussed in 2.1, the DCI is computed using in X_{cd} the number of prevalent cases of a disease (according to cause levels 3 or 4) per 100,000 population for 195 countries and for 196 diseases. The time-period covered is from 1990 to 2016. With the age-standardized data (see the discussion in Section 2.1), we also calculate the age-standardized disease complexity index (ADCI) following the same formulas.



Figure 8: DICI against DCI. The solid line represents the fit of a linear model and the dashed line a 95% prediction interval based on the fitted linear model.

6.2 The disease-income complexity index

Using the economic complexity methodology, (Hartmann et al., 2017) recently introduced a measure that associates products with income inequality and showed how the development of new products is associated with changes in income inequality. Here, to decompose economic development at the disease level, we introduce a measure that links a disease to the average income per capita of the countries for which they have a relative disease disadvantage i.e., an estimate of the expected income per capita related to different diseases. In this way, we illustrate how disease complexity is being affected by the level of economic development and quantify the relationship between countries' income per capita and the complexity of their diseases.

Following the methodology in (Hartmann et al., 2017), we define the *Disease-Income Complexity Index* (DICI), and decompose the relationship between the DCI and the DICI for the diseases in our sample of countries.⁹

Assuming that we have information for l countries and k diseases, we can fill the $(l \times k)$ matrix **M** so that its matrix element $M_{cd} = 1$ if country c has a RDD in disease d, and zero otherwise (see Section 3.1). Our dataset contains information for 195 developed and developing countries and for 196 diseases from 1990 to 2016. A visualization of the matrix **M** that is used to calculate the HCI and the DCI for this dataset is shown in Figure 2.

Every disease *d* can have prevalent cases in a country *c*. For every disease *d*, we can calculate the fraction s_{cd} :

$$s_{cd} = \frac{X_{cd}}{\sum_{d'} X_{cd'}},\tag{8}$$

where X_{cd} is the number of prevalent cases per 100,000 population for disease d in country c, while $\sum_{d'} X_{cd'}$ is the number of prevalent cases of all diseases in country c. If GDP_c is the (log) GDP per capita of country c, we can calculate the DICI_d for every disease d as:

$$\mathsf{DICI}_d = \frac{1}{N_d} \sum_c M_{cd} s_{cd} GDP_c,\tag{9}$$

where $N_d = \sum_c M_{cd} s_{cd}$ is a normalization factor.

The DICI is defined at the disease level as the average level of (log) *GDP* per capita of the countries that have a RDD in disease *d*, weighted by the disease's importance in each country's pool of diseases. Utilizing the (log) PPP *GDP* per capita (constant 2011 international \$) from the World Bank's World Development Indicators for the countries in our sample, we calculate the above index for every year in the period of 1990-2016.

Table 7 lists the five diseases with the highest and lowest average DICI values during the period of 1990-2016. It is evident that higher economic development is associated with more complex diseases such as motor neuron disease and malignant skin melanoma. At the other end of the spectrum, less complex diseases such as acute hepatitis E and malaria are associated with low levels of income per capita.

⁹We also computed the ADICI and investigated its relationship with the ADCI, finding similar results.

Table 7: List of the five diseases with the highest and lowest DICI values during the period of 1990-2016

code	disease name	disease section	DICI	DCI
Highest DICI				
554	Motor neuron disease	Neurological disorders	4.55	1.025
459	Malignant skin melanoma	Neoplasms	4.52	1.210
573	Anorexia nervosa	Mental disorders	4.49	0.818
483	Mesothelioma	Neoplasms	4.49	1.041
485	Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma	Neoplasms	4.48	1.057
Lowest DICI 404 345 353 370 359	Acute hepatitis E Malaria Cystic echinococcosis Maternal obstructed labor and uterine rupture Rabies	Other infectious diseases Neglected tropical diseases and malaria Neglected tropical diseases and malaria Maternal and neonatal disorders Neglected tropical diseases and malaria	2.89 2.86 2.84 2.80 2.76	-1.707 -2.045 -1.383 -1.957 -1.840

Notes: DICI: Disease-Income Complexity Index; DCI: Disease Complexity Index; Average values for 1990-2016

6.3 Linking disease complexity and economic development

In this subsection, we test the existence of a bivariate relationship between the DCI and the DICI. Thus, we calculate Pearson's correlation coefficient for DICI against DCI. If such an association exists, it should allow us to derive expectations about whether disease complexity can be associated with economic development and verify, with disease-level data, the statistically significant and positive relationship between health complexity and economic development that we found above (Section 5.2). The correlation coefficient for the relationship between the average values of the DICI and the DCI for the period of 1990-2016 is $\rho = 0.96 \pm 0.01$ with a p-value $< 2.2 \times 10^{-16}$. In Figure 8, we present the scatter-plot of the relationship between the DICI and the DCI for the 196 diseases in our dataset (average values for 1990-2016), together with the fitted linear model. The slope of the linear fit is the corresponding correlation coefficient.

The statistically significant positive correlation between the DICI and the DCI indicates that more complex diseases are associated with more developed countries, as measured by the (log) *GDP* per capita. This allows us to understand which sets of diseases are linked to better overall economic performance, based on their complexity.

In Table 8, we run panel regressions between the DCI and DICI. The results show that the relationship between the DCI and the DICI is the outcome of the correlations both *between* diseases (regression on group means) and *within* diseases (fixed-effects regression with time dummies and standard errors adjusted for disease clusters). This suggests that the positive effect of economic development on the complexity of diseases is due to both changes in the structure of the disease space towards more complex diseases and increases in the complexity of existing diseases.

(1)	(2)
DCI	DCI
Within Estimation	Between Estimation
0.479***	2.041***
(0.149)	(0.045)
5,211	5,211
193	193
0.90	0.88
	(1) DCI Within Estimation 0.479*** (0.149) 5,211 193 0.90

Table 8: Disease-income complexity index and the complexity of diseases

Notes: DICI: Disease-Income Complexity Index; DCI: Disease Complexity Index. Time dummies are included in the within regression. Standard errors are in parentheses. * p<0.10, ** p<0.05, *** p<0.01

7 Conclusions

Our analysis illustrates that a country's level of development determines the structure of its disease space. Following the economic complexity methodology, we developed the HCI, which quantifies the network representation of the relatedness and proximity of diseases. In a dynamic panel data setting, we showed that there is a robust positive effect of a country's economic development, measured by GDP per capita, on its level of health complexity, i.e., on the 'structural' composition of its pool of diseases. The evidence presented here suggests that the economic development of nations conditions the disease space. Specifically, more complex diseases tend to be relatively more prevalent in populations with a higher income per capita. Explicitly, it seems that when an economy accelerates, the impact on health complexity is positive.

In addition, we build the DICI, which links a disease to the average level of income per capita of the countries in which they have a relative disease disadvantage and illustrate how disease complexity is related to economic development. Specifically, we show how changes in GDP per capita are associated with more complex diseases. The temporal variation of the above indices is important from a policy perspective. Using the HCI and DCI, it is possible to design policies aimed at improving the recognition, visibility, and traceability of complex diseases across the globe and through time (e.g., by developing a classification system for all health information systems). These indices can also be used as tools for the development of national plans for complex diseases and the establishment of knowledge networks on complex diseases, so as to improve their diagnosis, treatment, and cure. Furthermore, the DICI could be used to design a health expenditure reallocation policy promoting health activities and services associated with the prevention of complex diseases.

This study employs the economic complexity methodology to compute two new metrics that quantify the disease space of countries. These can be valuable tools for estimating the effect of economic development on the health status of nations. The topic of economic complexity is a rather new one, and its use in economics is rather limited so far. By focusing on the topic of disease complexity, our contribution lies in bridging the health economics literature with the literature that highlights economic complexity as a powerful paradigm in understanding key issues in economics, geography, innovation studies, and other social sciences.

References

Abdon, A. and Felipe, J., 'The product space: What does it say about the opportunities for growth and structural transformation of sub-saharan africa?', *Levy Economics Institte Working Paper*, , No 670, 2011.

Acaravci, A. and Ozturk, I., 'On the relationship between energy consumption, co2 emissions and economic growth in europe', *Energy*, Vol. 35, No 12, 2010, pp. 5412–5420.

Acemoglu, D., 'Technical change, inequality, and the labor market', *Journal of economic literature*, Vol. 40, No 1, 2002, pp. 7–72.

Acemoglu, D., Aghion, P. and Violante, G. L., 'Deunionization, technical change and inequality', In 'Carnegie-Rochester conference series on public policy', Vol. 55. Elsevier, pp. 229–264.

Acemoglu, D. and Autor, D., 'Skills, tasks and technologies: Implications for employment and earnings', *Handbook of labor economics*, Vol. 4, 2011, pp. 1043–1171.

Acemoglu, D. and Johnson, S., 'Disease and development: the effect of life expectancy on economic growth', *Journal of political Economy*, Vol. 115, No 6, 2007, pp. 925–985.

Acemoglu, D. and Zilibotti, F., 'Information accumulation in development', *Journal of Economic Growth*, Vol. 4, No 1, 1999, pp. 5–38.

Adam, A. and Kammas, P., 'Tax policies in a globalized world: Is it politics after all?', *Public Choice*, Vol. 133, No 3-4, 2007, pp. 321–341.

Adam, A., Kammas, P. and Lagou, A., 'The effect of globalization on capital taxation: What have we learned after 20years of empirical studies?', *Journal of Macroeconomics*, Vol. 35, 2013, pp. 199–209.

Adam, A., Kammas, P. and Lapatinas, A., 'Income inequality and the tax structure: Evidence from developed and developing countries', *Journal of Comparative Economics*, Vol. 43, No 1, 2015, pp. 138–154.

Adler, N. E. and Newman, K., 'Socioeconomic disparities in health: pathways and policies', *Health affairs*, Vol. 21, No 2, 2002, pp. 60–76.

Agras, J. and Chapman, D., 'A dynamic approach to the environmental kuznets curve hypothesis', *Ecological Economics*, Vol. 28, No 2, 1999, pp. 267–277.

Aidt, T. S., Dutta, J. and Loukoianova, E., 'Democracy comes to europe: franchise extension and fiscal outcomes 1830–1938', *European Economic Review*, Vol. 50, No 2, 2006, pp. 249–283.

Aidt, T. S. and Jensen, P. S., 'Tax structure, size of government, and the extension of the voting franchise in western europe, 1860–1938', *International Tax and Public Finance*, Vol. 16, No 3, 2009, pp. 362–394.

Aidt, T. S. and Tzannatos, Z., 'Trade unions, collective bargaining and macroeconomic performance: a review', *Industrial Relations Journal*, Vol. 39, No 4, 2008, pp. 258–295. ISSN 1468-2338. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2338.2008.00488.x.

Aiken, L. S., West, S. G. and Reno, R. R., 'Multiple regression: Testing and interpreting interactions', Sage, 1991.

Akbostancı, E., Türüt-Aşık, S. and Tunç, G. İ., 'The relationship between income and environment in turkey: is there an environmental kuznets curve?', *Energy policy*, Vol. 37, No 3, 2009, pp. 861–867.

Al-Mulali, U. and Ozturk, I., 'The effect of energy consumption, urbanization, trade openness, industrial output, and the political stability on the environmental degradation in the mena (middle east and north african) region', *Energy*, Vol. 84, 2015, pp. 382–389.

Albeaik, S., Kaltenberg, M., Alsaleh, M. and Hidalgo, C. A., '729 new measures of economic complexity (addendum to improving the economic complexity index)', *arXiv preprint arXiv:1708.04107*, 2017a. Albeaik, S., Kaltenberg, M., Alsaleh, M. and Hidalgo, C. A., 'Measuring the knowledge intensity of economies with an improved measure of economic complexity', *arXiv preprint arXiv:1707.05826*, 2017b.

Alesina, A., Devleeschauwer, A., Easterly, W., Kurlat, S. and Wacziarg, R., 'Fractionalization', *Journal of Economic growth*, Vol. 8, No 2, 2003, pp. 155–194.

Alesina, A. and Wacziarg, R., 'Openness, country size and government', *Journal of public Economics*, Vol. 69, No 3, 1998, pp. 305–321.

Allesina, S. and Tang, S., 'Stability criteria for complex ecosystems', *Nature*, Vol. 483, No 7388, 2012, p. 205.

Alleyne, G. A. and Cohen, D., 'The report of working group i of the commission on macroeconomics and health', *WHO Commission on Macroeconomics and Health, April*, 2002.

Almeida-Neto, M., Guimaraes, P., Guimarães, P. R., Loyola, R. D. and Ulrich, W., 'A consistent metric for nestedness analysis in ecological systems: reconciling concept and measurement', *Oikos*, Vol. 117, No 8, 2008, pp. 1227–1239.

Ang, J. B., 'Co2 emissions, energy consumption, and output in france', *Energy Policy*, Vol. 35, No 10, 2007, pp. 4772–4778.

Ang, J. B., 'Economic development, pollutant emissions and energy consumption in malaysia', *Journal of Policy Modeling*, Vol. 30, No 2, 2008, pp. 271–278.

Antoci, A., Russu, P., Sordi, S. and Ticci, E., 'Industrialization and environmental externalities in a solow-type model', *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, Vol. 47, 2014, pp. 211–224.

Antweiler, W., Copeland, B. R. and Taylor, M. S., 'Is free trade good for the environment?', *American Economic Review*, Vol. 91, No 4, 2001, pp. 877–908.

Arellano, M. and Bond, S., 'Some tests of specification for panel data: Monte carlo evidence and an application to employment equations', *The review of economic studies*, Vol. 58, No 2, 1991, pp. 277–297.

Arteta, C. and Eichengreen, B., 'Charles wyplosz, 2001, when does capital account liberalization help more than it hurts', *NBER Working Paper*, Vol. 8414.

Arteta, C., Eichengreen, B. and Wyplosz, C., 'On the growth effects of capital account liberalization'. 2001a.

Arteta, C., Eichengreen, B. and Wyplosz, C., 'When does capital account liberalization help more than it hurts?', Tech. rep., National bureau of economic research, 2001b.

Asane-Otoo, E., 'Carbon footprint and emission determinants in africa', *Energy*, Vol. 82, 2015, pp. 426–435.

Ashraf, Q. and Galor, O., 'Genetic diversity and the origins of cultural fragmentation', *The American economic review*, Vol. 103, No 3, 2013a, pp. 528–533.

Ashraf, Q. and Galor, O., 'The âĂIJout of africaâĂİ hypothesis, human genetic diversity, and comparative economic development', *The American Economic Review*, Vol. 103, No 1, 2013b, pp. 1–46.

Autor, D., Dorn, D. and Hanson, G. H., 'The china syndrome: Local labor market effects of import competition in the us', *American Economic Review*, Vol. 103, No 6, 2013, pp. 2121–68.

Autor, D. H., Dorn, D., Hanson, G. H. and Song, J., 'Trade adjustment: Worker-level evidence', *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, Vol. 129, No 4, 2014, pp. 1799–1860.

Autor, D. H., Katz, L. F. and Krueger, A. B., 'Computing inequality: have computers changed the labor market?', *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, Vol. 113, No 4, 1998, pp. 1169–1213.

Autor, D. H., Levy, F. and Murnane, R. J., 'Upstairs, downstairs: computers and skills on two floors of a large bank', *ILR Review*, Vol. 55, No 3, 2002, pp. 432–447.

Autor, D. H., Levy, F. and Murnane, R. J., 'The skill content of recent technological change: An empirical exploration', *The Quarterly journal of economics*, Vol. 118, No 4, 2003, pp. 1279–1333.

Balassa, B., 'Trade liberalisation and "revealed" comparative advantage', *The Manchester School*, Vol. 33, No 2, 1965, pp. 99–123.

Balland, P.-A., 'Proximity and the evolution of collaboration networks: Evidence from research and development projects within the global navigation satellite system (gnss) industry', *Regional Studies*, Vol. 46, No 6, 2012, pp. 741–756. URL https://doi.org/10. 1080/00343404.2010.529121.

Balland, P.-A. and Rigby, D., 'The geography of complex knowledge', *Economic Geography*, Vol. 93, No 1, 2017, pp. 1–23.

Bank, T. W., 'World development indicators 2000', Oxford University Press, USA, 2000.

Bank, W., 'Doing business 2013: smarter regulations for small and medium-size enterprises', World Bank, 2013. URL http://www.doingbusiness.org/data.

Barlow, R. and Vissandjee, B., 'Determinants of national life expectancy', *Canadian Journal of Development Studies/Revue canadienne d'études du développement*, Vol. 20, No 1, 1999, pp. 9–29.

Barnett, V. and Lewis, T., 'Outliers in statistical data', Chichester: John Wiley, 1995. 584p, 1964.

Bartel, A., Ichniowski, C. and Shaw, K., 'How does information technology affect productivity? plant-level comparisons of product innovation, process improvement, and worker skills', *The quarterly journal of Economics*, Vol. 122, No 4, 2007, pp. 1721–1758.

Bascompte, J., Jordano, P., Melián, C. J. and Olesen, J. M., 'The nested assembly of plantanimal mutualistic networks', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, Vol. 100, No 16, 2003, pp. 9383–9387.

Bean, C. and Pissarides, C., 'Unemployment, consumption and growth', *European Economic Review*, Vol. 37, No 4, 1993, pp. 837–854.

Beaudry, P., Green, D. A. and Sand, B. M., 'The great reversal in the demand for skill and cognitive tasks', *Journal of Labor Economics*, Vol. 34, No S1, 2016, pp. S199–S247.

Bell, M. and Pavitt, K., 'The development of technological capabilities', *Trade, technology and international competitiveness*, Vol. 22, No 4831, 1995, pp. 69–101.

Bernard, A. B., Smeets, V. and Warzynski, F., 'Rethinking deindustrialization', *Economic Policy*, Vol. 32, No 89, 2017, pp. 5–38.

Bianchine, P. J. and Russo, T. A., 'The role of epidemic infectious diseases in the discovery of america', In 'Allergy and Asthma Proceedings', Vol. 13. OceanSide Publications, p. 225.

Bimonte, S., 'Information access, income distribution, and the environmental kuznets curve', *Ecological economics*, Vol. 41, No 1, 2002, pp. 145–156.

Birchenall, J. A., 'Economic development and the escape from high mortality', *World Development*, Vol. 35, No 4, 2007, pp. 543 – 568. ISSN 0305-750X. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0305750X06002221.

Bleakley, H., 'Health, human capital, and development', *Annu. Rev. Econ.*, Vol. 2, No 1, 2010, pp. 283–310.

Blinder, A., Goodhart, C., Hildebrand, P., Lipton, D. and Wyplosz, C., 'How do central banks talk? geneva reports on the world economy 3', *Center for Economic Policy Research*, 2001.

Bloom, D. E., Canning, D. and Sevilla, J., 'Health and economic growth: reconciling the micro and macro evidence', *Center on Democracy, Development and the Rule of Law Working Papers*, Vol. 42, 2005.

Bloom, D. E., Sachs, J. D., Collier, P. and Udry, C., 'Geography, demography, and economic growth in africa', *Brookings papers on economic activity*, Vol. 1998, No 2, 1998, pp. 207–295.

Boix, C., 'Democracy, development, and the public sector', *American Journal of Political Science*, 2001, pp. 1–17.

Boix, C., 'Democracy and redistribution', Cambridge University Press, 2003.

Bound, J. and Johnson, G. E., 'Changes in the structure of wages during the 1980's: An evaluation of alternative explanations', Tech. rep., National Bureau of Economic Research, 1989.

Braveman, P. A., Cubbin, C., Egerter, S., Williams, D. R. and Pamuk, E., 'Socioeconomic disparities in health in the united states: what the patterns tell us', *American journal of public health*, Vol. 100, No S1, 2010, pp. S186–S196.

Bresnahan, T. F., Brynjolfsson, E. and Hitt, L. M., 'Information technology, workplace organization, and the demand for skilled labor: Firm-level evidence', *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, Vol. 117, No 1, 2002, pp. 339–376.

Bretschger, L. and Hettich, F., 'Globalisation, capital mobility and tax competition: theory and evidence for oecd countries', *European journal of political economy*, Vol. 18, No 4, 2002, pp. 695–716.

Brooks, N. and Sethi, R., 'The distribution of pollution: community characteristics and exposure to air toxics', *Journal of environmental economics and management*, Vol. 32, No 2, 1997, pp. 233–250.

Brunekreef, B. and Holgate, S. T., 'Air pollution and health', *The lancet*, Vol. 360, No 9341, 2002, pp. 1233–1242.

Brynjolfsson, E. and McAfee, A., 'Race against the machine: How the digital revolution is accelerating innovation, driving productivity, and irreversibly transforming employment and the economy', Brynjolfsson and McAfee, 2012.

Brynjolfsson, E. and McAfee, A., 'The second machine age: Work, progress, and prosperity in a time of brilliant technologies', WW Norton & Company, 2014.

Bucovetsky, S. and Wilson, J. D., 'Tax competition with two tax instruments', *Regional science and urban Economics*, Vol. 21, No 3, 1991, pp. 333–350.

Buera, F. J. and Kaboski, J. P., 'Can traditional theories of structural change fit the data?', *Journal of the European Economic Association*, Vol. 7, No 2-3, 2009, pp. 469–477.

Bustos, S., Gomez, C., Hausmann, R. and Hidalgo, C. A., 'The dynamics of nestedness predicts the evolution of industrial ecosystems', *PloS one*, Vol. 7, No 11, 2012, p. e49393.

Caldarelli, G., Cristelli, M., Gabrielli, A., Pietronero, L., Scala, A. and Tacchella, A., 'A network analysis of countries' export flows: firm grounds for the building blocks of the economy', *PloS one*, Vol. 7, No 10, 2012, p. e47278.

Chang, C.-P. and Lee, C.-C., 'Globalization and economic growth: A political economy analysis for oecd countries', *Global Economic Review*, Vol. 39, No 2, 2010, pp. 151–173.

Charles, K. K., Hurst, E. and Notowidigdo, M., 'Manufacturing decline, housing booms, and non-employment', 2013.

Chaudhuri, K. N., 'Trade and civilisation in the indian ocean: an economic history from the rise of islam to 1750', Cambridge University Press, 1985.

Chay, K. Y. and Greenstone, M., 'The impact of air pollution on infant mortality: evidence from geographic variation in pollution shocks induced by a recession', *The quarterly journal of economics*, Vol. 118, No 3, 2003, pp. 1121–1167.

Chay, K. Y. and Greenstone, M., 'Does air quality matter? evidence from the housing market', *Journal of political Economy*, Vol. 113, No 2, 2005, pp. 376–424.

Chenery, H. B. and Taylor, L., 'Development patterns: among countries and over time', *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 1968, pp. 391–416.

Cherniwchan, J., 'Economic growth, industrialization, and the environment', *Resource and Energy Economics*, Vol. 34, No 4, 2012, pp. 442–467.

Clark, C., 'The conditions of economic progress.', *The conditions of economic progress.*, 1967.

Cole, M. A., 'Corruption, income and the environment: an empirical analysis', *Ecological Economics*, Vol. 62, No 3-4, 2007, pp. 637–647.

Cole, M. A. and Elliott, R. J., 'Determining the trade–environment composition effect: the role of capital, labor and environmental regulations', *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, Vol. 46, No 3, 2003, pp. 363–383.

Coondoo, D. and Dinda, S., 'Causality between income and emission: a country group-specific econometric analysis', *Ecological Economics*, Vol. 40, No 3, 2002, pp. 351–367.

Crémieux, P.-Y., Ouellette, P. and Pilon, C., 'Health care spending as determinants of health outcomes', *Health economics*, Vol. 8, No 7, 1999, pp. 627–639.

Cristelli, M., Gabrielli, A., Tacchella, A., Caldarelli, G. and Pietronero, L., 'Measuring the intangibles: A metrics for the economic complexity of countries and products', *PloS one*, Vol. 8, No 8, 2013, p. e70726.

Cristelli, M., Tacchella, A. and Pietronero, L., 'The heterogeneous dynamics of economic complexity', *PloS one*, Vol. 10, No 2, 2015, p. e0117174.

Damania, R., Fredriksson, P. G. and List, J. A., 'Trade liberalization, corruption, and environmental policy formation: theory and evidence', *Journal of environmental economics and management*, Vol. 46, No 3, 2003, pp. 490–512.

Daveri, F. and Tabellini, G., 'Unemployment, growth and taxation in industrial countries', *Economic Policy*, Vol. 15, No 30, 04 2000, pp. 47–104.

David, H., 'Why are there still so many jobs? the history and future of workplace automation', *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, Vol. 29, No 3, 2015, pp. 3–30.

David, H. and Dorn, D., 'The growth of low-skill service jobs and the polarization of the us labor market', *The American Economic Review*, Vol. 103, No 5, 2013, pp. 1553–1597.

De Haan, L. and Ferreira, A., 'Extreme value theory: an introduction', Springer Science & Business Media, 2007.

Dietrich, A., 'Does growth cause structural change, or is it the other way around? a dynamic panel data analysis for seven oecd countries', *Empirical economics*, Vol. 43, No 3, 2012, pp. 915–944.

Dijkstra, E. W., 'A note on two problems in connexion with graphs', *Numerische mathematik*, Vol. 1, No 1, 1959, pp. 269–271.

Dinda, S., 'Environmental kuznets curve hypothesis: a survey', *Ecological economics*, Vol. 49, No 4, 2004, pp. 431–455.

Dinda, S. and Coondoo, D., 'Income and emission: a panel data-based cointegration analysis', *Ecological Economics*, Vol. 57, No 2, 2006, pp. 167–181.

DireÃğÃčo-Geral da SaÞde, Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation, 'The nationâĂŹs health 1990âĂŞ2016: An overview of the global burden of disease study 2016 results.', *IHME report*, 2018.

Djankov, S., Ganser, T., McLiesh, C., Ramalho, R. and Shleifer, A., 'The effect of corporate taxes on investment and entrepreneurship', *American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics*, Vol. 2, No 3, 2010, pp. 31–64.

Dominici, F., Greenstone, M. and Sunstein, C. R., 'Particulate matter matters', *Science*, Vol. 344, No 6181, 2014, pp. 257–259.

Dreher, A., 'Does globalization affect growth? evidence from a new index of globalization', *Applied economics*, Vol. 38, No 10, 2006, pp. 1091–1110.

Driscoll, T., Takala, J., Steenland, K., Corvalan, C. and Fingerhut, M., 'Review of estimates of the global burden of injury and illness due to occupational exposures', *American journal of industrial medicine*, Vol. 48, No 6, 2005, pp. 491–502.

Drummond, M. F., Sculpher, M. J., Claxton, K., Stoddart, G. L. and Torrance, G. W., 'Methods for the economic evaluation of health care programmes', Oxford university press, 2015.

Duttagupta, R., Ruiz, S. L., Leyva, A. M. and Tavares, M. M., 'Globalization and inclusive growth: Can they go hand in hand in developing countries?' In 'Getting Globalization Right', Springer, 2018. pp. 265–288.

Easterlin, R. A., 'How beneficent is the market? a look at the modern history of mortality', *European Review of Economic History*, Vol. 3, No 3, 1999, pp. 257–294.

Eichengreen, B., 'Capital account liberalization: What do cross-country studies tell us?', *The world bank economic review*, Vol. 15, No 3, 2001, pp. 341–365.

European Environment Agency, 'Air quality in Europe-2015 report', Tech. Rep. 5, 2015. . URL http://www.actu-environnement.com/media/pdf/news-25756-rapport-air-aee.pdf.

Ezzati, M., Vander Hoorn, S., Lawes, C. M., Leach, R., James, W. P. T., Lopez, A. D., Rodgers, A. and Murray, C. J., 'Rethinking the "diseases of affluence" paradigm: global patterns of nutritional risks in relation to economic development', *PLoS medicine*, Vol. 2, No 5, 2005, p. e133.

Farhani, S., Mrizak, S., Chaibi, A. and Rault, C., 'The environmental kuznets curve and sustainability: A panel data analysis', *Energy Policy*, Vol. 71, 2014, pp. 189–198.

Feenstra, R. C., Lipsey, R. E., Deng, H., Ma, A. C. and Mo, H., 'World trade flows: 1962-2000', Tech. rep., National Bureau of Economic Research, 2005.

Feldman, J. J., Makuc, D. M., Kleinman, J. C. and Cornoni-Huntley, J., 'National trends in educational differentials in mortality', *American Journal of Epidemiology*, Vol. 129, No 5, 1989, pp. 919–933.

Feldmann, H., 'Technological unemployment in industrial countries', *Journal of Evolutionary Economics*, Vol. 23, No 5, 2013a, pp. 1099–1126.

Feldmann, H., 'Technological unemployment in industrial countries', *Journal of Evolutionary Economics*, Vol. 23, No 5, 2013b, pp. 1099–1126. URL https://EconPapers.repec.org/RePEc: spr:joevec:v:23:y:2013:i:5:p:1099–1126.

Felipe, J., 'Inclusive growth, full employment, and structural change: Implications and policies for developing asia', Anthem Press, 2012.

Felipe, J., Kumar, U., Abdon, A. and Bacate, M., 'Product complexity and economic development', *Structural Change and Economic Dynamics*, Vol. 23, No 1, 2012, pp. 36–68.

Fogel, R. W., 'The conquest of high mortality and hunger in europe and america: Timing and mechanisms', Tech. rep., National Bureau of Economic Research, 1990.

Fogel, R. W., 'The escape from hunger and premature death, 1700-2100: Europe, america, and the third world', Cambridge University Press, 2004.

Folland, S., Goodman, A. C., Stano, M. et al., 'The economics of health and health care', Vol. 6. Pearson Prentice Hall Upper Saddle River, NJ, 2007.

Fourastié, J., 'Le grand espoir du xxe siècle', *Revue Française de Sociologie*, Vol. 4, No 2, 1963, p. 224.

Frankel, J. A. and Rose, A. K., 'Is trade good or bad for the environment? sorting out the causality', *Review of economics and statistics*, Vol. 87, No 1, 2005, pp. 85–91.

Frey, C. B. and Osborne, M. A., 'The future of employment: how susceptible are jobs to computerisation?', *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, Vol. 114, 2017, pp. 254–280.

Friedman, B. M., 'The moral consequences of economic growth', *Society*, Vol. 43, No 2, 2006, pp. 15–22.

Galeotti, M., Lanza, A. and Pauli, F., 'Reassessing the environmental kuznets curve for co2 emissions: A robustness exercise', *Ecological economics*, Vol. 57, No 1, 2006, pp. 152–163.

Galeotti, M., Manera, M. and Lanza, A., 'On the robustness of robustness checks of the environmental kuznets curve hypothesis', *Environmental and Resource Economics*, Vol. 42, No 4, 2009, p. 551.

Gallup, J. L. and Sachs, J. D., 'The economic burden of malaria', *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, Vol. 64, No 1_suppl, 2001, pp. 85–96.

Garas, A., Rozenblat, C. and Schweitzer, F., 'Economic specialization and the nested bipartite network of city-firm relations', 2019, pp. 74 – 83. URL https://global.oup.com/academic/product/multiplex-and-multilevel-networks-9780198809456?cc=it&lang=en&.

GBD 2015 Obesity Collaborators, 'Health effects of overweight and obesity in 195 countries over 25 years', *the New England Journal of medecine*, Vol. 377, No 1, 2017, pp. 13–27.

GBD Study 2016, 'Global burden of disease study: Results.', *Seattle, United States: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). Available from http://ghdx.healthdata.org/gbd-results-tool*, 2016.

GBD2016 Dementia Collaborators, 'Global, regional, and national burden of alzheimer's disease and other dementias, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2016', *the Lancet Neurology*, 2018.

Glasgow, R. E., Vogt, T. M. and Boles, S. M., 'Evaluating the public health impact of health promotion interventions: the re-aim framework.', *American journal of public health*, Vol. 89, No 9, 1999, pp. 1322–1327.

Goel, R. K., Herrala, R. and Mazhar, U., 'Institutional quality and environmental pollution: Mena countries versus the rest of the world', *Economic Systems*, Vol. 37, No 4, 2013, pp. 508–521.

Gollin, D., Parente, S. and Rogerson, R., 'The role of agriculture in development', *American Economic Review*, Vol. 92, No 2, 2002, pp. 160–164.

Goos, M. and Manning, A., 'Lousy and lovely jobs: The rising polarization of work in britain', *The review of economics and statistics*, Vol. 89, No 1, 2007, pp. 118–133.

Gözgör, G. and Can, M., 'Causal linkages among the product diversification of exports, economic globalization and economic growth', *Review of Development Economics*, Vol. 21, No 3, 2017, pp. 888–908.

Grossman, G. M. and Krueger, A. B., 'Economic growth and the environment', *The quarterly journal of economics*, Vol. 110, No 2, 1995, pp. 353–377.

Grossman, G. M. et al., 'Promoting new industrial activities: a survey of recent arguments and evidence', Princeton University, 1989.

Grossman, M., 'On the concept of health capital and the demand for health', *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 80, No 2, 1972, pp. 223–255. ISSN 00223808, 1537534X. URL http://www.jstor.org/stable/1830580.

Grossman, M., 'Education and nonmarket outcomes', *Handbook of the Economics of Education*, Vol. 1, 2006, pp. 577–633.

Gupta, R., 'Rethinking diseases of affluence; coronary heart disease in developing countries', *South Asian Journal of Preventive Cardiology*, Vol. 10, No 2, 2006, pp. 65–78.

Guralnik, J. M. and Kaplan, G. A., 'Predictors of healthy aging: prospective evidence from the alameda county study.', *American journal of public health*, Vol. 79, No 6, 1989, pp. 703–708.

Gurgul, H. and Lach, Ł., 'Globalization and economic growth: Evidence from two decades of transition in cee', *Economic Modelling*, Vol. 36, 2014, pp. 99–107.

Hafer, R. and Jones, G., 'Are entrepreneurship and cognitive skills related? some international evidence', *Small Business Economics*, Vol. 44, No 2, 2015, pp. 283–298.

Hafner, O., 'The role of corruption in the misappropriation of tropical forest resources and in tropical forest destruction', *Transparency International Working Paper*, 1998.

Halicioglu, F., 'An econometric study of co2 emissions, energy consumption, income and foreign trade in turkey', *Energy Policy*, Vol. 37, No 3, 2009, pp. 1156–1164.

Hall, R. E. and Jones, C. I., 'Why do some countries produce so much more output per worker than others?', *The quarterly journal of economics*, Vol. 114, No 1, 1999, pp. 83–116.

Halpern, L., Wyplosz, C. et al., 'Economic transformation and real exchange rates in the 2000s: the balassa-samuelson connection', *Economic Survey of Europe*, Vol. 1, 2001, pp. 227–240.

Hamilton, C. and Turton, H., 'Determinants of emissions growth in oecd countries', *Energy Policy*, Vol. 30, No 1, 2002, pp. 63–71.

Hamoudi, A. A., Sachs, J. D. et al., 'Economic consequences of health status: a review of the evidence', Tech. rep., Center for International Development at Harvard University, 1999.

Hansen, J., 'Increased breast cancer risk among women who work predominantly at night', *Epidemiology*, Vol. 12, No 1, 2001, pp. 74–77.

Hartmann, D., Guevara, M. R., Jara-Figueroa, C., Aristarán, M. and Hidalgo, C. A., 'Linking economic complexity, institutions, and income inequality', *World Development*, Vol. 93, 2017, pp. 75–93.

Hausmann, R. and Hidalgo, C. A., 'The network structure of economic output', *Journal of Economic Growth*, Vol. 16, No 4, 2011, pp. 309–342.

Hausmann, R., Hidalgo, C. A., Bustos, S., Coscia, M., Simoes, A. and Yildirim, M. A., 'The atlas of economic complexity: Mapping paths to prosperity', Mit Press, 2014.

Hausmann, R., Hwang, J. and Rodrik, D., 'What you export matters', *Journal of economic growth*, Vol. 12, No 1, 2007, pp. 1–25.

Hausmann, R. and Klinger, B., 'Structural transformation and patterns of comparative advantage in the product space', 2006.

Herrendorf, B., Rogerson, R. and Valentinyi, Á., 'Growth and structural transformation'. In 'Handbook of economic growth', Vol. 2. Elsevier, 2014. pp. 855–941.

Hidalgo, C. A. and Hausmann, R., 'The building blocks of economic complexity', *proceedings of the national academy of sciences*, Vol. 106, No 26, 2009, pp. 10570–10575.

Hidalgo, C. A., Klinger, B., Barabási, A.-L. and Hausmann, R., 'The product space conditions the development of nations', *Science*, Vol. 317, No 5837, 2007, pp. 482–487.

Hilty, L. M., Arnfalk, P., Erdmann, L., Goodman, J., Lehmann, M. and Wäger, P. A., 'The relevance of information and communication technologies for environmental sustainability– a prospective simulation study', *Environmental Modelling & Software*, Vol. 21, No 11, 2006, pp. 1618–1629.

Holdren, J. P., 'Population and the energy problem', *Population and environment*, Vol. 12, No 3, 1991, pp. 231–255.

Holgate, S. T., Koren, H. S., Samet, J. M. and Maynard, R. L., 'Air pollution and health', Elsevier, 1999.

Holtz-Eakin, D. and Selden, T. M., 'Stoking the fires? co2 emissions and economic growth', *Journal of public economics*, Vol. 57, No 1, 1995, pp. 85–101.

Hossain, M. S., 'Panel estimation for co2 emissions, energy consumption, economic growth, trade openness and urbanization of newly industrialized countries', *Energy Policy*, Vol. 39, No 11, 2011, pp. 6991–6999.

Hoy, D., March, L., Brooks, P., Blyth, F., Woolf, A., Bain, C., Williams, G., Smith, E., Vos, T., Barendregt, J. et al., 'The global burden of low back pain: estimates from the global burden of disease 2010 study', *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*, Vol. 73, No 6, 2014, pp. 968–974.

Hoy, D., March, L., Brooks, P., Woolf, A., Blyth, F., Vos, T. and Buchbinder, R., 'Measuring the global burden of low back pain', *Best practice & research Clinical rheumatology*, Vol. 24, No 2, 2010, pp. 155–165.

Index, E. P., 'Environmental performance index', *Yale University. Retrieved December*, Vol. 10, 2014, p. 2014.

Inoua, S., 'A simple measure of economic complexity', *arXiv preprint arXiv:1601.05012*, 2016.

IPCC, 'Climate Change 2014 Synthesis Report', Tech. rep., 2014.

Jaimovich, N. and Siu, H. E., 'The trend is the cycle: Job polarization and jobless recoveries', Tech. rep., National Bureau of Economic Research, 2012.

Jalil, A. and Mahmud, S. F., 'Environment kuznets curve for co2 emissions: a cointegration analysis for china', *Energy policy*, Vol. 37, No 12, 2009, pp. 5167–5172.

Jayanthakumaran, K., Verma, R. and Liu, Y., 'Co2 emissions, energy consumption, trade and income: a comparative analysis of china and india', *Energy Policy*, Vol. 42, 2012, pp. 450–460.

Jones, G., 'National iq and national productivity: The hive mind across asia', *Asian Development Review*, Vol. 28, 2011, pp. 51–71.

Jones, G. and Schneider, W. J., 'Intelligence, human capital, and economic growth: A bayesian averaging of classical estimates (bace) approach', *Journal of economic growth*, Vol. 11, No 1, 2006, pp. 71–93.

Jorgenson, A. K. and Clark, B., 'Assessing the temporal stability of the population/environment relationship in comparative perspective: a cross-national panel study of carbon dioxide emissions, 1960–2005', *Population and Environment*, Vol. 32, No 1, 2010, pp. 27–41.

Juhn, C., Murphy, K. M. and Pierce, B., 'Wage inequality and the rise in returns to skill', *Journal of political Economy*, Vol. 101, No 3, 1993, pp. 410–442.

Kaldor, N. et al., 'Strategic factors in economic development', New York State School of Industrial and Labor Relations, Cornell University, 1967.

Kampa, M. and Castanas, E., 'Human health effects of air pollution', *Environmental pollution*, Vol. 151, No 2, 2008, pp. 362–367.

Kasman, A. and Duman, Y. S., 'Co2 emissions, economic growth, energy consumption, trade and urbanization in new eu member and candidate countries: a panel data analysis', *Economic Modelling*, Vol. 44, 2015, pp. 97–103.

Katz, L. F. and Murphy, K. M., 'Changes in relative wages, 1963–1987: supply and demand factors', *The quarterly journal of economics*, Vol. 107, No 1, 1992, pp. 35–78.

Kaufmann, D., Kraay, A. and Mastruzzi, M., 'The worldwide governance indicators: methodology and analytical issues', *Hague Journal on the Rule of Law*, Vol. 3, No 2, 2011, pp. 220–246. Kaufmann, D., Kraay, A. and Zoido-Lobaton, P., 'Governance matters. world bank policy research department', Tech. rep., Working Paper, 1999.

Kenny, L. W. and Winer, S. L., 'Tax systems in the world: An empirical investigation into the importance of tax bases, administration costs, scale and political regime', *International Tax and Public Finance*, Vol. 13, No 2, 2006, pp. 181–215.

Klein, M. W., 'Capital account openness and the varieties of growth experience', Tech. rep., National Bureau of Economic Research, 2003.

Künzli, N., Kaiser, R., Medina, S., Studnicka, M., Chanel, O., Filliger, P., Herry, M., Horak Jr, F., Puybonnieux-Texier, V., Quénel, P. et al., 'Public-health impact of outdoor and traffic-related air pollution: a european assessment', *The Lancet*, Vol. 356, No 9232, 2000, pp. 795–801.

Kuznets, S. and Murphy, J. T., 'Modern economic growth: Rate, structure, and spread', Vol. 2. Yale University Press New Haven, 1966.

Laitner, J., 'Structural change and economic growth', *The Review of Economic Studies*, Vol. 67, No 3, 2000, pp. 545–561.

Lall, S., 'Technological capabilities and industrialization', *World development*, Vol. 20, No 2, 1992, pp. 165–186.

Lange, S. and Vollmer, S., 'The effect of economic development on population health: a review of the empirical evidence.', *British medical bulletin*, Vol. 121, No 1, 2017.

Lapatinas, A., 'Intelligence and product sophistication', 2017.

Lapatinas, A., 'The effect of the internet on economic sophistication: An empirical analysis', *Economics Letters*, Vol. 174, 2019, pp. 35–38.

Lapatinas, A. and Litina, A., 'Intelligence and economic sophistication', *Empirical Economics*, Jun 2018. ISSN 1435-8921. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s00181-018-1511-y.

Lapatinas, A., Litina, A. and Sartzetakis, E. S., 'Environmental projects in the presence of corruption', *International Tax and Public Finance*, Vol. forthcoming, 2018.

Lee, C.-C. and Lee, J.-D., 'Income and co2 emissions: evidence from panel unit root and cointegration tests', *Energy policy*, Vol. 37, No 2, 2009, pp. 413–423.

Leibrecht, M. and Hochgatterer, C., 'Tax competition as a cause of falling corporate income tax rates: A survey of empirical literature', *Journal of Economic Surveys*, Vol. 26, No 4, 2012, pp. 616–648.

Lewis, W. A., 'Theory of economic growth', Vol. 7. Routledge, 2013.

Li, H., Mu, H., Zhang, M. and Gui, S., 'Analysis of regional difference on impact factors of china's energy–related co2 emissions', *Energy*, Vol. 39, No 1, 2012, pp. 319–326.

Li, K. and Lin, B., 'Impacts of urbanization and industrialization on energy consumption/co2 emissions: does the level of development matter?', *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, Vol. 52, 2015, pp. 1107–1122.

Lichter, A., 'Benefit duration and job search effort: Evidence from a natural experiment', IZA Discussion Papers 10264, Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA), 2016. URL https://EconPapers.repec.org/RePEc:iza:izadps:dp10264.

Liddle, B., 'Demographic dynamics and per capita environmental impact: Using panel regressions and household decompositions to examine population and transport', *Population and Environment*, Vol. 26, No 1, 2004, pp. 23–39.

Liddle, B. and Lung, S., 'Age-structure, urbanization, and climate change in developed countries: revisiting stirpat for disaggregated population and consumption-related environmental impacts', *Population and Environment*, Vol. 31, No 5, 2010, pp. 317–343.

Lin, C.-Y. C. and Liscow, Z. D., 'Endogeneity in the environmental kuznets curve: an instrumental variables approach', *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, Vol. 95, No 2, 2012, pp. 268–274.

Lin, S., Zhao, D. and Marinova, D., 'Analysis of the environmental impact of china based on stirpat model', *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, Vol. 29, No 6, 2009, pp. 341–347.

Lippe, M., 'Corruption and environment at the local level', *Transparency International Work-ing Paper. Retrieved March*, Vol. 31, 1999, p. 2014.

Lisciandra, M. and Migliardo, C., 'An empirical study of the impact of corruption on environmental performance: Evidence from panel data', *Environmental and Resource Economics*, Vol. 68, No 2, 2017, pp. 297–318.

Liu, K., Cedres, L. B., Stamler, J., Dyer, A., Stamler, R., Nanas, S., Berkson, D. M., Paul, O., Lepper, M., Lindberg, H. A. et al., 'Relationship of education to major risk factors and death from coronary heart disease, cardiovascular diseases and all causes, findings of three chicago epidemiologic studies.', *Circulation*, Vol. 66, No 6, 1982, pp. 1308–1314.

Lopez, R. and Mitra, S., 'Corruption, pollution, and the kuznets environment curve', *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, Vol. 40, No 2, 2000, pp. 137–150.

Lorentzen, P., McMillan, J. and Wacziarg, R., 'Death and development', *Journal of economic growth*, Vol. 13, No 2, 2008, pp. 81–124.

Lynn, R. and Vanhanen, T., 'Iq and the wealth of nations', Greenwood Publishing Group, 2002.

Mackenbach, J. P., 'Health care expenditure and mortality from amenable conditions in the european community', *Health policy*, Vol. 19, No 2-3, 1991, pp. 245–255.

Madlener, R. and Sunak, Y., 'Impacts of urbanization on urban structures and energy demand: What can we learn for urban energy planning and urbanization management?', *Sustainable Cities and Society*, Vol. 1, No 1, 2011, pp. 45–53.

Mankiw, N. G., Romer, D. and Weil, D. N., 'A contribution to the empirics of economic growth', *The quarterly journal of economics*, Vol. 107, No 2, 1992, pp. 407–437.

Marshall, M. G., Jaggers, K. and Gurr, T. R., 'Polity iv project: Political regime characteristics and transitions, 1800-2004 dataset users', *Manual, Center for Global Policy School of Public Policy, George Mason University*, 2004.

Marsiglio, S., Ansuategi, A. and Gallastegui, M. C., 'The environmental kuznets curve and the structural change hypothesis', *Environmental and resource economics*, Vol. 63, No 2, 2016, pp. 265–288.

Martínez-Zarzoso, I., Bengochea-Morancho, A. and Morales-Lage, R., 'The impact of population on co 2 emissions: evidence from european countries', *Environmental and Resource Economics*, Vol. 38, No 4, 2007, pp. 497–512.

Martínez-Zarzoso, I. and Maruotti, A., 'The impact of urbanization on co2 emissions: evidence from developing countries', *Ecological Economics*, Vol. 70, No 7, 2011, pp. 1344–1353.

Matsuyama, K., 'Structural change in an interdependent world: A global view of manufacturing decline', *Journal of the European Economic Association*, Vol. 7, No 2-3, 2009, pp. 478–486.

Mauro, P., 'Corruption and growth', *The quarterly journal of economics*, Vol. 110, No 3, 1995, pp. 681–712.

McDaniel, C., 'Average tax rates on consumption, investment, labor and capital in the oecd 1950-2003', *Manuscript, Arizona State University*, 2007, pp. 1960–2004.

McKenzie, J. F., Neiger, B. L. and Thackeray, R., 'Planning, implementing, and evaluating health promotion programs: A primer', Pearson/Benjamin Cummings San Francisco, 2005.

McNeill, W. H., 'Plagues and peoples', Anchor, 1998.

Mendoza, E. G., Razin, A. and Tesar, L. L., 'Effective tax rates in macroeconomics: Crosscountry estimates of tax rates on factor incomes and consumption', *Journal of Monetary Economics*, Vol. 34, No 3, 1994, pp. 297–323.

Milanovic, B., 'All the ginis dataset', *The World Bank*, 2013.

Mirowsky, J. and Ross, C. E., 'Education, personal control, lifestyle and health: A human capital hypothesis', *Research on aging*, Vol. 20, No 4, 1998, pp. 415–449.

Mulligan, C. B., Gil, R. and Sala-i Martin, X., 'Do democracies have different public policies than nondemocracies?', *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, Vol. 18, No 1, 2004, pp. 51–74.

Murray, C. J., Lopez, A. D., Organization, W. H. et al., 'The global burden of disease: a comprehensive assessment of mortality and disability from diseases, injuries, and risk factors in 1990 and projected to 2020: summary', 1996.

Nejat, P., Jomehzadeh, F., Taheri, M. M., Gohari, M. and Majid, M. Z. A., 'A global review of energy consumption, co2 emissions and policy in the residential sector (with an overview of the top ten co2 emitting countries)', *Renewable and sustainable energy reviews*, Vol. 43, 2015, pp. 843–862.

Nelson, D. I., Concha-Barrientos, M., Driscoll, T., Steenland, K., Fingerhut, M., Punnett, L., Prüss-Üstün, A., Leigh, J. and Corvalan, C., 'The global burden of selected occupational diseases and injury risks: Methodology and summary', *American journal of industrial medicine*, Vol. 48, No 6, 2005, pp. 400–418.

Nelson, R. R., 'Research on productivity growth and productivity differences: dead ends and new departures', *Journal of Economic Literature*, Vol. 19, No 3, 1981, pp. 1029–1064.

Ngai, L. R. and Pissarides, C. A., 'Structural change in a multisector model of growth', *American economic review*, Vol. 97, No 1, 2007, pp. 429–443.

Nickell, S., Redding, S. and Swaffield, J., 'The uneven pace of deindustrialisation in the oecd', *The World Economy*, Vol. 31, No 9, 2008, pp. 1154–1184.

Nixon, J. and Ulmann, P., 'The relationship between health care expenditure and health outcomes', *The European Journal of Health Economics*, Vol. 7, No 1, 2006, pp. 7–18.

OECD, 'Structural adjustment and economic performance', Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, 1987. ISBN 9264130063.

OECD, 'The Economic Consequences of Outdoor Air Pollution', Tech. rep., 2016.

Ollo-López, A. and Aramendía-Muneta, M. E., 'Ict impact on competitiveness, innovation and environment', *Telematics and Informatics*, Vol. 29, No 2, 2012, pp. 204–210.

Ozcan, B., 'The nexus between carbon emissions, energy consumption and economic growth in middle east countries: a panel data analysis', *Energy Policy*, Vol. 62, 2013, pp. 1138–1147.

Pampel, F. C., Krueger, P. M. and Denney, J. T., 'Socioeconomic disparities in health behaviors', *Annual review of sociology*, Vol. 36, 2010, pp. 349–370.

Panayotou, T., 'Economic growth and the environment', *The environment in anthropology*, 2016, pp. 140–148.

Park, R. M., Bailer, A. J., Stayner, L. T., Halperin, W. and Gilbert, S. J., 'An alternate characterization of hazard in occupational epidemiology: Years of life lost per years worked', *American journal of industrial medicine*, Vol. 42, No 1, 2002, pp. 1–10.

Pellegrini, L. and Gerlagh, R., 'Corruption, democracy, and environmental policy: an empirical contribution to the debate', *The Journal of Environment & Development*, Vol. 15, No 3, 2006, pp. 332–354.

Persson, T. and Tabellini, G., 'The politics of 1992: Fiscal policy and european integration', *The review of economic studies*, Vol. 59, No 4, 1992, pp. 689–701.

Pierce, J. R. and Schott, P. K., 'The surprisingly swift decline of us manufacturing employment', *The American Economic Review*, Vol. 106, No 7, 2016, pp. 1632–1662.

Pissarides, C. A., 'Loss of skill during unemployment and the persistence of employment shocks', *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, Vol. 107, No 4, 1992, pp. 1371–1391.

Piva, M. and Vivarelli, M., 'Technological change and employment: Were ricardo and marx right?', 2017.

Post, J. M. and Robins, R. S., 'When illness strikes the leader: The dilemma of the captive king', Yale University Press, 1995.

Potrafke, N., 'Intelligence and corruption', *Economics Letters*, Vol. 114, No 1, 2012, pp. 109–112.

Preston, S. H., 'The changing relation between mortality and level of economic development', *Population studies*, Vol. 29, No 2, 1975, pp. 231–248.

Prince, M., 'The global burden of mental disorder in oxford textbook of community mental health', Oxford University Press, 2011.

Profeta, P., Puglisi, R. and Scabrosetti, S., 'Does democracy affect taxation and government spending? evidence from developing countries', *Journal of Comparative Economics*, Vol. 41, No 3, 2013, pp. 684 – 718.

Punnett, L., Prüss-Ütün, A., Nelson, D. I., Fingerhut, M. A., Leigh, J., Tak, S. and Phillips, S., 'Estimating the global burden of low back pain attributable to combined occupational exposures', *American journal of industrial medicine*, Vol. 48, No 6, 2005, pp. 459–469.

Raudenbush, S. W. and Bryk, A. S., 'Hierarchical linear models: Applications and data analysis methods', Vol. 1. Sage, 2002.

Reddy, K. S. and Yusuf, S., 'Emerging epidemic of cardiovascular disease in developing countries', *Circulation*, Vol. 97, No 6, 1998, pp. 596–601.

Rindermann, H. and Thompson, J., 'Cognitive capitalism the effect of cognitive ability on wealth, as mediated through scientific achievement and economic freedom', *Psychological Science*, 2011.

Rodrik, D., 'What's so special about china's exports?', *China & World Economy*, Vol. 14, No 5, 2006a, pp. 1–19.

Rodrik, D., 'What's so special about china's exports?', *China & World Economy*, Vol. 14, No 5, 2006b, pp. 1–19. ISSN 1749-124X. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-124X. 2006.00038.x.

Romm, J., 'The internet and the new energy economy', *Resources, conservation and recycling*, Vol. 36, No 3, 2002, pp. 197–210.

Ross, C. E. and Wu, C.-I., 'The links between education and health', *American sociological review*, 1995, pp. 719–745.

Rousseeuw, P. and Yohai, V., 'Robust regression by means of s-estimators'. In 'Robust and nonlinear time series analysis', Springer, 1984. pp. 256–272.

Rousseeuw, P. J. and Leroy, A. M., 'Robust regression and outlier detection', Vol. 589. John wiley & sons, 2005.

Rowthorn, R. and Ramaswamy, R., 'Growth, trade, and deindustrialization', *IMF Staff papers*, Vol. 46, No 1, 1999, pp. 18–41.

Rumberger, R. W., 'High technology and job loss', *Technology in society*, Vol. 6, No 4, 1984, pp. 263–284.

Samet, J. M., Dominici, F., Curriero, F. C., Coursac, I. and Zeger, S. L., 'Fine particulate air pollution and mortality in 20 us cities, 1987–1994', *New England journal of medicine*, Vol. 343, No 24, 2000, pp. 1742–1749.

Sari, R. and Soytas, U., 'Are global warming and economic growth compatible? evidence from five opec countries?', *Applied Energy*, Vol. 86, No 10, 2009, pp. 1887–1893.

Saviotti, P. P. and Frenken, K., 'Export variety and the economic performance of countries', *Journal of Evolutionary Economics*, Vol. 18, No 2, 2008, pp. 201–218.

Scarpetta, S., 'Assessing the role of labour market policies and institutional settings on unemployment: A cross-country study', *OECD Economic studies*, Vol. 26, No 1, 1996, pp. 43–98.

Seshamani, M. and Gray, A., 'Ageing and health-care expenditure: the red herring argument revisited', *Health economics*, Vol. 13, No 4, 2004, pp. 303–314.

Shafiei, S. and Salim, R. A., 'Non-renewable and renewable energy consumption and co2 emissions in oecd countries: A comparative analysis', *Energy Policy*, Vol. 66, 2014, pp. 547–556.

Shafik, N., 'Economic development and environmental quality: an econometric analysis', *Oxford economic papers*, 1994, pp. 757–773.

Sharma, S. S., 'Determinants of carbon dioxide emissions: empirical evidence from 69 countries', *Applied Energy*, Vol. 88, No 1, 2011, pp. 376–382.

Sherbinin, A. d., Carr, D., Cassels, S. and Jiang, L., 'Population and environment', *Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour.*, Vol. 32, 2007, pp. 345–373.

Sherman, I. W., 'Twelve diseases that changed our world', 614.4 S5. ASM Press Washington DC, 2007.

Smith, J. P., 'Healthy bodies and thick wallets: the dual relation between health and economic status', *Journal of Economic perspectives*, Vol. 13, No 2, 1999, pp. 145–166.

Solow, R. M., 'Technical change and the aggregate production function', *The review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 39, No 3, 1957, pp. 312–320.

Soytas, U. and Sari, R., 'Energy consumption, economic growth, and carbon emissions: challenges faced by an eu candidate member', *Ecological economics*, Vol. 68, No 6, 2009, pp. 1667–1675.

Soytas, U., Sari, R. and Ewing, B. T., 'Energy consumption, income, and carbon emissions in the united states', *Ecological Economics*, Vol. 62, No 3-4, 2007, pp. 482–489.

Steckel, R. H., 'Industrialization and health in historical perspective'. 1999.

Steckel, R. H. and Rose, J. C., 'The backbone of history: health and nutrition in the western hemisphere', Vol. 2. Cambridge University Press, 2002.

Steenland, K., Burnett, C., Lalich, N., Ward, E. and Hurrell, J., 'Dying for work: the magnitude of us mortality from selected causes of death associated with occupation', *American journal of industrial medicine*, Vol. 43, No 5, 2003, pp. 461–482.

Stern, D. I., 'Explaining changes in global sulfur emissions: an econometric decomposition approach', *Ecological Economics*, Vol. 42, No 1-2, 2002, pp. 201–220.

Stern, D. I., 'The rise and fall of the environmental kuznets curve', *World development*, Vol. 32, No 8, 2004, pp. 1419–1439.

Stock, J. and Yogo, M. *Testing for Weak Instruments in Linear IV Regression*, Cambridge University Press, New York, 2005. pp. 80-108. URL http://www.economics.harvard.edu/faculty/stock/files/TestingWeakInstr_Stock%2BYogo.pdf.

Szreter, S., 'Industrialization and health', *British Medical Bulletin*, Vol. 69, No 1, 2004, pp. 75–86.

Tacchella, A., Cristelli, M., Caldarelli, G., Gabrielli, A. and Pietronero, L., 'A new metrics for countries' fitness and products' complexity', *Scientific reports*, Vol. 2, 2012, p. 723.

Tacchella, A., Cristelli, M., Caldarelli, G., Gabrielli, A. and Pietronero, L., 'Economic complexity: conceptual grounding of a new metrics for global competitiveness', *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, Vol. 37, No 8, 2013, pp. 1683–1691.

Tanzi, V. and Davoodi, H., 'Corruption, public investment, and growth'. In 'The Welfare State, Public Investment, and Growth', Springer, 1998. pp. 41–60.

Tanzi, V. and Davoodi, H. R., 'Corruption, growth, and public finances', 2000-2182. International Monetary Fund, 2000.

Taylor, R. B., 'White coat tales: Medicine's heroes, heritage, and misadventures', Springer, 2016.

Torras, M. and Boyce, J. K., 'Income, inequality, and pollution: a reassessment of the environmental kuznets curve', *Ecological economics*, Vol. 25, No 2, 1998, pp. 147–160.

Tsurumi, T. and Managi, S., 'Decomposition of the environmental kuznets curve: scale, technique, and composition effects', *Environmental Economics and Policy Studies*, Vol. 11, No 1-4, 2010, pp. 19–36.

Visser, J., 'The institutional characteristics of trade unions, wage setting, state intervention and social pacts. ictwss database, version 5.1. amsterdam institute for advanced labour studies, amsterdam', *Amsterdam: Amsterdam Institute for Advanced Labour Studies*, 2015.

Vlassoff, C., 'Gender differences in determinants and consequences of health and illness', *Journal of health, population, and nutrition*, Vol. 25, No 1, 2007, p. 47.

Wang, C., Chen, J. and Zou, J., 'Decomposition of energy-related co2 emission in china: 1957–2000', *Energy*, Vol. 30, No 1, 2005, pp. 73–83.

Wang, S., Fang, C., Guan, X., Pang, B. and Ma, H., 'Urbanisation, energy consumption, and carbon dioxide emissions in china: a panel data analysis of china's provinces', *Applied Energy*, Vol. 136, 2014, pp. 738–749.

Wang, S., Zhou, D., Zhou, P. and Wang, Q., 'Co2 emissions, energy consumption and economic growth in china: A panel data analysis', *Energy Policy*, Vol. 39, No 9, 2011, pp. 4870–4875.

Weede, E. and Kämpf, S., 'The impact of intelligence and institutional improvements on economic growth', *Kyklos*, Vol. 55, No 3, 2002, pp. 361–380.

Welsch, H., 'Corruption, growth, and the environment: a cross-country analysis', *Environment and Development Economics*, Vol. 9, No 5, 2004, pp. 663–693.

Welzel, C., 'Freedom rising', Cambridge University Press, 2013.

Werblow, A., Felder, S. and Zweifel, P., 'Population ageing and health care expenditure: a school of 'red herrings'?', *Health economics*, Vol. 16, No 10, 2007, pp. 1109–1126.

Whitlock, E. P., Orleans, C. T., Pender, N. and Allan, J., 'Evaluating primary care behavioral counseling interventions: an evidence-based approach', *American journal of preventive medicine*, Vol. 22, No 4, 2002, pp. 267–284.

WHO, 'Review of evidence on health aspects of air pollution: Revihaap project: final technical report'. 2013.

WHO, 'Burden of disease from Ambient Air Pollution for 2012', Tech. rep., 2014.

WHO, 'Expert Consultation : Available evidence for the future update of the WHO Global Air Quality Guidelines (AQGs)', Tech. Rep. October, 2015.

WHO, 'Who global urban ambient air pollution database', Geneva, 2016.

Wolfe, B. L., 'Health status and medical expenditures: is there a link?', *Social Science & Medicine*, Vol. 22, No 10, 1986, pp. 993–999.

Woodward, M., Shewry, M. C., Smith, W. C. S. and Tunstall-Pedoe, H., 'Social status and coronary heart disease: results from the scottish heart health study', *Preventive medicine*, Vol. 21, No 1, 1992, pp. 136–148.

Wyplosz, C., 'Do we know how low inflation should be?', 2001a.

Wyplosz, C., 'Do we know how low should inflation be', *Why price stability*, 2001b, pp. 15–33.

Wyplosz, C., 'Exchange rate regimes: Some lessons from postwar europe', 2001c.

Wyplosz, C., 'Financial restraints and liberalization in postwar europe', *Financial Liberalization: How Far, How Fast*, 2001d, pp. 125–158.

Wyplosz, C., 'The impact of emu on europe and the developing countries', Oxford University Press, 2001e.

Wyplosz, C., 'Regional arrangements: Some lessons from postwar europe', In 'conference on The Role of Regional Financial Arrangements in Crisis Prevention and Management: The Experience of Europe, Asia, Africa, and Latin America, organized by the Forum on Debt and Development (FONDAD) in Prague on', pp. 21–22.

Wyplosz, C., 'Fiscal discipline in emu: rules or institutions?', In 'April 16, 2002 meeting of the Group of Economic Analysis of the European Commission', .

Wyplosz, C., 'How risky is financial liberalization in the developing countries?', *Comparative Economic Studies*, Vol. 44, No 2-3, 2002b, pp. 1–26.

Wyplosz, C., 'Regional exchange rate arrangements: Lessons from europe for east asia', *Monetary and financial integration in East Asia: The way ahead*, Vol. 2, 2004, pp. 241–284.

Wyplosz, C., 'Fiscal policy: institutions versus rules', *National Institute Economic Review*, Vol. 191, No 1, 2005, pp. 64–78.

Wyplosz, C., 'European monetary union: the dark sides of a major success', *Economic policy*, Vol. 21, No 46, 2006, pp. 208–261.

Wyplosz, C. et al., 'A monetary union in asia? some european lessons', In 'RBA Annual Conference', p. 08.

Wyplosz, C. et al., 'Fiscal policy: institutions vs. rules', *Stabiliseringspolitik i valutaunionen*, 2002.

Xu, B. and Lin, B., 'How industrialization and urbanization process impacts on co2 emissions in china: evidence from nonparametric additive regression models', *Energy Economics*, Vol. 48, 2015, pp. 188–202.

Yohai, V. J., 'High breakdown-point and high efficiency robust estimates for regression', *The Annals of Statistics*, 1987, pp. 642–656.

York, R., Rosa, E. A. and Dietz, T., 'Stirpat, ipat and impact: analytic tools for unpacking the driving forces of environmental impacts', *Ecological economics*, Vol. 46, No 3, 2003, pp. 351–365.

Yusuf, S., Reddy, S., Ôunpuu, S. and Anand, S., 'Global burden of cardiovascular diseases: part i: general considerations, the epidemiologic transition, risk factors, and impact of urbanization', *Circulation*, Vol. 104, No 22, 2001, pp. 2746–2753.

Zahm, S. H. and Blair, A., 'Occupational cancer among women: where have we been and where are we going?', *American journal of industrial medicine*, Vol. 44, No 6, 2003, pp. 565–575.

Zhang, C. and Lin, Y., 'Panel estimation for urbanization, energy consumption and co2 emissions: A regional analysis in china', *Energy Policy*, Vol. 49, 2012, pp. 488–498.

Zhang, X.-P. and Cheng, X.-M., 'Energy consumption, carbon emissions, and economic growth in china', *Ecological Economics*, Vol. 68, No 10, 2009, pp. 2706–2712.

Zhou, W., Zhu, B., Chen, D., Griffy-Brown, C., Ma, Y. and Fei, W., 'Energy consumption patterns in the process of china's urbanization', *Population and Environment*, Vol. 33, No 2-3, 2012, pp. 202–220.

Zodrow, G. R. and Mieszkowski, P., 'Pigou, tiebout, property taxation, and the underprovision of local public goods', *Journal of urban economics*, Vol. 19, No 3, 1986, pp. 356–370.

Zweifel, P., Felder, S. and Meiers, M., 'Ageing of population and health care expenditure: a red herring?', *Health economics*, Vol. 8, No 6, 1999, pp. 485–496.

List of figures

Figure	1.	Maximum Spanning Tree of the country-disease bipartite network	7
Figure	2.	Matrix representation of the links between countries and diseases	8
Figure	3.	The proximity matrix and the resulting disease space	10
Figure	4.	Localisation of diseases for different income-regions of the world	16
Figure	5.	Health complexity index across the world	17
Figure	6.	Evolution of the health complexity index over time	17
Figure	7.	Changes in the health complexity index across the world	18
Figure	8.	DICI against DCI	23

List of tables

Table 1	Variable definitions, sources and summary statistics	13
Table 2	. The effect of economic development on health complexity: Fixed-effects OLS	15
Table 3	. The effect of economic development on health complexity: baseline results	19
Table 4	. The effect of economic development on health complexity: AHCI	20
Table 5	. The effect of economic development on health complexity: robustness checks	21
Table 6	List of the five diseases with the highest and lowest DCI values during the period of 1990-2016	22
Table 7	List of the five diseases with the highest and lowest DICI values during the period of 1990-2016	24
Table 8	Disease-income complexity index and the complexity of diseases	24
Table 9 Table 1	 List of countries List of diseases and injuries 	45 46

Annexes

Annex 1. List of countries

Country id	Country name	Region	World Bank group
6	China	East Asia	World Bank Upper Middle Income
7	North Korea	East Asia	World Bank Low Income
8	Taiwan	East Asia	World Bank High Income
10	Cambodia	Southeast Asia	World Bank Lower Middle Income
11	Indonesia	Southeast Asia	World Bank Lower Middle Income
12	LdUS Malaysia	Southeast Asia	World Bank Upper Middle Income
14	Maldives	Southeast Asia	World Bank Upper Middle Income
15	Myanmar	Southeast Asia	World Bank Lower Middle Income
16	Philippines	Southeast Asia	World Bank Lower Middle Income
17	Sri Lanka	Southeast Asia	World Bank Lower Middle Income
18	Thailand	Southeast Asia	World Bank Upper Middle Income
19	limor-Leste Vietnam	Southeast Asia	World Bank Lower Middle Income
20	Fili	Oceania	World Bank Lipper Middle Income
23	Kiribati	Oceania	World Bank Lower Middle Income
24	Marshall Islands	Oceania	World Bank Upper Middle Income
25	Federated States of Micronesia	Oceania	World Bank Lower Middle Income
26	Papua New Guinea	Oceania	World Bank Lower Middle Income
27	Solomon Islands	Oceania	World Bank Lower Middle Income
20	Tonga	Oceania	World Bank Upper Middle Income
30	Vanuatu	Oceania	World Bank Lower Middle Income
33	Armenia	Central Asia	World Bank Lower Middle Income
34	Azerbaijan	Central Asia	World Bank Upper Middle Income
35	Georgia	Central Asia	World Bank Lower Middle Income
30	Kazakristan	Central Asia	World Bank Upper Middle Income
38	Mongolia	Central Asia	World Bank Lower Middle Income
39	Tajikistan	Central Asia	World Bank Lower Middle Income
40	Turkmenistan	Central Asia	World Bank Upper Middle Income
41	Uzbekistan	Central Asia	World Bank Lower Middle Income
45	AIDdNIa Bosnia and Herzegovina	Central Europe	World Bank Upper Middle Income
45	Bulgaria	Central Europe	World Bank Upper Middle Income
46	Croatia	Central Europe	World Bank Upper Middle Income
47	Czech Republic	Central Europe	World Bank High Income
48	Hungary	Central Europe	World Bank High Income
49	Macedonia	Central Europe	World Bank Upper Middle Income
50 51	Poland	Central Europe	World Bank High Income
52	Romania	Central Europe	World Bank Upper Middle Income
53	Serbia	Central Europe	World Bank Upper Middle Income
54	Slovakia	Central Europe	World Bank High Income
55	Slovenia	Central Europe	World Bank High Income
5/	Belarus	Eastern Europe	World Bank Upper Middle Income
59	Latvia	Fastern Europe	World Bank High Income
60	Lithuania	Eastern Europe	World Bank High Income
61	Moldova	Eastern Europe	World Bank Lower Middle Income
62	Russian Federation	Eastern Europe	World Bank Upper Middle Income
66	Brunei	High-income Asia Pacific	World Bank High Income
67	Japan	High-income Asia Pacific	World Bank High Income
68	South Korea	High-income Asia Pacific	World Bank High Income
69	Singapore	High-income Asia Pacific	World Bank High Income
/1	Australia New Zealand	Australasia	World Bank High Income
74	Andorra	Western Europe	World Bank High Income
75	Austria	Western Europe	World Bank High Income
76	Belgium	Western Europe	World Bank High Income
79	Cyprus Denmark	Western Europe	World Bank High Income
79	Finland	Western Europe	World Bank High Income
80	France	Western Europe	World Bank High Income
81	Germany	Western Europe	World Bank High Income
82	Greece	Western Europe	World Bank High Income
83	Iceland	Western Europe	World Bank High Income World Bank High Income
85	Israel	Western Europe	World Bank High Income
86	Italy	Western Europe	World Bank High Income
87	Luxembourg	Western Europe	World Bank High Income
88	Maita	Western Europe	World Bank High Income
90	Norway	Western Europe	World Bank High Income
91	Portugal	Western Europe	World Bank High Income
92	Spain	Western Europe	World Bank High Income
93	Sweden	Western Europe	World Bank High Income
94	Switzerland	Western Europe	World Bank High Income
97	Argentina	Southern Latin America	World Bank Upper Middle Income
98	Chile	Southern Latin America	World Bank High Income
99	Uruguay	Southern Latin America	World Bank High Income
101	Canada	High-income North America	World Bank High Income
102	United States	High-income North America	World Bank High Income
105	Anuyua and Barbuda The Bahamas	Caribbean	World Bank High Income
107	Barbados	Caribbean	World Bank High Income
108	Belize	Caribbean	World Bank Upper Middle Income
109	Cuba	Caribbean	World Bank Upper Middle Income
110	Dominican Republic	Caribbean	World Bank Upper Middle Income
112	Grenada	Caribbean	World Bank Upper Middle Income
113	Guyana	Caribbean	World Bank Upper Middle Income
114	Haiti	Caribbean	World Bank Low Income
115	Saint Lucia	Caribbean	World Bank Upper Middle Income
117	Saint Vincent and the Grenadines	Caribbean	World Bank Upper Middle Income
118	Suriname	Caribbean	World Bank Upper Middle Income
119	Trinidad and Tobago	Caribbean	World Bank High Income
121	Bolivia	Andean Latin America	World Bank Lower Middle Income
123	Peru	Andean Latin America	World Bank Upper Middle Income
125	Colombia	Central Latin America	World Bank Upper Middle Income
126	Costa Rica	Central Latin America	World Bank Upper Middle Income
127	El Salvador Guatemala	Central Latin America	World Bank Lower Middle Income
120	Honduras	Central Latin America	World Bank Lower Middle Income
130	Mexico	Central Latin America	World Bank Upper Middle Income

Table 9: List of countries

Country id	Country name	Continuation of Table 10	World Bank group
121	Country name	Central Latin America	World Bank Jower Middle Treeme
131	Nicaragua	Central Latin America	world Bank Lower Middle Income
132	Panama	Central Latin America	World Bank Upper Middle Income
133	Venezuela	Central Latin America	World Bank Upper Middle Income
135	Brazil	Tropical Latin America	World Bank Upper Middle Income
136	Paraguay	Tropical Latin America	World Bank Upper Middle Income
139	Algeria	North Africa and Middle East	World Bank Upper Middle Income
140	Babrain	North Africa and Middle East	World Bank High Income
141	Danian	North Africa and Middle East	World Dank High Income
141	Egypt	North Africa and Middle East	World Bark Lower Middle Income
142	Iran	North Africa and Middle East	World Bank Upper Middle Income
143	Iraq	North Africa and Middle East	World Bank Upper Middle Income
144	Jordan	North Africa and Middle East	World Bank Lower Middle Income
145	Kuwait	North Africa and Middle Fast	World Bank High Income
146	Lebanon	North Africa and Middle East	World Bank Upper Middle Income
147	Libya	North Africa and Middle East	World Bank Upper Middle Income
140	Libya	North Africa and Middle East	World Dark Opper Middle Income
148	Morocco	North Africa and Middle East	world Bank Lower Middle Income
149	Palestine	North Africa and Middle East	World Bank Lower Middle Income
150	Oman	North Africa and Middle East	World Bank High Income
151	Qatar	North Africa and Middle East	World Bank High Income
152	Saudi Arabia	North Africa and Middle East	World Bank High Income
153	Svria	North Africa and Middle East	World Bank Lower Middle Income
154	Tunicia	North Africa and Middle East	World Bank Lower Middle Income
155	Turkey	North Africa and Middle East	World Dark Lower Middle Income
155	Turkey	North Africa and Middle East	world Bark Opper Middle Income
156	United Arab Emirates	North Africa and Middle East	World Bank High Income
157	Yemen	North Africa and Middle East	World Bank Lower Middle Income
160	Afghanistan	North Africa and Middle East	World Bank Low Income
161	Bangladesh	South Asia	World Bank Lower Middle Income
162	Bhutan	South Asia	World Bank Lower Middle Income
163	India	South Asia	World Bank Lower Middle Income
164	Nepal	South Asia	World Bank Low Income
165	Delvieten	Couth Asia	World Dank LOW Income
100	rakistali	South Asid	World Dark Lower Middle Income
168	Angola	Central Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Lower Middle Income
169	Central African Republic	Central Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
170	Congo	Central Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Lower Middle Income
171	Democratic Republic of the Congo	Central Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
172	Equatorial Guinea	Central Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Upper Middle Income
172	Cabaa	Central Sub-Saliaran Africa	World Dark Upper Middle Income
1/3	Gabon	Central Sub-Saliaran Africa	world Bark Opper Middle Income
1/5	Burundi	Eastern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
176	Comoros	Eastern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
177	Djibouti	Eastern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Lower Middle Income
178	Eritrea	Eastern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
179	Ethiopia	Eastern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
180	Kenva	Eastern Sub-Sabaran Africa	World Bank Lower Middle Income
100	Madagagaga	Eastern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Dark Lower Fildule Income
101	Malaud	Eastern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Dark Low Income
182	Malawi	Eastern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
183	Mauritius	Southeast Asia	World Bank Upper Middle Income
184	Mozambique	Eastern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
185	Rwanda	Eastern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
186	Sevchelles	Southeast Asia	World Bank High Income
187	Somalia	Eastern Sub-Sabaran Africa	World Bank Low Income
100	Tanzania	Eastern Sub Scharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
109		Eastern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Dark Low Income
190	Uganua	Eastern Sub-Sanaran Arrica	World Bark Low Income
191	Zambia	Eastern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Lower Middle Income
193	Botswana	Southern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Upper Middle Income
194	Lesotho	Southern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Lower Middle Income
195	Namibia	Southern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Upper Middle Income
196	South Africa	Southern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Upper Middle Income
197	Swaziland	Southern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Lower Middle Income
108	Zimbabwe	Southern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
190	Denin	Western Cub Cabaran Africa	World Dank Low Income
200	Denini	western Sub-Sanaran Africa	world Dalik Low Income
201	Burkina Faso	western Sub-Sanaran Africa	world Bank Low Income
202	Cameroon	Western Sub-Saharan Africa	world Bank Lower Middle Income
203	Cape Verde	Western Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Lower Middle Income
204	Chad	Western Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
205	Cote d'Ivoire	Western Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Lower Middle Income
206	The Gambia	Western Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
207	Ghana	Western Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Lower Middle Income
208	Guinea	Western Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
200	Guined Risson	Western Cub Cabaran Africa	World Dank Low Income
209	Guinea-Bissau	western Sub-Saharan Africa	world Bank Low Income
210	Liberia	Western Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
211	Mali	Western Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
212	Mauritania	Western Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Lower Middle Income
213	Niger	Western Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
214	Nigeria	Western Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Lower Middle Income
214	Cas Tame and Drinsing	Western Cub Cohoren Africa	World Dank Lower Middle Income
215	Sau ionie and Principe	western Sub-Sanaran Africa	world Dalik Lower Middle Income
216	Senegal	western Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
217	Sierra Leone	Western Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
218	Тодо	Western Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
298	American Samoa	Oceania	World Bank Upper Middle Income
305	Bermuda	Caribbean	World Bank High Income
240	Croopland	High income North America	World Bank High Income
349	Greenidiu	Occupie North America	World Dark High Income
351	Guam	Uceania	world Bank High Income
376	Northern Mariana Islands	Oceania	World Bank High Income
385	Puerto Rico	Caribbean	World Bank High Income
422	Virgin Islands, U.S.	Caribbean	World Bank High Income
435	South Sudan	Eastern Sub-Saharan Africa	World Bank Low Income
522	Sudan	North Africa and Middle East	World Bank Lower Middle Income
J22	Juuan	North Africa and Phone Edst	wong bank Lower Migule Income
	Notes	Global Burden of Disease Study 2016	

Annex 2. List of diseases and injuries

Table	10:	List	of	diseases	and	injuries
-------	-----	------	----	----------	-----	----------

Disease id	Disease name	Parent dis-	Outline
		ease	
294	All causes	294	Total
295	Communicable, maternal, neonatal, and nutritional diseases	294	A
296	HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis	295	A.1
297	Tuberculosis	296	A.1.1
934	Drug-susceptible tuberculosis	297	A.1.1.1
946	Multidrug-resistant tuberculosis without extensive drug resistance	297	A.1.1.2
947	Extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis	297	A.1.1.3
954	Latent tuberculosis infection	297	A.1.1.4
298	HIV/AIDS	296	A.1.2
948	Drug-susceptible HIV/AIDS - Tuberculosis	298	A.1.2.1
949	Multidrug-resistant HIV/AIDS - Tuberculosis without extensive drug resistance	298	A.1.2.2
950	Extensively drug-resistant HIV/AIDS - Tuberculosis	298	A.1.2.3
300	HIV/AIDS resulting in other diseases	298	A.1.2.4

Disease id	Disease name		Parent dis-	Outline
301	Diarrhea, lower respiratory, and other commo	n infectious diseases	ease 295	A.2
302	Diarrheal diseases		301	A.2.1
318 319	Intestinal infectious diseases Typhoid fever		301 318	A.2.2 A.2.2.1
320	Paratyphoid fever		318	A.2.2.2
321	Lower respiratory infections		301	A.2.3
328 329	Upper respiratory infections Otitis media		301 301	A.2.4 A.2.5
332	Meningitis		301	A.2.6
333 334	Pneumococcal meningitis H influenzae type B meningitis		332 332	A.2.6.1 A.2.6.2
335	Meningococcal meningitis		332	A.2.6.3
337	Encephalitis		301	A.2.0.4 A.2.7
338	Diphtheria Whooping cough		301 301	A.2.8 A 2 9
340	Tetanus		301	A.2.10
341 342	Measles Varicella and herpes zoster		301 301	A.2.11 A.2.12
344	Neglected tropical diseases and malaria		295	A.3
346	Chagas disease		344	A.3.2
347 348	Leishmaniasis Visceral leishmaniasis		344 347	A.3.3 A.3.3.1
349	Cutaneous and mucocutaneous leishmaniasis		347	A.3.3.2
350	Schistosomiasis		344 344	A.3.4 A.3.5
352	Cysticercosis Cystic echinococcosis		344 344	A.3.6 A 3 7
354	Lymphatic filariasis		344	A.3.8
355 356	Onchocerciasis Trachoma		344 344	A.3.9 A.3.10
357	Dengue Vellow fever		344 344	A.3.11
359	Rabies		344	A.3.12 A.3.13
360 361	Intestinal nematode infections Ascariasis		344 360	A.3.14 A.3.14 1
362	Trichuriasis		360	A.3.14.2
363 364	Hookworm disease Food-borne trematodiases		360 344	A.3.14.3 A.3.15
405	Leprosy		344 344	A.3.16
935	Zika virus		344	A.3.18
936 365	Guinea worm disease Other neglected tropical diseases		344 344	A.3.19 A.3.20
366	Maternal disorders		295	A.4
368	Maternal sepsis and other maternal infections		366	A.4.1 A.4.2
369 370	Maternal hypertensive disorders Maternal obstructed labor and uterine runture		366 366	A.4.3 A.4.4
371	Maternal abortion, miscarriage, and ectopic p	regnancy	366	A.4.5
375 376	Indirect maternal deaths Late maternal deaths		366 366	A.4.6 A.4.7
741	Maternal deaths aggravated by HIV/AIDS		366	A.4.8
380	Neonatal disorders		295	A.5
381 382	Neonatal preterm birth complications Neonatal encephalopathy due to birth asphys	a and trauma	380 380	A.5.1 A.5.2
383	Neonatal sepsis and other neonatal infections		380	A.5.3
384 385	Hemolytic disease and other neonatal jaundic Other neonatal disorders	e	380 380	A.5.4 A.5.5
386 387	Nutritional deficiencies Protain-energy malnutrition		295 386	A.6
388	Iodine deficiency		386	A.6.2
389 390	Vitamin A deficiency Iron-deficiency anemia		386 386	A.6.3 A.6.4
391	Other nutritional deficiencies	nutritional diseases	386	A.6.5
393	Sexually transmitted diseases excluding HIV	i nuunuundi uisedses	295 392	A.7 A.7.1
394 395	Syphilis Chlamydial infection		393 393	A.7.1.1 A.7.1.2
396	Gonococcal infection		393	A.7.1.3
397 398	Genital herpes		393 393	A.7.1.4 A.7.1.5
399 400	Other sexually transmitted diseases		393 392	A.7.1.6
401	Acute hepatitis A		400	A.7.2.1
402 403	Hepatitis B Hepatitis C		400 400	A.7.2.2 A.7.2.3
404	Acute hepatitis E		400	A.7.2.4
409	Non-communicable diseases		294	B
410 444	Neoplasms Lip and oral cavity cancer		409 410	B.1 B.1.1
447	Nasopharynx cancer		410	B.1.2
411	Esophageal cancer		410	B.1.4
414 441	Stomach cancer Colon and rectum cancer		410 410	B.1.5 B.1.6
417	Liver cancer		410	B.1.7
418 419	Liver cancer due to hepatitis B Liver cancer due to hepatitis C		41/ 417	в.1.7.1 В.1.7.2
420	Liver cancer due to alcohol use		417	B.1.7.3
453	Gallbladder and biliary tract cancer		410	B.1.8
456 423	Pancreatic cancer Larvnx cancer		410 410	B.1.9 B.1.10
426	Tracheal, bronchus, and lung cancer		410	B.1.11
459 462	Malignant skin melanoma Non-melanoma skin cancer		410 410	в.1.12 В.1.13
849 850	Non-melanoma skin cancer (squamous-cell ca	nrcinoma)	462 462	B.1.13.1 B 1 13 2
429	Breast cancer	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	410	B.1.14
432 435	Cervical cancer Uterine cancer		410 410	B.1.15 B.1.16
465	Ovarian cancer		410	B.1.17
438 468	Testicular cancer		410 410	в.1.18 В.1.19
471 474	Kidney cancer Bladder cancer		410 410	B.1.20 B 1 21
477	Brain and nervous system cancer		410	B.1.22
480 483	Thyroid cancer Mesothelioma		410 410	В.1.23 В.1.24
484	Hodgkin lymphoma		410	B.1.25 B 1.26
486	Multiple myeloma		410	B.1.27
487	Leukemia		410	B.1.28

Disease id	Disease name	Parent dis-	Outline
Bibeabeila		ease	outime
845	Acute lymphoid leukemia	487	B.1.28.1
847	Acute myeloid leukemia	487	B.1.28.3
848	Chronic myeloid leukemia	487	B.1.28.4
943	Other leukemia	487	B.1.28.5 B 1 20
491	Cardiovascular diseases	409	B.2
492	Rheumatic heart disease	491	B.2.1
493	Cerebrovascular disease	491	B.2.3
495	Ischemic stroke	494	B.2.3.1
496	Hemorrhagic stroke	494	B.2.3.2
499	Cardiomyopathy and myocarditis	491	B.2.5
942	Myocarditis	499	B.2.5.1
938	Alconolic Cardiomyopathy Other cardiomyopathy	499	B.2.5.2 B.2.5.3
500	Atrial fibrillation and flutter	491	B.2.6
501	Aortic aneurysm Perinheral artery disease	491	B.2.7 B 2 8
503	Endocarditis	491	B.2.9
507	Other cardiovascular and circulatory diseases	491	B.2.10
509	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	508	B.3.1
510	Pneumoconiosis	508	B.3.2
511	Asbestosis	510	B.3.2.1 B.3.2.2
513	Coal workers pneumoconiosis	510	B.3.2.3
514	Other pneumoconiosis	510	B.3.2.4
516	Interstitial lung disease and pulmonary sarcoidosis	508	B.3.4
520	Other chronic respiratory diseases	508	B.3.5
522	Cirrhosis and other chronic liver diseases Cirrhosis and other chronic liver diseases due to hepatitis B	521	B.4.1
523	Cirrhosis and other chronic liver diseases due to hepatitis C	521	B.4.2
524 525	Cirrnosis and other chronic liver diseases due to alcohol use Cirrhosis and other chronic liver diseases due to other causes	521 521	в.4.3 В.4.4
526	Digestive diseases	409	B.5
527 528	Peptic ulcer disease Gastritis and duodenitis	526	B.5.1 B 5 2
529	Appendicitis	526	B.5.3
530	Paralytic ileus and intestinal obstruction	526	B.5.4
532	Inflammatory bowel disease	526	B.5.6
533	Vascular intestinal disorders	526	B.5.7
534	Galibladder and biliary diseases	526 526	B.5.8 B.5.9
541	Other digestive diseases	526	B.5.10
542	Neurological disorders	409	B.6 B.6 1
544	Parkinson disease	542	B.6.2
545	Epilepsy Multiple coloradia	542	B.6.3
554	Multiple scierosis Motor neuron disease	542	B.6.5
547	Migraine	542	B.6.6
548	Tension-type headache Other neurological disorders	542 542	B.6.7 B.6.8
558	Mental and substance use disorders	409	B.7
559	Schizophrenia	558	B.7.1
561	Drug use disorders	558	B.7.2 B.7.3
562	Opioid use disorders	561	B.7.3.1
563	Amphetamine use disorders	561	B.7.3.2 B.7.3.3
565	Cannabis use disorders	561	B.7.3.4
566	Other drug use disorders	561	B.7.3.5 B 7 4
568	Major depressive disorder	567	B.7.4.1
569 570	Dysthymia Bipolar disorder	567	B.7.4.2 B 7 5
571	Anxiety disorders	558	B.7.6
572	Eating disorders	558	B.7.7
573	Bulimia nervosa	572	B.7.7.2
575	Autistic spectrum disorders	558	B.7.8
576 577	Autism Asperger syndrome and other autistic spectrum disorders	575	в.7.8.1 В.7.8.2
578	Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder	558	B.7.9
579 582	Conduct disorder	558	B.7.10 B 7 11
585	Other mental and substance use disorders	558	B.7.12
586	Diabetes, urogenital, blood, and endocrine diseases	409	B.8 B.8 1
588	Acute glomerulonephritis	586	B.8.2
589	Chronic kidney disease	586	B.8.3
590 591	Chronic kidney disease due to diadetes mellitus Chronic kidney disease due to hypertension	589	B.8.3.2
592	Chronic kidney disease due to glomerulonephritis	589	B.8.3.3
593 594	Chronic kidney disease due to other causes Urinary diseases and male infertility	589 586	Б.8.3.4 В.8.4
595	Interstitial nephritis and urinary tract infections	594	B.8.4.1
596	Urolithiasis Benian prostatic hyperplacia	594	B.8.4.2
598	Male infertility	594	B.8.4.4
602	Other urinary diseases	594	B.8.4.5
603	Uterine fibroids	603	ы.ө.э B.8.5.1
605	Polycystic ovarian syndrome	603	B.8.5.2
606 607	Female infertility Endometriosis	603	В.8.5.3 В.8.5.4
608	Genital prolapse	603	B.8.5.5
609 612	Premenstrual syndrome Other gynecological diseases	603	B.8.5.6 B 8 5 7
613	Hemoglobinopathies and hemolytic anemias	586	B.8.6
614	Thalassemias	613	B.8.6.1
615	Sickle cell disorders	613	B.8.6.3
838	Sickle cell trait	613	B.8.6.4
616 839	שטע מפווכופחכא G6PD trait	613	в.8.6.5 В.8.6.6
618	Other hemoglobinopathies and hemolytic anemias	613	B.8.6.7
619 626	Endocrine, metabolic, blood, and immune disorders	586 409	B.8.7 B.9
627	Rheumatoid arthritis	626	B.9.1
628	Osteoarthritis	626	B.9.2
629	Low back and neck pain Low back pain	629	в.9.3 В.9.3.1
631	Neck pain	629	B.9.3.2

Constant Constant	Disease id	Continuation of Table 10	Parant dia	Outline
637 Out 626 B.9.4 649 Other muculasketal disorders 626 B.9.5 641 Other muculasketal disorders 626 B.9.5 642 Neural tube defects 641 B.10.11 643 Congenial interationalities 641 B.10.11 644 Congenial interationalities 641 B.10.11 645 Down syndrome 641 B.10.14 646 Turner syndrome 641 B.10.14 646 Dure congenial informatilies 641 B.10.14 646 Dure congenial informatilies 641 B.10.19 645 Dure congenial informatilies 641 B.10.19 645 Dure congenial informatilies 641 B.10.21 645 Dure congenial informatilies 641 B.10.21 645 Dure congenial informatilies 641 B.10.21 645 Parabia B.00.21 B.10.21 645 Parabia B.10.21 B.10.211 645	Disease iu	Disease fidme	Parent uis-	Outline
639 Other maculaskeela disorders 626 8.10 640 Other maculaskeela disorders 649 8.10 641 Compatibility of others 641 8.10.1.1 642 Compatibility of others 641 8.10.1.1 643 Compatibility of others 641 8.10.1.1 644 Ordeal (1eth 8.10.1.1 8.10.1.1 645 Ordeal (1eth 8.10.1.1 8.10.1.1 646 Miner Syndrome 641 8.10.1.1 647 Kilneffers syndrome 641 8.10.1.1 648 Urogental accodestati anomalies 641 8.10.1.1 653 Sixin and subchaneous diseases 643 8.10.2.1 654 Demathis 643 8.10.2.1 655 Cellulity 8.10.2.1 8.10.2.1 656 Cellulity 8.10.2.1 8.10.2.1 657 Partity 6.33 8.10.2.1 658 Cellulity 8.10.2.1 8.10.2.1 659 Stabe	632	Gout	626	B 9 4
640 Other non-communicable diseases 400 8.10 641 Compenital birth defects 640 8.10.1 643 Compenital birth defects 641 8.10.1 644 Down syndiome 641 8.10.1 644 Down syndiome 641 8.10.1 644 Down syndiome 641 8.10.1 645 Down syndiome 641 8.10.1 646 Other dromosonal abnormalies 641 8.10.1 647 Mindefelar syndrome 641 8.10.1 648 Other dromosonal abnormalies 641 8.10.1 649 Digestive congenital anomalies 641 8.10.11 653 Digestive congenital anomalies 641 8.10.2.1 654 Dematalsin 653 8.10.2.3 655 Portalsis 653 8.10.2.3 654 Digestive congenital anomalies 653 8.10.2.3 655 Portalsis 653 8.10.2.3 656 Digestive congenital	639	Other musculoskeletal disorders	626	B.9.5
64.1 Congential birth defects 64.0 B.10.1 64.2 Neural habe defects 64.1 B.10.1.1 64.4 Overhead infer momalies 64.1 B.10.1.1 64.5 Derwindtorme 64.1 B.10.1.1 64.6 Turner syndrome 64.1 B.10.1.4 64.6 Turner syndrome 64.1 B.10.1.4 64.6 Turner syndrome 64.1 B.10.1.4 64.7 Congential inferiorme 64.1 B.10.1.4 64.8 Other congential infinit defects 64.1 B.10.2.1 65.6 Collubits 63.3 B.10.2.2 65.7 Proderma 63.3 B.10.2.3 65.8 Fungat sin divesses 63.3 B.10.2.3 65.9 Fungat sin divesses 63.3 B.10.2.3 65.9 Fungat sin divesses 63.3 B.10.2.3 66.0 Viral sin diseases 63.3 B.10.2.3 66.1 Viral sin diseases 63.3 B.10.2.10 66.4 Vira	640	Other non-communicable diseases	409	B.10
642 Neind to defects 641 B.10.1.1 643 Comparital hear horomalies 641 B.10.1.2 644 Down syndrome 641 B.10.1.2 645 Down syndrome 641 B.10.1.2 646 Turner syndrom 641 B.10.1.5 647 Kineleter syndrom 641 B.10.1.6 649 Congental musculostelat and manalies 641 B.10.1.1 650 Urogental congental anomalies 641 B.10.1.1 651 Urogental congental anomalies 641 B.10.2.1 652 Destructures diseases 640 B.10.2.1 653 B.10.2.1 B.10.2.1 B.10.2.1 654 Dematatis 653 B.10.2.1 655 Scables 653 B.10.2.1 656 Yang akin diseases 653 B.10.2.4 657 Proderma 653 B.10.2.4 658 Scables Giosase 653 B.10.2.4 659 Yang akin diseases <td>641</td> <td>Congenital birth defects</td> <td>640</td> <td>B.10.1</td>	641	Congenital birth defects	640	B.10.1
643 Congenital heart anomalies 641 B.10.1.2 645 Down syndrome 641 B.10.1.4 646 Turner syndrome 641 B.10.1.4 647 Kinefettr syndrome 641 B.10.1.6 648 Congenital anomalies 641 B.10.1.6 649 Congenital anomalies 641 B.10.1.6 650 Urogenital congenital anomalies 641 B.10.1.8 653 Digetive congenital anomalies 641 B.10.1.9 653 Digetive congenital anomalies 641 B.10.2.3 654 Dematifis 653 B.10.2.3 655 Polatina 653 B.10.2.3 656 Polatina 653 B.10.2.3 657 Polatina 653 B.10.2.3 658 Scalee 653 B.10.2.3 659 Scalee 653 B.10.2.3 650 Decubits uber 653 B.10.2.11 651 Anopetinal ensates 653 B.10.	642	Neural tube defects	641	B.10.1.1
644 Ondraid getts 641 B.10.1.3 645 Durner Syndrome 641 B.10.1.5 647 Klinefeter syndrome 641 B.10.1.7 648 Other chromissemia abnormalies 641 B.10.1.7 649 Curregistal congenital anomalies 641 B.10.1.7 651 Digetive congenital anomalies 641 B.10.1.7 652 Other congenital anomalies 641 B.10.1.10 653 Differio congenital anomalies 641 B.10.2.11 654 Demathis 653 B.10.2.11 655 Paoriasis 653 B.10.2.31 656 Scables 653 B.10.2.51 657 Calutiss 653 B.10.2.51 658 Scables 653 B.10.2.51 659 Fungal skin disease 653 B.10.2.51 654 Demathis abnormalities 653 B.10.2.51 655 Paoriasis B.10.2.11 B.10.2.12 656 All able able able able	643	Congenital heart anomalies	641	B.10.1.2
643 Down syndrome 641 B.10.1.6 6442 Kinerher syndrome 641 B.10.1.6 6443 Other chromosonia abnormalities 641 B.10.1.6 6443 Other chromosonia abnormalities 641 B.10.1.6 6443 Digetive congenital microbiostella and infinia anomalies 641 B.10.1.10 652 Other congenital microbiostella and infinia anomalies 641 B.10.1.11 653 Skin and subcutaneous diseases 663 B.10.2.2 655 Calulitis 653 B.10.2.2 656 Calulitis 653 B.10.2.4 657 Propriasis 653 B.10.2.4 658 Pungal skin diseases 653 B.10.2.4 659 Fungal skin diseases 653 B.10.2.4 654 Urticoris 653 B.10.2.4 654 Urticoris 653 B.10.2.10 654 Derivitian discases 653 B.10.2.10 655 Calulitis 653 B.10.2.13	644	Orofacial clefts	641	B.10.1.3
Edd Lumer syntancia P41 B.10.1.7 646 Other chromosoma abnormalities 641 B.10.1.7 647 Congenital insuculoskeitetal anomalies 641 B.10.1.7 648 Other chromosoma abnormalities 641 B.10.1.7 649 Dother chromosoma abnormalities 641 B.10.1.7 641 Dother compenital birth effects 641 B.10.1.7 652 Collities 653 B.10.2.1 654 Dermatitis 653 B.10.2.3 655 Polderma 653 B.10.2.3 656 Collities 653 B.10.2.3 657 Polderma 653 B.10.2.4 658 Scales 653 B.10.2.5 651 Anopecia merita 653 B.10.2.1 652 Decubirus uker 653 B.10.2.1 655 Decubirus uker 653 B.10.2.1 656 Decubirus uker 653 B.10.2.1 657 Decubirus uker 653	645	Down syndrome	641	B.10.1.4
code Collect-therysnobula Collect-therysnobula Collect-therysnobula code Collect-therysnobula Collect-therysnobula Collect-therysnobula code Urogenital congenital anomalies Collect-therysnobula Collect-therysnobula code Urogenital congenital anomalies Collect-therysnobula Collect-therysnobula code Skin and subcutaneous diseases Collect-therysnobula Collect-therysnobula code Skin and subcutaneous diseases Collect-therysnobula Collect-therysnobula code Scables Collect-therysnobula Collect-therysnobula Collect-therysnobula code Scables Collect-therysnobula Collect-therysnobula Collect-therysnobula code Algored areata Collect-therysnobula Collect-therysnobula	646	lurner syndrome	641	B.10.1.5
end Congential musculoxieled and inb anomalies 641 B.10.1.5 650 Urogential congential anomalies 641 B.10.1.5 651 Digestive congential anomalies 641 B.10.1.5 651 Digestive congential anomalies 641 B.10.1.7 654 Dermatits 641 B.10.2.3 655 Parnisis 653 B.10.2.3 656 Conjential diversion disease 653 B.10.2.3 657 Parnisis 653 B.10.2.3 658 Scales 653 B.10.2.3 659 Fungal skin disease 653 B.10.2.3 650 Uroting skin disease 653 B.10.2.4 651 Hangal skin disease 653 B.10.2.4 652 Alopecia areata 653 B.10.2.10 653 B.10.2.10 B.10.2.13 B.10.2.13 654 Urutits 653 B.10.2.13 655 Parnal skin disease 653 B.10.2.13 656 Uratits and	647	Char chromosomal abnormalities	641	B.10.1.0 B.10.1.7
bingential anomalies 641 B.10.19 651 Digetive congenital anomalies 641 B.10.111 652 Other congenital birth defects 641 B.10.111 653 Dispetive congenital birth defects 653 B.10.2.2 655 Paratelia 653 B.10.2.3 655 Paratelia 653 B.10.2.3 656 Celluluis 653 B.10.2.3 657 Prodema 653 B.10.2.6 658 Prodema 653 B.10.2.6 659 Funglishin diseases 653 B.10.2.10 654 Uricital anomalies 653 B.10.2.10 655 Decubitus ulter 653 B.10.2.10 656 Decubitus ulter 653 B.10.2.10 657 Decubitus ulter 653 B.10.2.10 658 Decubitus ulter 653 B.10.2.10 659 Decubitus ulter 653 B.10.2.10 650 Decubitus ulter 653 B.10.2.10	640	Conceptal musculockeletal and limb anomalies	641	B 10 1 8
Digestive congenital anomalie 641 B.10.110 652 Other congenital bith defcts 641 B.10.21 653 Demais 653 B.10.23 654 Demais 653 B.10.23 655 Demais 653 B.10.23 656 Celluits 653 B.10.23 657 Pyoderna 653 B.10.23 658 Scables desases 653 B.10.23 650 Virg skin diseases 653 B.10.27 651 Acre vulgaris 653 B.10.21 652 Acpecta areta 653 B.10.21 654 Detrostin and subcutaneous diseases 653 B.10.21 655 Decultus ulcar 653 B.10.21 656 Decultus ulcar 669 B.10.31 657 Macular degeneration 669 B.10.31 658 Derawise and subcutaneous diseases 669 B.10.31 657 Macular degeneration 669 B.10.31	650	Urogenital congenital anomalies	641	B 10 1 9
c52 Other companial birth detects 641 B.10.1.11 c53 Skin and subcutaneous diseases 640 B.10.2 c54 Dermatitis 653 B.10.2.11 c55 Proderma 653 B.10.2.4 c57 Pyoderma 653 B.10.2.4 c58 Scables 653 B.10.2.4 c59 Fungal skin diseases 653 B.10.2.5 c561 Acte vulgaris 653 B.10.2.5 c562 Alopecia areata 653 B.10.2.10 c563 Deruithis ulcer 653 B.10.2.10 c564 Deruithis ulcer 653 B.10.2.11 c565 Ober skin and subcutaneous diseases 653 B.10.2.12 c566 Deruithis ulcer 669 B.10.3.3 c570 Claucoma 669 B.10.3.3 c571 Claucoma 669 B.10.3.4 c723 Refaction and socramodation disorders 669 B.10.3.4 c730 Order vison ios socrames	651	Digestive congenital anomalies	641	B.10.1.10
653 Skin and Subcutaneous diseases 640 B.10.2 654 Permattis 653 B.10.2 655 Portasis B.10.2 B.10.2 657 Pyrderma 653 B.10.2 658 Scabies 653 B.10.2 659 Fungal skin diseases 653 B.10.2 650 Viral skin diseases 653 B.10.2 654 Uricaria 653 B.10.2 655 Puritus 653 B.10.2 656 Decubitus uter 653 B.10.2 656 Decubitus uter 653 B.10.2.10 656 Decubitus uter 653 B.10.3.10 657 Otheruticaneous 659 B.10.3.10 657 Otheruticaneous 669 B.10.3.10 657 Otheruticaneous 669 B.10.3.10 657 Otheruticaneous 669 B.10.3.10 657 Otheruticaneous 669 B.10.3.10 657	652	Other congenital birth defects	641	B.10.1.11
654 Dermatitis 653 8.10.2.1 655 Poriasis 653 8.10.2.3 656 Caluitis 653 8.10.2.3 658 Scabies 653 8.10.2.5 659 Fungal sin diseases 653 8.10.2.6 650 Viral sin diseases 653 8.10.2.7 661 Adopecia area 653 8.10.2.7 662 Adopecia area 653 8.10.2.10 663 Privitus 653 8.10.2.10 664 Urticaria 653 8.10.2.11 665 Dermatitus 653 8.10.2.11 666 Dermatitus 653 8.10.2.11 667 Glaucoma 653 8.10.3.1 667 Glaucoma 669 8.10.3.1 671 Cataratitus 669 8.10.3.1 673 Deferstion and acommodation disorders 669 8.10.3.1 673 Deferstion and acommodation disorders 669 8.10.3.2 <td< td=""><td>653</td><td>Skin and subcutaneous diseases</td><td>640</td><td>B.10.2</td></td<>	653	Skin and subcutaneous diseases	640	B.10.2
655 Portasis 653 B.10.2.3 656 Calultis 653 B.10.2.3 657 Proderm 653 B.10.2.3 659 Frungal skin diseases 653 B.10.2.3 650 Aring skin diseases 653 B.10.2.7 651 Arine vulgeris 653 B.10.2.8 652 Perufuse 653 B.10.2.10 654 Martina 653 B.10.2.10 655 Decultus ulcar 653 B.10.2.10 656 Decultus ulcar 653 B.10.2.10 656 Decultus ulcar 653 B.10.2.10 657 Decultus ulcar 659 B.10.3.13 658 Glacoma 669 B.10.3.2 657 Macular degeneration 669 B.10.3.2 658 B.10.3.2 B.10.3.2 B.10.3.2 659 D.10.3.3 B.10.3.2 B.10.3.2 659 D.10.3.3 B.10.3.2 B.10.3.2 650 <	654	Dermatitis	653	B.10.2.1
655 Cellulits 653 B.10.2.4 657 Proderma 653 B.10.2.4 659 Fringal Skin diseases 653 B.10.2.6 650 Viral skin diseases 653 B.10.2.7 651 Acne vulgaris 653 B.10.2.7 652 Alopecia areata 653 B.10.2.8 653 B.10.2.10 653 B.10.2.10 654 Mapcata 653 B.10.2.11 655 Decubitis uicer 653 B.10.2.11 656 Other skin and subcutenous diseases 640 B.10.3.3 657 Gencorm 669 B.10.3.2 672 Macular degeneration 669 B.10.3.2 673 Refraction and accommodation disorders 669 B.10.3.2 674 Age-related and ther hearing Joss 669 B.10.3.2 675 Other vision loss 669 B.10.4.2 676 Out sizones 669 B.10.4.2 677 Other vision loss 669 <td>655</td> <td>Psoriasis</td> <td>653</td> <td>B.10.2.2</td>	655	Psoriasis	653	B.10.2.2
657 Pyoderma 653 B.10.2.5 659 Scables 653 B.10.2.5 650 Hind indicesses 653 B.10.2.5 661 Acce vulgaris 653 B.10.2.6 662 Alopecia areata 653 B.10.2.8 662 Alopecia areata 653 B.10.2.10 664 Unitsina 653 B.10.2.10 665 Other skin and subcutaneous diseases 653 B.10.2.10 666 Other skin and subcutaneous diseases 669 B.10.3.1 670 Glaucoma 669 B.10.3.1 671 Claucoma 669 B.10.3.1 673 Other vision loss 669 B.10.3.1 673 Other vision loss 669 B.10.3.1 673 Other vision loss 669 B.10.3.1 674 Age-related and other hearing loss 669 B.10.3.1 675 Other vision loss 669 B.10.3.1 676 Other vision loss 669	656	Cellulitis	653	B.10.2.3
658 Soabies 653 B.10.2.5 650 Pringla Skindesses 653 B.10.2.6 661 Acne widgaris 653 B.10.2.6 662 Abopecia areata 653 B.10.2.6 663 Printus 653 B.10.2.10 664 Uritaria 653 B.10.2.10 665 Shore area 653 B.10.2.10 666 Dher skin and subcutanous diseases 664 B.10.3.10 670 Glaucome 669 B.10.3.10 671 Glaucome 669 B.10.3.10 672 Catraxt 669 B.10.3.10 673 Other stein organ diseases 669 B.10.3.10 674 Age-related and other hearing loss 669 B.10.3.10 675 Other stein organ diseases 660 B.10.4.21 682 Carles of deriduous tech 680 B.10.4.21 682 Carles of deriduous tech 680 B.10.4.31 683 S.udden intrea 680	657	Pyoderma	653	B.10.2.4
659 Fungal skin diseases 653 B.10.2.6 661 Viral skin diseases 653 B.10.2.7 662 Alopecia areata 653 B.10.2.7 663 Purintus 653 B.10.2.10 664 Urticaria 653 B.10.2.10 665 Deculuts ulcarbuttaneous diseases 653 B.10.2.10 666 Deculuts ulcarbuttaneous diseases 669 B.10.3.10 670 Glaucoma 669 B.10.3.10 671 Catarat 669 B.10.3.10 672 Maclar degeneration 669 B.10.3.10 673 Other vision not accommanation disorders 669 B.10.3.10 674 Refraction and accommanation disorders 669 B.10.3.10 675 Other vision loss 669 B.10.3.10 676 Charles of deciduous teeth 680 B.10.4.10 681 Carles of deciduous teeth 680 B.10.4.10 682 Sudeon infrant death syndrome 680 C.1.1.10 <t< td=""><td>658</td><td>Scabies</td><td>653</td><td>B.10.2.5</td></t<>	658	Scabies	653	B.10.2.5
bod Viral skin disebes bit 11.2.7 662 Alopecia asia bit 10.2.9 663 Purutus bit 10.2.9 664 Urticaria bit 10.2.9 665 Decubitus ulter bit 10.2.9 666 Decubitus ulter bit 10.2.10 667 Decubitus ulter bit 10.2.11 668 Decubitus ulter bit 10.3.11 669 Bit 10.3.11 671 Cataract bit 10.3.11 672 Macular degeneration bit 10.3.11 673 Refraction and accommodation disorders bit 10.3.11 674 Age-related and other hearing loss bit 10.3.11 675 Orler sense organ diseases bit 10.3.11 676 Orler sense organ diseases bit 10.4.11 678 Orler sense organ diseases bit 10.4.11 679 Orler sense organ diseases bit 10.4.11 681 Carles of deciduous teeth bit 10.4.11 682 Derivortal disorders bit 10.4.31 684 Derivortal disor	659	Fungal skin diseases	653	B.10.2.6
Edd Acte Vigats 63 b.10.2.10 663 Pruntus 63 b.10.2.10 664 Urticaria 63 b.10.2.10 665 Decubitus ulcer 63 b.10.2.10 666 Other skin and subcutaneous diseases 63 b.10.2.10 667 Other skin and subcutaneous diseases 63 b.10.2.12 668 Other skin and subcutaneous diseases 669 b.10.3.3 673 Refraction and accommodation disorders 669 b.10.3.3 673 Other site organ diseases 669 b.10.3.3 674 Age-related and other hearing loss 669 b.10.3.3 675 Other vision loss 669 b.10.3.3 674 Age-related and other hearing loss 669 b.10.4.1 681 Carles of deciduous tech 660 b.10.4.1 682 Carles of deciduous tech 660 b.10.4.1 683 Periodontal diseases 660 b.10.4.1 684 Edentulism and severe tooth loss 680	660	Viral skin diseases	653	B.10.2.7
construction 623 B.10.2.91 664 Urticaria 623 B.10.2.11 665 Decubitus uicar 653 B.10.2.12 666 Other skin and subcutaneous diseases 660 B.10.3.13 667 Gilaucoma 669 B.10.3.13 671 Cataract 669 B.10.3.13 672 Cataract 669 B.10.3.14 673 Machair degramation 669 B.10.3.16 674 Age-related and other hearing loss 669 B.10.3.16 675 Other vision loss 669 B.10.3.16 676 Other vision loss 669 B.10.3.16 680 Oral disorders 669 B.10.4.16 681 Carles of deramanent texth 680 B.10.4.16 682 Sudden infant death syndrome 680 B.10.4.2 685 Other oral disorders 680 B.10.4.2 686 Sudden infant death syndrome 689 C.1.1.1 691 Accares of decidouus texth	662	Acrie vulgaris	653	B.10.2.8 B 10.2.0
1	663	Privile	653	B 10 2 10
Term Control Control <thcontrol< th=""> <thcontrol< th=""> <thcont< td=""><td>664</td><td>Urticaria</td><td>653</td><td>B 10 2 11</td></thcont<></thcontrol<></thcontrol<>	664	Urticaria	653	B 10 2 11
668 Other skin and subcutaneous diseases 653 8.10.2.13 669 Gaucoma 669 B.10.3 671 Cataract 669 B.10.3.3 672 Macular degeneration 669 B.10.3.3 673 Refraction and accommodation disorders 669 B.10.3.3 674 Adversibled and other hearing loss 669 B.10.3.3 675 Macular degeneration 669 B.10.3.7 676 Oral disorders 669 B.10.3.7 680 Oral disorders 640 B.10.4 681 Caries of permanent teeth 680 B.10.4.2 682 Caries of permanent teeth 680 B.10.4.3 683 Peridostral diseases 680 B.10.4.3 684 Edentulism and severe tooth loss 680 B.10.4.3 685 Gauco al disoaders 680 C.1.1 686 Caries of adjurites 680 C.1.1 687 C.2.1 C.2.5 C.2.6 689 <	665	Decubitus ulcer	653	B.10.2.12
660 Sense organ diseases 640 8.10.3 671 Cataract 669 8.10.3.1 672 Macular degeneration 669 8.10.3.2 673 Refraction and accommodation disorders 669 8.10.3.3 673 Refraction and accommodation disorders 669 8.10.3.5 673 Other vision loss 669 8.10.3.5 674 Age-related and other hearing loss 669 8.10.3.4 675 Other vision loss 669 8.10.4.2 6760 Orind disorders 660 8.10.4.2 681 Carles of permanent teeth 680 8.10.4.3 682 Carles of disorders 680 8.10.4.3 683 Betorula disorders 680 8.10.4.5 684 Edentuitism and severe tooth loss 680 8.10.4.5 685 Chint-sitism 680 C.1.1 690 Pedestrian road injuries 689 C.1.1.1 691 Cyclist road injuries 689 C.1.1.3	668	Other skin and subcutaneous diseases	653	B.10.2.13
670 Claucoma 669 B.10.3.1 671 Cataract 669 B.10.3.3 672 Macular degeneration 669 B.10.3.3 673 Refraction and accommodation disorders 669 B.10.3.3 674 Age-related and other hearing loss 669 B.10.3.7 679 Other vision loss diseases 669 B.10.4.7 671 Carles of declous tech 660 B.10.4.7 681 Carles of declous tech 680 B.10.4.1 682 Carles of declous tech 680 B.10.4.2 683 Peridontal diseases 680 B.10.4.3 684 Edentulism and severe tooth loss 680 B.10.4.3 685 Cher or all diseases 680 B.10.4.3 686 Fullytines 680 C.1.1 687 C.21 C.3 C.3 688 Transport injuries 689 C.1.1.2 689 Road injuries 689 C.2.1 690 Pedestrian road in	669	Sense organ diseases	640	B.10.3
671 Catarat 669 B.10.3.2 672 Macular degeneration 669 B.10.3.3 673 Refraction and accommodation disorders 669 B.10.3.4 674 Age-related and other hearing loss 669 B.10.3.5 675 Other vision loss 669 B.10.3.6 676 Other sense and diseases 660 B.10.3.7 678 Other sense and diseases 660 B.10.4.1 681 Caries of permanent teeth 680 B.10.4.2 682 Caries of permanent teeth 680 B.10.4.2 683 Periodontal diseases 680 B.10.4.3 684 Edentulism and severe tooth loss 680 B.10.4.3 686 Studen infant death syndrome 640 B.10.5 687 Injuries 680 C.1.1 690 Redatinguries 680 C.1.1.2 691 Cyclist rad injuries 689 C.1.1.2 692 Motor vehicle road injuries 689 C.2.1.2	670	Glaucoma	669	B.10.3.1
672 Macular degeneration 669 B.10.3.4 673 Refraction and accommodation disorders 669 B.10.3.4 674 Age-related and other hearing loss 669 B.10.3.6 675 Other vision loss 669 B.10.3.6 673 Other vision loss 669 B.10.3.6 674 Other vision loss 669 B.10.3.4 675 Other vision loss 660 B.10.4.1 671 Caries of permanent teeth 660 B.10.4.3 683 Feriodontal disorders 680 B.10.4.3 684 Edentulism and severe tooth loss 680 B.10.4.3 685 Other oral disorders 680 C.1 688 Transport injuries 687 C.1 689 Road injuries 689 C.1.1.1 694 Pedestrian road injuries 689 C.1.1.1 694 Other oral dinguries 689 C.1.1.3 695 Other road injuries 686 C.2.2 696 <td>671</td> <td>Cataract</td> <td>669</td> <td>B.10.3.2</td>	671	Cataract	669	B.10.3.2
673 Refraction and accommodation disorders 669 B.10.3.5 674 Age-related and other hearing loss 669 B.10.3.5 675 Other sense organ diseases 669 B.10.3.7 680 Oral disorders 660 B.10.4.1 681 Cartes of deciduous teth 680 B.10.4.1 681 Cartes of deciduous teth 680 B.10.4.4 683 Federation and severe toth loss 680 B.10.4.4 684 Ectentulism and severe toth loss 680 B.10.4.4 685 Other oral disorders 680 B.10.4.4 686 Sudden infant death syndrome 640 B.10.5 687 Injuries 687 C.1 688 Transport injuries 687 C.1.1.1 691 Cyclist road injuries 689 C.1.1.2 692 Motoryclist road injuries 689 C.1.2 693 Hoad injuries 689 C.2.1 694 Diracitian road injuries 689 C.2.1	672	Macular degeneration	669	B.10.3.3
674 Age-related and other hearing loss 669 B.10.3.5 675 Other vision loss 669 B.10.3.6 677 Other vision loss 669 B.10.3.6 678 Other vision loss 669 B.10.4 671 Other vision loss 660 B.10.4.1 672 Charles of permanent teeth 680 B.10.4.3 683 Feriodontal diseases 680 B.10.4.3 684 Edentulism and sever tooth loss 680 B.10.4.5 685 Other oral disorders 680 B.10.4.5 686 Sudden infant death syndrome 680 C.1 687 Injuries 687 C.1 688 Transport injuries 688 C.1.1.1 694 Petestrian road injuries 689 C.1.1.3 693 Motor vehicle road injuries 689 C.2.2 694 Other road injuries 686 C.2.2 695 Other road injuries 686 C.2.2 696 L.2	673	Refraction and accommodation disorders	669	B.10.3.4
675 Other vision loss 669 B.10.3.7 677 Other sense organ diseases 660 B.10.3.7 680 Oral disorders 660 B.10.4.1 681 Caries of deciduous teeth 660 B.10.4.1 682 Caries of deciduous teeth 660 B.10.4.1 683 Periodontal diseases 660 B.10.4.4 684 Edentulian and severe tooth loss 660 B.10.4.4 685 Other oral disorders 660 B.10.4.6 686 Sudden infrant death syndrome 660 B.10.4.6 687 Injuries 687 C.1 688 Transport injuries 688 C.1.1.1 691 Cyclist road injuries 689 C.1.2 692 Motoryclist road injuries 689 C.2.1 693 Motoryclist road injuries 686 C.1.2 694 Motoryclist road injuries 686 C.2.1 695 Drowing 687 C.2 696 C.2.3 <td>674</td> <td>Age-related and other hearing loss</td> <td>669</td> <td>B.10.3.5</td>	674	Age-related and other hearing loss	669	B.10.3.5
b79 Other sense organ diseases 669 B.10.3.7 680 Oral disorders 660 B.10.4.1 681 Caries of deciduous teeth 680 B.10.4.2 682 Caries of deciduous teeth 680 B.10.4.2 684 Periodontal diseases 680 B.10.4.2 685 Other oral disorders 680 B.10.4.3 686 Sudden infant death syndrome 640 B.10.5 687 Injuries 687 C.1 689 Road injuries 689 C.1.1.2 690 Pedestrian road injuries 689 C.1.1.2 692 Motor vehicle road injuries 689 C.1.1.4 694 Other road injuries 689 C.1.2 695 Other transport injuries 689 C.2.1 694 Unintentional injuries 689 C.2.1 695 Other transport injuries 686 C.2.2 696 C.2.3 704 C.2.5.3 705 Unintentional injurie	675	Other vision loss	669	B.10.3.6
Best Oral usbruers P40 5.10.4.1 681 Caries of permanent teeth 680 B.10.4.1 682 Caries of permanent teeth 680 B.10.4.2 684 Editations and severe tooth loss 680 B.10.4.3 684 Editations and severe tooth loss 680 B.10.4.3 685 Studden infrant death syndrome 680 B.10.5 686 Studden infrant death syndrome 688 C.1 687 Injuries 688 C.1 690 Pedestrian road injuries 689 C.1.1.3 691 Cyclist road injuries 689 C.1.1.3 692 Motoryclist road injuries 689 C.1.1.5 694 Other road injuries 689 C.2 695 Other transport injuries 689 C.2 694 Unintentional injuries 689 C.2 695 Other vaning 696 C.2 696 Drawing 696 C.2 697 Falls	679	Other sense organ diseases	669	B.10.3.7
Description Control Description 633 Centrolomical result 640 B.10.4.3 634 Edentulism and severe tooth loss 680 B.10.4.4 635 Other oral disorders 680 B.10.4.3 636 Sudden infant death syndrome 640 B.10.5 636 Sudden infant death syndrome 640 B.10.5 637 Injuries 640 B.10.5 638 Transport injuries 687 C.1 649 Road injuries 689 C.1.1.1 690 Pedestrian road injuries 689 C.1.1.3 691 Cyclist road injuries 689 C.1.1.3 692 Motor velicle road injuries 688 C.2.2 695 Other ronsport injuries 688 C.2.2 696 Unintentional injuries 696 C.2.2 697 Falls 696 C.2.2 696 C.2.2 C C C 696 C.2.2 C C <td>600</td> <td>Carios of deciduous tooth</td> <td>640</td> <td>B.10.4</td>	600	Carios of deciduous tooth	640	B.10.4
Best of a full interaction CB B 10.4.3 684 Edentifier and sever tooth loss 680 B.10.4.4 685 Other and disorders 680 B.10.4.5 686 Sudden infant death syndrome 680 B.10.4.5 687 Injuries 294 C 688 Transport injuries 688 C.1.1 690 Pedestrian road injuries 689 C.1.1.2 691 Cyclist road injuries 689 C.1.1.3 692 Motor vehicle road injuries 689 C.1.1.4 694 Other road injuries 689 C.1.1.4 694 Other road injuries 689 C.1.1.4 694 Other road injuries 689 C.2.1 695 Other transport injuries 686 C.2.2 696 C.2.1 696 C.2.2 697 Falls 696 C.2.2 698 Fire, hast, and hot substances 696 C.2.5 707 Unintentional frearm injuries	682	Carles of permanent teeth	680	B 10 4 2
684 Edentulism and severe tooth loss 680 B.10.4.5 685 Other oral disorders 680 B.10.5 686 Sudden infant death syndrome 640 B.10.5 687 Injuries 687 C.1 689 Road injuries 687 C.1 689 Road injuries 689 C.1.1.2 690 Pedestrian road injuries 689 C.1.1.2 692 Motor-vchile road injuries 689 C.1.1.4 694 Other road injuries 689 C.1.1.4 694 Other road injuries 689 C.1.1.4 694 Other road injuries 689 C.2.1 695 Other transport injuries 689 C.2.1 695 Other road injuries 696 C.2.2 696 Unintentional injuries 696 C.2.2 697 Falis 696 C.2.3 698 Drowning 696 C.2.4 700 Poisonings 696 C.2.5	683	Periodontal diseases	680	B 10 4 3
685 Other oral disorders 680 B.10.45 686 Sudden infant death syndrome 640 B.10.5 687 Injuries 640 C 688 Transport injuries 687 C.1 689 Road injuries 688 C.1.1 691 Cyclist road injuries 689 C.1.1.3 693 Motoryclist road injuries 689 C.1.1.3 693 Motoryclist road injuries 689 C.1.1.5 694 Other road injuries 689 C.1.2 695 Other transport injuries 689 C.2.1 694 Other road injuries 689 C.2.1 694 Unintentional injuries 689 C.2.2 696 C.2.2 687 C.2 696 C.2.2 686 C.2.2 697 Fline, heat, and hot substances 696 C.2.2 698 Drowning 696 C.2.2 704 Exposure to mechanical forces 704 C.2.5.2 <td>684</td> <td>Edentulism and severe tooth loss</td> <td>680</td> <td>B.10.4.4</td>	684	Edentulism and severe tooth loss	680	B.10.4.4
666 687Sudden infant death syndrome640B.10.5687Injuries687C.1688Transport injuries687C.1690Pedestrian road injuries688C.1.1.1691Cyclist road injuries689C.1.1.2692Motoryclist road injuries689C.1.1.3693Motor vehicle road injuries689C.1.1.4694Other road injuries689C.1.1.4695Other transport injuries689C.1.2696Unintentional injuries688C.2.2697Falls696C.2.2698Drowning696C.2.3700Poisonings696C.2.4701Prize, heat, and hot substances696C.2.5705Unintentional injuries696C.2.5706Unintentional inforces704C.2.5.2707Other exposure to mechanical forces704C.2.5.2708Adverse effects of medical treatment696C.2.7710Venomous animal contact709C.2.7.1711Non-venomous animal contact709C.2.7.2712Venomous animal contact709C.2.7.2714Poiegin body in eirway712C.2.8.2715Foreign body in other body part712C.2.8.2716Other unintentional injuries696C.2.9716Other unintentional indexposure724C.3.1.1717Self-harm and int	685	Other oral disorders	680	B.10.4.5
687 Injuries 294 C 688 Transport injuries 687 C.1 690 Road injuries 688 C.1.1 691 Cyclist road injuries 689 C.1.1.1 691 Cyclist road injuries 689 C.1.1.3 693 Motor vehicle road injuries 689 C.1.1.3 693 Motor vehicle road injuries 689 C.1.1.5 695 Other transport injuries 689 C.1.2 696 Unitentional injuries 696 C.2 697 Falls 696 C.2 698 Drowning 696 C.2.2 699 Fire, heat, and hot substances 696 C.2.2 699 Fire, heat, and hot substances 696 C.2.5 705 Unintentional sufficiation 704 C.2.5.1 708 Adverse effects of medical treatment 696 C.2.6 709 Animal contact 709 C.2.7.2 710 Othere exposure to mechanical forces <td>686</td> <td>Sudden infant death syndrome</td> <td>640</td> <td>B.10.5</td>	686	Sudden infant death syndrome	640	B.10.5
688 Transport injuries 687 C.1 689 Road injuries 689 C.1.1.1 690 Pedestrian road injuries 689 C.1.1.2 692 Motorcyclist road injuries 689 C.1.1.3 693 Motor whicle road injuries 689 C.1.1.4 694 Other road injuries 689 C.1.1.4 694 Other road injuries 689 C.1.1.4 694 Other road injuries 689 C.1.2 695 Other transport injuries 687 C.2 696 Unintentional injuries 696 C.2.3 697 Falls 696 C.2.4 708 Drowning 696 C.2.5 709 Poisonings 704 C.2.5.3 704 Exposure to mechanical forces 704 C.2.5.3 707 Other resposure to mechanical forces 704 C.2.6.1 708 Adverse effects of medical treatment 696 C.2.7 710 Venomous animal contac	687	Injuries	294	C
669 Road injuries 689 C.1.1 690 Pedestrian road injuries 689 C.1.1.2 691 Cyclist road injuries 689 C.1.1.3 693 Motor vehicle road injuries 689 C.1.1.4 694 Other road injuries 689 C.1.1.4 695 Other transport injuries 689 C.1.2 696 Unintentional injuries 687 C.2 697 Falls 696 C.2.1 698 Drowning 696 C.2.3 699 Fire, heat, and hot substances 696 C.2.4 704 Exposure to mechanical forces 696 C.2.5 705 Unintentional sufficaction 704 C.2.5.1 708 Adverse effects of mechanical forces 704 C.2.5.3 709 Animal contact 709 C.2.7 711 Non-venomous animal contact 709 C.2.7.2 711 Non-venomous animal contact 709 C.2.8.1 714 Fore	688	Transport injuries	687	C.1
690 Pedestrian road injuries 689 C.1.1.1 691 Cyclist road injuries 689 C.1.1.2 692 Motor-yclist road injuries 689 C.1.1.3 693 Motor whicle road injuries 689 C.1.1.4 694 Other road injuries 689 C.1.1.5 696 Unintentional injuries 688 C.2 696 Unintentional injuries 687 C.2 697 Falls 696 C.2.1 698 Drowning 696 C.2.2 699 Fire, heat, and hot substances 696 C.2.4 704 Exposure to mechanical forces 696 C.2.5.1 707 Unintentional firearm injuries 704 C.2.5.2 708 Adverse effects of medical treatment 696 C.2.7 710 Venomous animal contact 709 C.2.7.1 711 Non-venomous animal contact 709 C.2.7.1 710 Venomous animal contact 709 C.2.8.3 714<	689	Road injuries	688	C.1.1
691 Cyclist road injuries 689 C.1.1.3 693 Motor vehicle road injuries 689 C.1.1.3 693 Motor vehicle road injuries 689 C.1.1.4 694 Other road injuries 689 C.1.1.5 695 Other transport injuries 688 C.1.2 696 Unintentional injuries 687 C.2 697 Falls 696 C.2.3 698 Drowning 696 C.2.4 699 Fire, heat, and hot substances 696 C.2.4 704 Poisonings 696 C.2.5 705 Unintentional sufficaction 704 C.2.5.2 706 Unintentional sufficaction 704 C.2.5.2 707 Other exposure to mechanical forces 704 C.2.5.2 708 Adverse effects of medical treatment 696 C.2.7 710 Venomous animal contact 709 C.2.7.1 711 Non-venomous animal contact 709 C.2.8.3 713	690	Pedestrian road injuries	689	C.1.1.1
byze Motor Vehic Toda Injuries byse C.1.1.3 693 Motor vehicle roda injuries 689 C.1.1.4 694 Other road injuries 689 C.1.1.5 695 Other transport injuries 687 C.2 696 Unintentional injuries 696 C.2.1 698 Drowning 696 C.2.2 699 Fire, heat, and hot substances 696 C.2.3 700 Poisonings 696 C.2.4 704 Exposure to mechanical forces 704 C.2.5.1 707 Unintentional frazm injuries 704 C.2.5.3 708 Adverse effects of medical treatment 696 C.2.7 710 Venomous animal contact 709 C.2.7.1 711 Non-venomous animal contact 709 C.2.7.2 710 Venomous animal contact 709 C.2.7.2 711 Non-venomous animal contact 709 C.2.7.2 712 Foreign body in other body part 712 C.2.8.2	691	Cyclist road injuries	689	C.1.1.2
Big Disor Ventroad injuries Clinity 694 Other tradinguries 689 C.1.1.5 695 Other transport injuries 688 C.1.2 696 Unitentional injuries 696 C.2.1 697 Falls 696 C.2.2 698 Drowning 696 C.2.2 699 Fire, heat, and hot substances 696 C.2.4 704 Exposure to mechanical forces 696 C.2.5 705 Unintentional suffocation 704 C.2.5.2 706 Unintentional suffocation 704 C.2.5.2 707 Other exposure to mechanical forces 704 C.2.5.2 708 Adverse effects of medical treatment 696 C.2.6 709 Animal contact 709 C.2.7.1 711 Non-venomous animal contact 709 C.2.8.2 713 Pulmonary aspiration and foreign body in airway 712 C.2.8.2 714 Foreign body in other body part 712 C.2.8.2	692	Motor vehicle road injuries	689	C 1 1 4
Other transport injuriesColC1.12695Other transport injuries688C.12696Unintentional injuries696C.2.1698Drowning696C.2.3699Fire, heat, and hot substances696C.2.3700Poisonings696C.2.5701Exposure to mechanical forces696C.2.5.1705Unintentional firearm injuries704C.2.5.1706Unintentional forces704C.2.5.2707Other reposure to mechanical forces704C.2.5.3708Adverse effects of medical treatment696C.2.7709Animal contact709C.2.7.2710Venomous animal contact709C.2.7.2711Non-venomous animal contact709C.2.7.2712Foreign bodypair712C.2.8.2713Pulmonary aspiration and foreign body in airway712C.2.8.2714Foreign body in other body part712C.2.8.2715Foreign body in other body part712C.2.8.2716Other unintentional injuries696C.2.1717Self-harm by firearm718C.3.1.1723Self-harm by firearm718C.3.1.2724Interposonal violence724C.3.2.3725Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.3726Physical violence by other means724C.3.2.3727Physical violence by other means <td< td=""><td>694</td><td>Other road injuries</td><td>689</td><td>C 1 1 5</td></td<>	694	Other road injuries	689	C 1 1 5
DescriptionCallCall696Unintentional injuries697C.2697Fails696C.2.1698Drowning696C.2.3699Fire, heat, and hot substances696C.2.3700Poisonings696C.2.5701Unintentional suffication704C.2.5.1705Unintentional suffication704C.2.5.2706Unintentional suffication704C.2.5.2707Other exposure to mechanical forces704C.2.5.3708Adverse effects of medical treatment696C.2.7709Animal contact709C.2.7.1710Venomous animal contact709C.2.7.1711Non-venomous animal contact709C.2.7.1712Foreign bodyroter body part712C.2.8.3713Pulmonary aspiration and foreign body in airway712C.2.8.1714Foreign body in eves712C.2.8.1715Foreign body in eves696C.2.10717Self-harm and interpersonal violence687C.3718Self-harm by other specified means718C.3.1.2712Physical violence by firearm714C.3.2.2724Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.2725Physical violence by firearms, and executions and police conflict687C.4726Physical violence by firearms724C.3.2.2727Physical violence by fir	695	Other transport injuries	688	C 1 2
697Fails696C.2.1698Drowning696C.2.2699Fire, heat, and hot substances696C.2.3700Poisonings696C.2.4704Exposure to mechanical forces696C.2.5705Unintentional frearm injuries704C.2.5.1706Other exposure to mechanical forces704C.2.5.3707Other exposure to mechanical forces704C.2.5.3708Adverse effects of medical treatment696C.2.4709Animal contact709C.2.7.1710Venomous animal contact709C.2.7.1711Non-venomous animal contact709C.2.7.1712Foreign body in eyes712C.2.8.1713Pulmonary aspiration and foreign body in airway712C.2.8.2715Foreign body in other body part712C.2.8.3716Other unintentional injuries696C.2.10717Self-harm dn interpersonal violence687C.3718Self-harm by firearm718C.3.1.1721Self-harm by firearm718C.3.1.1723Self-harm by diter specified means714C.3.2.2724Interpersonal violence724C.3.2.2725Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.2726Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.3727Physical violence by firearms724C.3.2.2728Forces of nature, co	696	Unintentional injuries	687	C.2
698 699Drowning696C.2.2699Fire, heat, and hot substances696C.2.3700Polisonings696C.2.4704Exposure to mechanical forces696C.2.5.1705Unintentional frarem injuries704C.2.5.2706Unintentional suffocation704C.2.5.3708Adverse effects of mechanical forces696C.2.7709Animal contact696C.2.7710Veneous animal contact709C.2.7.2711Non-venomous animal contact709C.2.7.2712Foreign body696C.2.8713Pulmonary aspiration and foreign body in airway712C.2.8.1714Foreign body in eyes712C.2.8.3715Foreign body in other body part712C.2.8.3716Other unintentional injuries696C.2.9717Self-harm and interpersonal violence687C.3718Self-harm by other specified means717C.3.1724Interpersonal violence724C.3.2.1725Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.2726Physical violence by sharp object724C.3.2.2727Physical violence by other means724C.3.2.2728Executions and police conflict687C.4728C.4.1Conflict and terrorism728C.4.1729Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.1729 <t< td=""><td>697</td><td>Falls</td><td>696</td><td>C.2.1</td></t<>	697	Falls	696	C.2.1
699Fire, heat, and hot substances696C.2.3700Poisonings696C.2.4704Exposure to mechanical forces696C.2.5705Unintentional firearm injuries704C.2.5.1706Uninitentional suffocation704C.2.5.3707Other exposure to mechanical forces704C.2.5.3708Adverse effects of medical treatment696C.2.6709Animal contact696C.2.7710Venomous animal contact709C.2.7.1711Non-venomous animal contact709C.2.7.1712Foreign body696C.2.8713Pulmonary aspiration and foreign body in airway712C.2.8.1714Foreign body un eyes712C.2.8.1715Foreign body un other body part696C.2.9716Other unintentional injuries696C.2.9717Self-harm and interpersonal violence687C.3718Self-harm by other specified means718C.3.1.1723Self-harm by other specified means714C.3.2.2724Physical violence by frearm724C.3.2.2725Physical violence by frearms724C.3.2.1726Physical violence by frearms724C.3.2.1727Physical violence by frearms724C.3.2.1728Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict687C.4729Exposure to forces	698	Drowning	696	C.2.2
700Poisonings696C.2.4704Exposure to mechanical forces696C.2.5705Unintentional firearm injuries704C.2.5.1706Ulnitentional suffocation704C.2.5.2707Other exposure to mechanical forces704C.2.5.3708Adverse effects of medical treatment696C.2.6709Animal contact696C.2.7710Venomous animal contact709C.2.7.1711Non-venomous animal contact709C.2.7.2712Foreign body696C.2.8713Pulmonary aspiration and foreign body in airway712C.2.8.1714Foreign body in eyes712C.2.8.2715Foreign body in eyes712C.2.8.3716Other unintentional injuries696C.2.10717Self-harm and interpersonal violence687C.3718Self-harm by firearm718C.3.1.1723Self-harm by firearm718C.3.1.1724Interpersonal violence724C.3.2.2725Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.3727Physical violence by firearms724C.3.2.4728Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict728C.4.2729Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.3724Conflict and terrorism728C.4.3	699	Fire, heat, and hot substances	696	C.2.3
704Exposure to mechanical forces696C.2.5705Unintentional frazm injuries704C.2.5.1706Unintentional suffocation704C.2.5.2707Other exposure to mechanical forces704C.2.5.3708Adverse effects of medical treatment696C.2.6709Animal contact696C.2.7711Non-venomous animal contact709C.2.7.2712Foreign body709C.2.8.1713Pulmonary aspiration and foreign body in airway712C.2.8.3714Foreign body in eyes712C.2.8.3715Foreign body nother body part712C.2.8.3716Other unitational injuries696C.2.10717Self-harm and interpersonal violence687C.3718Self-harm by other specified means718C.3.1.1723Self-harm by other specified means718C.3.1.2724Interpersonal violence724C.3.2.2725Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.1726Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.2727Physical violence by firearms724C.3.2.2728Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict687C.4729Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.1720Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.1723Self-harm by other conflict728C.4.2	700	Poisonings	696	C.2.4
705Unintentional sufficient704C.2.5.1706Unintentional sufficación704C.2.5.2707Other exposure to mechanical forces704C.2.5.3708Adverse effects of medical treatment696C.2.6709Animal contact696C.2.7710Venomous animal contact709C.2.7.1711Non-venomous animal contact709C.2.7.1712Foreign body696C.2.8713Pulmonary aspiration and foreign body in airway712C.2.8.2715Foreign body un other body part712C.2.8.3842Environmental heat and cold exposure696C.2.10717Self-harm and interpersonal violence687C.3718Self-harm by other specified means718C.3.1.1723Self-harm by other specified means718C.3.1.2724Interpersonal violence724C.3.2.2725Physical violence by frearm724C.3.2.2726Physical violence by frearms724C.3.2.2727Physical violence by frearms724C.3.2.2728Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict687C.4.2729Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.1724Executions and police conflict728C.4.3	704	Exposure to mechanical forces	696	C.2.5
707Unimultitional surfaction704C.2.5.2707Other exposure to mechanical forces704C.2.5.3708Adverse effects of medical treatment696C.2.6709Animal contact709C.2.7.1710Venomous animal contact709C.2.7.2711Non-venomous animal contact709C.2.7.2712Foreign body696C.2.8713Pulmonary aspiration and foreign body in airway712C.2.8.2714Foreign body in other body part712C.2.8.2715Foreign body in other body part712C.2.8.3842Environmental heat and cold exposure696C.2.9716Other unintentional injuries696C.2.9717Self-harm and interpersonal violence687C.3718Self-harm by threarm718C.3.1.1723Self-harm by other specified means718C.3.2.1724Interpersonal violence by firearm724C.3.2.1725Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.1726Physical violence by sharp object724C.3.2.2727Physical violence by other means724C.3.2.2728Exposure to forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict687C.4729Exposure to forces of nature, conflict and terrorism728C.4.1729Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.2729Exposure to forces of nature	/05	Unintentional firearm injuries	704	0.2.5.1
708Adverse effects of medical treatment696C.2.5.3708Adverse effects of medical treatment696C.2.6709Animal contact709C.2.7.1710Venomous animal contact709C.2.7.2711Non-venomous animal contact709C.2.7.2712Foreign body696C.2.8713Pulmonary aspiration and foreign body in airway712C.2.8.2714Foreign body in eyes712C.2.8.3715Foreign body in other body part712C.2.8.3842Environmental heat and cold exposure696C.2.9716Other unintentional injuries696C.2.10717Self-harm and interpersonal violence687C.3718Self-harm by other specified means718C.3.1.2724Interpersonal violence724C.3.2.2725Physical violence by frearm724C.3.2.1726Physical violence by sharp object724C.3.2.2727Physical violence by sharp object724C.3.2.3728Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict687C.4729Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.1729Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.3724C.3.2.4Forces of nature728C.4.1729Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.2720Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.2721 <td>700</td> <td>Other expection to mechanical forces</td> <td>/04</td> <td>0.2.5.2</td>	700	Other expection to mechanical forces	/04	0.2.5.2
709Animal contact696C.2.7709Animal contact709C.2.7.1710Wenomous animal contact709C.2.7.2711Non-venomous animal contact709C.2.7.2712Foreign body696C.2.8713Pulmonary aspiration and foreign body in airway712C.2.8.1714Foreign body in eyes712C.2.8.2715Foreign body in other body part712C.2.8.3842Environmental heat and cold exposure696C.2.10717Self-harm and interpersonal violence687C.3718Self-harm by firearm718C.3.1.1721Self-harm by other specified means718C.3.1.2725Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.2726Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.3727Physical violence by other means724C.3.2.4728Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict687C.4.2728Conflict and terrorism728C.4.3724Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.3725Exposure to firet and meter expression724C.3.2.4728Forces of nature728C.4.3729Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.3724C.3.2.4Conflict and terrorism728C.4.3725Physical violence by other728C.4.3726Physical violence by other means<	707	Adverse effects of medical treatment	704	C 2 6
100Venomous animal contact709C.2.7.1710Venomous animal contact709C.2.7.2711Non-venomous animal contact709C.2.7.2712Foreign body696C.2.8713Pulmonary aspiration and foreign body in airway712C.2.8.1714Foreign body in eyes712C.2.8.2715Foreign body in other body part712C.2.8.3842Environmental heat and cold exposure696C.2.9716Other unintentional injuries696C.2.10717Self-harm and interpersonal violence687C.3718Self-harm by firearm718C.3.1.1723Self-harm by other specified means718C.3.2.1724Interpersonal violence by firearm724C.3.2.1725Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.1726Physical violence by sharp object724C.3.2.2727Physical violence by other means724C.3.2.2728Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict687C.4729Exposure to forces of nature, conflict and terrorism728C.4.1729Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.2724Exactions and police conflict728C.4.2727Physical violence by conflict and terrorism728C.4.2728C.4.1Exposure to forces of nature, conflict and terrorism728C.4.2729Exposure	709	Animal contact	696	C 2 7
711Non-venomous animal contact709C.2.7.2712Foreign body696C.2.8713Pulmonary aspiration and foreign body in airway712C.2.8.1714Foreign body in eyes712C.2.8.2715Foreign body in other body part712C.2.8.3842Environmental heat and cold exposure696C.2.9716Other unintentional injuries696C.2.10717Self-harm and interpersonal violence687C.3718Self-harm by other specified means718C.3.1.2724Interpersonal violence by frearm718C.3.1.2725Physical violence by frearm724C.3.2.2726Physical violence by frearm724C.3.2.1726Physical violence by frearm724C.3.2.2727Physical violence by sharp object724C.3.2.2728Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict687C.4729Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.1945Conflict and terrorism728C.4.2	710	Venomous animal contact	709	C.2.7.1
712Foreign body676C.2.8713Pulmonary aspiration and foreign body in airway712C.2.8.1714Foreign body in eyes712C.2.8.2715Foreign body in other body part712C.2.8.3842Environmental heat and cold exposure696C.2.10716Other unintentional injuries696C.2.10717Self-harm and interpersonal violence687C.3718Self-harm by threarm718C.3.1.1721Self-harm by threarpersonal violence718C.3.1.1723Self-harm by other specified means718C.3.1.2724Interpersonal violence724C.3.2.2725Physical violence by frearm724C.3.2.2726Physical violence by sharp object724C.3.2.3727Physical violence by other means724C.3.2.4728Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict687C.4.2729Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.1945Conflict and terrorism728C.4.2954Leventions and police conflict728C.4.2	711	Non-venomous animal contact	709	C.2.7.2
713Pulmonary spiration and foreign body in airway712C.2.8.1714Foreign body in eyes712C.2.8.2715Foreign body in other body part712C.2.8.3842Environmental heat and cold exposure696C.2.9716Other unintentional injuries696C.2.10717Self-harm and interpersonal violence687C.3718Self-harm by firearm718C.3.1.1723Self-harm by ther specified means718C.3.1.2724Interpersonal violence by firearm714C.3.2.1725Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.2726Physical violence by sharp object724C.3.2.2727Physical violence by other means724C.3.2.2728Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict687C.4729Exposure to forces of nature, conflict and terrorism728C.4.2854Executions and police conflict728C.4.2	712	Foreign body	696	C.2.8
714 Foreign body in eyes 712 C.2.8.2 715 Foreign body in other body part 712 C.2.8.3 842 Environmental heat and cold exposure 696 C.2.9 716 Other unintentional injuries 696 C.2.10 717 Self-harm and interpersonal violence 687 C.3 718 Self-harm by other specified means 718 C.3.1.1 723 Self-harm by other specified means 718 C.3.1.2 724 Interpersonal violence 717 C.3.2 725 Physical violence by firearm 724 C.3.2.2 724 Sexual violence 724 C.3.2.3 725 Physical violence by firearm 724 C.3.2.2 724 Sexual violence 724 C.3.2.3 727 Physical violence by other means 724 C.3.2.3 727 Physical violence by other merorism, and executions and police conflict 687 C.4 728 Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism 728 C.4.1 729	713	Pulmonary aspiration and foreign body in airway	712	C.2.8.1
715 Foreign body in other body part 712 C.2.8.3 842 Environmental heat and cold exposure 696 C.2.9 716 Other unintentional injuries 696 C.2.10 717 Self-harm and interpersonal violence 687 C.3.1 718 Self-harm 718 C.3.1.1 723 Self-harm by firearm 718 C.3.1.2 724 Interpersonal violence 717 C.3.2 725 Physical violence by firearm 718 C.3.2.2 726 Physical violence by sharp object 724 C.3.2.2 721 Sexual violence by conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict 724 C.3.2.2 725 Physical violence by other means 724 C.3.2.2 726 Physical violence by other means 724 C.3.2.2 727 Physical violence by other means 724 C.3.2.4 728 Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict 687 C.4 729 Exposure to forces of nature, conflict and terrorism	714	Foreign body in eyes	712	C.2.8.2
842Environmental heat and cold exposure696C.2.9716Other unintentional injuries696C.2.10717Self-harm and interpersonal violence687C.3718Self-harm by firearm717C.3.1721Self-harm by ther specified means718C.3.1.1723Self-harm by other specified means718C.3.1.2724Interpersonal violence717C.3.2725Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.1726Physical violence by sharp object724C.3.2.2941Sexual violence724C.3.2.3727Physical violence by other means724C.3.2.4728Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict687C.4729Exposure to forces of nature, conflict and terrorism728C.4.3854Executions and police conflict728C.4.2	715	Foreign body in other body part	712	C.2.8.3
/16 Utner unintentional injuries 696 C.2.10 717 Self-harm and interpersonal violence 687 C.3 718 Self-harm and interpersonal violence 717 C.3.1 721 Self-harm by firearm 718 C.3.1.1 723 Self-harm by other specified means 718 C.3.1.1 724 Interpersonal violence 717 C.3.2 725 Physical violence by firearm 724 C.3.2.1 726 Physical violence by firearm 724 C.3.2.2 941 Sexual violence 724 C.3.2.3 727 Physical violence by other means 724 C.3.2.4 728 Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict 687 C.4.1 729 Exposure to forces of nature 728 C.4.1 945 Conflict and terrorism 728 C.4.3 854 Executions and police conflict 728 C.4.2	842	Environmental heat and cold exposure	696	C.2.9
7175eir-liarm and interpersonal violence687C.3718Self-harm717C.3.1721Self-harm by firearm718C.3.1.1723Self-harm by other specified means718C.3.1.2724Interpersonal violence717C.3.2725Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.1726Physical violence by sharp object724C.3.2.2941Sexual violence724C.3.2.3727Physical violence by other means724C.3.2.3728Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict687C.4729Exposure to forces of nature, conflict and terrorism728C.4.1945Conflict and terrorism728C.4.3854Executions and police conflict728C.4.2	/16	Uther unintentional injuries	696	0.2.10
1.10 SetFinitifi 717 C.3.1 721 Self-harm by firearm 718 C.3.1.1 723 Self-harm by other specified means 718 C.3.1.2 724 Interpresonal violence 717 C.3.2 725 Physical violence by firearm 724 C.3.2.1 726 Physical violence by sharp object 724 C.3.2.2 941 Sexual violence 724 C.3.2.3 727 Physical violence by other means 724 C.3.2.4 728 Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict 687 C.4 729 Exposure to forces of nature. 728 C.4.3 954 Conflict and terrorism 728 C.4.2	/1/	Self-harm	68/	0.3
723Self-harm by other specified means718C.3.1.1723Self-harm by other specified means718C.3.1.2724Interpersonal violence717C.3.2725Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.1726Physical violence by sharp object724C.3.2.2941Sexual violence724C.3.2.3727Physical violence by other means724C.3.2.4728Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict687C.4729Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.1945Conflict and terrorism728C.4.2	/10	Self-harm by firearm	/1/	0.3.1
724716C3.12724Interpersonal violence717C.3.2725Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.1726Physical violence by sharp object724C.3.2.2941Sexual violence724C.3.2.3727Physical violence by other means724C.3.2.4728Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict687C.4729Exposure to forces of nature, conflict and terrorism728C.4.1945Conflict and terrorism728C.4.3854Executions and police conflict728C.4.2	723	Self-harm by other specified means	710	C 3 1 2
725Physical violence by firearm724C.3.2.1726Physical violence by sharp object724C.3.2.2941Sexual violence724C.3.2.3727Physical violence by other means724C.3.2.3728Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict687C.4729Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.1945Conflict and terrorism728C.4.3854Executions and police conflict728C.4.2	724	Internersonal violence	717	C 3 2
726Physical violence by sharp object724C.3.2.2941Sexual violence by sharp object724C.3.2.3727Physical violence by other means724C.3.2.4728Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict687C.4729Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.1945Conflict and terrorism728C.4.2854Executions and police conflict728C.4.2	725	Physical violence by firearm	724	C.3.2.1
941 Sexual violence 724 C.3.2.3 727 Physical violence by other means 724 C.3.2.4 728 Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict 687 C.4 729 Exposure to forces of nature, conflict and terrorism 728 C.4.1 945 Conflict and terrorism 728 C.4.3 854 Executions and police conflict 728 C.4.2	726	Physical violence by sharp object	724	C.3.2.2
727 Physical violence by other means 724 C.3.2.4 728 Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict 687 C.4 729 Exposure to forces of nature 728 C.4.1 945 Conflict and terrorism 728 C.4.3 854 Executions and police conflict 728 C.4.2	941	Sexual violence	724	C.3.2.3
728Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict687C.4729Exposure to forces of nature728C.4.1945Conflict and terrorism728C.4.3854Executions and police conflict728C.4.2	727	Physical violence by other means	724	C.3.2.4
729 Exposure to forces of nature 728 C.4.1 945 Conflict and terrorism 728 C.4.3 854 Executions and police conflict 728 C.4.2	728	Forces of nature, conflict and terrorism, and executions and police conflict	687	C.4
945 Conflict and terrorism 728 C.4.3 854 Executions and police conflict 728 C.4.2	729	Exposure to forces of nature	728	C.4.1
854 Executions and police conflict 728 C.4.2	945	Conflict and terrorism	728	C.4.3
	854	Executions and police conflict	728	C.4.2

GETTING IN TOUCH WITH THE EU

In person

All over the European Union there are hundreds of Europe Direct information centres. You can find the address of the centre nearest you at: <u>https://europa.eu/european-union/contact_en</u>

On the phone or by email

Europe Direct is a service that answers your questions about the European Union. You can contact this service:

- by freephone: 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11 (certain operators may charge for these calls),
- at the following standard number: +32 22999696, or
- by electronic mail via: <u>https://europa.eu/european-union/contact_en</u>

FINDING INFORMATION ABOUT THE EU

Online

Information about the European Union in all the official languages of the EU is available on the Europa website at: https://europa.eu/european-union/index_en

EU publications

You can download or order free and priced EU publications from EU Bookshop at: <u>https://publications.europa.eu/en/publications</u>. Multiple copies of free publications may be obtained by contacting Europe Direct or your local information centre (see <u>https://europa.eu/european-union/contact_en</u>).

The European Commission's science and knowledge service

Joint Research Centre

JRC Mission

As the science and knowledge service of the European Commission, the Joint Research Centre's mission is to support EU policies with independent evidence throughout the whole policy cycle.



EU Science Hub ec.europa.eu/jrc

- 9 @EU_ScienceHub
- f EU Science Hub Joint Research Centre
- in Joint Research Centre
- EU Science Hub



doi:10.2760/793876 ISBN 978-92-76-02924-3